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ANNUAL PUBLIC MEETING OF ROYAL CORNWALL HOSPITALS NHS TRUST  
Thursday 17 September 2020 16.30 – 18.15 

G.09, The Knowledge Spa, RCHT, Truro TR1 3LJ and virtually via Microsoft Teams 
 
 

No. Item Accountable 
Officer 

Approx. 
time 

Min No 

1.  Welcome and Apologies for Absence Mairi McLean, 
Chairwoman 

16.30 APM 
20.01 

2.  Declaration of Interest  
Members of the Trust Board are asked to declare any 
interests they may have in the business on the public agenda 
(Standing Order 22 refers). Unless the Trust Board agrees 
otherwise in the case of a non-prejudicial interest, the person 
concerned shall withdraw from the meeting room and play no 
part in the relevant discussion or decision. 

Mairi McLean, 
Chairwoman 

16.35 APM 
20.02 

3.  Minutes of the Previous Annual Public Meeting  
To approve the minutes of the previous Annual Public 
Meeting held 17 September 2019. 

Mairi McLean, 
Chairwoman 

16.37 APM 
20.03 

4.  Annual Report and Accounts for the Period ending 
31 March 2020 
To receive and adopt the published annual report and 
accounts for 2019/20 

Kate Shields, Chief 
Executive 
 
Adam Wheeldon, 
Deputy Director of 
Finance 

16.40 
 

APM 
20.04 

5.  Thank you Cornwall and the work of our Charity and 
Friends 
The Board to formally record its thanks, on behalf of the 
Trust, for the incredible support and kindness extended to us 
by the people of Cornwall during the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
to note the impactful work of the RCHT Charity and the 
Friends of all three hospital sites 

 

Kerry Eldridge, 
Director of People 
and OD 

17.00 APM 
20.05 

6.  Forward look – transforming healthcare for 
Cornwall  
The Board to note the future vision for transforming 
healthcare for Cornwall – the what, the how, the practical 
application and new build programme 
 

Kate Shields, Chief 
Executive 

17.15 APM 
20.06 

7.  Questions  
Questions are invited from patients, staff, stakeholders and 
members of the public for up to 20mins from members of the 
public and staff on the work of the Trust in 2019/20 and/or 

Chairwoman 17.50 APM 
20.07 
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QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
As per the Board’s usual meetings in public when using MS Teams Live, the 
following Protocol applies to questions from members of the public at the Annual 
Public Meeting: 
• Members of the public are welcome to raise questions throughout the meeting and 

they will be taken at item 7. For the AGM, 20 minutes is allocated for questions from 
the public.  

• Questions should be kept brief and to the point. 
• There is no need for questions to be submitted in advance, although this may mean 

that it is not always possible to provide an answer at the meeting. In that case, the 
questioner’s contact details will be requested for response. 

• Questions will be taken in rotation, to ensure those wishing to raise questions have 
equal opportunity, within the limited time available – if a member of the public asks 
more than one question their first question will be asked and then their remaining 
question/questions returned to if no other members of the public wish to raise one 
and if it is within the time allocated for the item 

• If there are a high number of questions the Company Secretary will group them and 
put them to the Chair as a theme; it may not be possible to be able to respond to all 
questions individually in that regard. 

• Questions at the meeting must relate to papers being presented on the day. 
• We will endeavor to provide a response at the meeting which will be offered by a 

member of the Board to the Chair. 
• An answer to an oral question under this procedure will take the form of either: 

o A direct oral answer; or 
o If the information required is not easily available a written answer will be sent to 

the questioner, circulated to all members of the Trust Board and included in the 
minutes of the meeting.  

• Questions and answers will be reflected in the minutes of the meeting. 
• Questions need not be answered if the Chairwoman considers that they: 

o Are not on any matter that is within the powers and duties of the Trust; 
o Are defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
o Are substantially the same as a question that has been put to a meeting of the 

Trust Board in the past six months; 
o Would require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.  

 

into the future. Please see Protocol below. 
 

8.  Summary and closing remarks Chairwoman 18.10 AGM 
20.08 
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Minutes of the Annual General Meeting of the Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust held 

on Thursday 17 September 2019 at 17.30 – 18.30 in GO9 Knowledge Spa, Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust, Truro, Cornwall TR1 3LJ 

Present:    
Mairi McLean  (MM)   Chairwoman  
Kate Shields  (KS)   Chief Executive  
Ruth Allarton  (RA)   Associate Non-Executive Director 
Susan Bracefield (SB)   Director of Operations 
Paul Hobson  (PH)   Non-Executive Director 
Sally May  (SM)   Director of Finance  
Kim O’Keeffe   (KOK)   Director of Nursing, Midwifery & AHPs  
Rob Parry  (RP)   Interim Medical Director  
Sarah Pryce  (SP)   Non-Executive Director 
Margaret Schwarz (MS)   Non-Executive Director 
Richard Smith  (RS)   Associate Non-Executive Director 
Gill Vivian  (GV)   Non-Executive Director 
 
In attendance: 
Lynsey Neave  (LN)   Head of Corporate Services 
Gill Derrick  (GD)   Deputy Medical Director 
Lisa Nicholls  (LNi)   Project Manager 
Rehan Afzal  (RA)   Head of Organisational Development 
Debra Shields  (DS)   General Manager, Women’s and Children’s 
Mary Baulch  (MB)   Associate Director of Nursing, Women’s and 
Children’s Services  
Aoife Cavanagh (AC)   Deputy Director of Integrated Governance  
 
 
1. Welcome by the Chairman and Apologies for Absence and Minutes of the AGM 

Board Meeting – 6 September 2018 
 

a. The Chairwoman welcomed the Board, members of the public present and colleagues 
who had joined to participate in the presentations scheduled. 
 

b. The Chairwoman noted that apologies for absence had been received from Margaret 
Schwarz, Non-Executive Director; Rob Leighfield, Associate Non-Executive Director; 
Bernadette George, Director of Integrated Governance; Thom Lafferty, Director of 
Strategy and Performance; Karen Kay, Joint Director of Urgent and Emergency Care 
and; Kelvyn Hipperson, Chief Information Officer. 

 
c. The Chairwoman gave her opening remarks, noting the opportunity to reflect, to 

recognise achievements, acknowledge the changes and to look ahead.  The year had 
seen the NHS reach its 70th Anniversary and gave her personal thanks to all the staff, 
volunteers and partners who provide fantastic care and support to the local community.  
It was noted that today was World Patient Safety Day and to celebrate the Trust has 
undertaken a poster competition and the winners would be announced within the week. 

 
d. The minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on 6 September 2018 were approved 

as an accurate record. 
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2. Presentation and Adoption of the Annual Report and Accounts for the period 
ending 31 March 2019 

 
a. The Board received and approved the Annual Report and Accounts for the period ending 

31 March 2019. 
 
3. Looking to the Future - Our Plans for 2019/20 and beyond 

 
a. The Board received a presentation from the Chief Executive which was supported by 

colleagues which summarised the key highlights from 2018/19 and the future plans and 
opportunities in 2019/10.  The Board noted: 
 
• The Trust ended the year with £4.1m deficit outturn against plan of £11.9m deficit but 

continued to have an underlying deficit although set a breakeven plan for 2019-20; 
• The Trust received fantastic news in relation to the Women and Children’s Hospital 

although other capital availability remained limited; 
• The Care Quality Commission rating of ‘Requires Improvement’ and the 

organisational journey to deliver brilliant care; 
• The ASPIRE ward accreditation and SAFER programmes raised standards and 

consistency of care; 
• The continued focus on listening to patients and families; asking them to tell us what 

they think so that we can improve; 
• Plans to improve cancer waits, routine referral to treatment times, and diagnostic 

waits; 
• Investing in and using digital technology to keep patients safe and improve our 

services; 
• With regard to people, there was a disappointing staff survey results and the Trust 

was focused on having happy staff and providing safe care.  The Trust had its first 
and very successful Festival in 2019; 

• Health and wellbeing was paramount and supporting staff through better working 
environments and facilities was a key focus; 

• The Being Brilliant Leadership and Development Programme was launched and 
focussed on behaviours, values, being open and honest and working together.  The 
programme had been well received; 

• With regard to Trust facilities, the Trust had a number of exciting builds and 
opportunities, this included the IMPACT Hub which would bring together 
safeguarding and crises support; the investment for a new build to create new 
inpatient cancer ward and MRI unit and; the £99.9m for a new Women’s and 
Children’s Unit; 

• To support the brilliant improvement journey, the Trust was supporting safer care 
through improvements in technology which included an eHealth Record and 
Electronic Observations. 

 
4. Brilliant Care Week  

 
a. The Chief Executive and colleagues continued the presentation which focussed on the 

link with Patient Care Week and World Patient Safety Day and the aspiration to be 
among the safest hospitals in the country. 
 

b. During Patient Safety Week the Trust engaged with staff, patients and carers regarding 
‘what safety means to us’ and committing to safety pledges.  The Board welcomed a 
video of staff outlining what safety meant to them. 
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c. Lastly, the Board were informed of the success and involvement of colleagues across 
the organisation in a poster competition, which would be presented at the next Board 
meeting. 

 
5. Closing Words from the Chairwoman and Questions 

 
a. The Chairwoman concluded the Annual General Meeting by thanking the Board and 

colleagues who joined the meeting today to talk about the exciting opportunities and the 
journey to being brilliant.   

 
b. The Chairwoman opened the meeting to questions: 

 
i) Dr Jane Bernal, member of the public enquired about the Trust process for 

discharge and suggested that patient care and safety also linked to when patients 
left hospital.  Dr Bernal continued, commenting on the working relationship with 
the Duchy Hospital.  The Chief Executive spoke of the partnership arrangements 
with the Duchy Hospital and the positive approach to benefit patients.   With 
regard to patient safety, the Director of Nursing, Midwifery and AHP agreed that 
discharge was a key element of patient safety and the Patient Safety Group was 
looking at discharge on admission. 
 

ii) Georgie of Kernow Maternity Voices Partnership asked what the Trust was doing 
to maximise community engagement and services.  The Chairwoman spoke of 
the engagement across the system leaders and the developments in partnership 
working.  The Trust was actively engaged with volunteers and developing 
passports that enabled individuals to work across organisations. 

 



BRLLIANT CARE
Improving safety,  
reducing waits
p.30

BRILLIANT PEOPLE
Leadership, culture and 
celebrating achievement
p.56

BRILLIANT IMPROVEMENT
Quality, technology and 
research
p.74

ACCOUNTS
Royal Cornwall  
Hospitals accounts
p.156

Starting our Journey 
to brilliant
Annual Report & Accounts - 2019-2020



We would like to say a 
very big thank you to all 
of the organisations and 

individuals who have 
supported the NHS, our NHS 

People and patients over 
the last few months. 
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Starting on our 
journey to be  
brilliant for care, 
brilliant for  
improvement  
and brilliant for  
our people.

We have an exciting future ahead and a clear strategy with supporting 
plans providing the detail of how we will meet our aspiration to provide 
brilliant care.  Alongside our plans to improve services we will see massive 
investment in facilities, starting this year with an expansion of our 
Emergency Department in readiness for winter, a two-year project to provide 
a new building for our MRI and haematology/oncology service and the 
development of a business case for a new Women’s & Children’s Unit.
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Chairwoman’s Forward
By Mairi Mclean - Chairwoman

We were delighted to see how the Care 
Quality Commission report recognised 
our work to improve areas it previously 
identified as needing improvement.  

The change in our well-led rating was 
particularly rewarding, reflecting not only 
the stability we now have in our Board 
team but the stronger leadership at all 
levels.  

I want to thank the Board and 
colleagues across our hospitals for their 
work to achieve the cultural shift that 
has been so important in making this 
possible. 

This cultural change was reflected, 
too, in a more positive set of staff survey 
results, where more colleagues than 
ever responded, and we improved ratings 
across eight of eleven areas. 

Taking time to recognise these and 
many other achievements is a vital part 
of our improvement journey, where we 
can reflect on the efforts we have made, 

share with, and learn from, our peers; 
locally, regionally and nationally.  

We have done much this year to put 
ourselves forward and many of our 
successes are highlighted later in this 
report.

Among the celebrations of our 
progress was the visit of Her Royal 
Highness the Princess Royal, in her role 
as President of the Royal College of 
Midwives, who came to see the brilliant 
work of our midwifery team to improve 
care and safety for parents and babies. 
Work that went on to receive acclaim in 
national awards.

On behalf of the Trust Board I would 
like to thank our amazing army of 
volunteers and Friends who provide 
support and assistance to patients in a 
wide variety of ways and settings.  

It has been memorable a year for us at RCHT 
as we worked hard to see our hospitals lifted 
out of special measures and then facing the 

unprecedented challenge of a world-wide 
pandemic, something none of us could have 

predicted.

The change in our well-led rating 
was particularly rewarding, 
reflecting not only the stability we 
now have in our Board team but the 
stronger leadership at all levels.
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Unprecedented challenge

Also to our Charity and the local 
people and businesses for their 
continued generosity and support 
throughout the year, and which 
has come in such abundance 
during Covid-19.

I would also like to thank all 
our patients, their families and 
our communities who respect the 
need to use our hospitals well 
and who have been so helpful and 
understanding of our necessary 
changes during Covid-19. 

I am especially grateful for your 
support with our visiting policy 
since the pandemic started. 

These are difficult decisions 
to make and follow and our policy 
is for the safety of everyone, 
patients, families, communities 
and our staff.

This last year we have seen 
some exciting progress in the 
way health and care partners 
are coming together to overcome 
historic boundaries, finding new 
ways to make our services more 
responsive and accessible for our 
population.  

This is something we will see 
much more of over the coming year 
and beyond.

As we move ahead, with many of us 
working in new ways and a much 
changed environment, we have the 
opportunity to harness the momentum 
and motivation our progress during 
2019-20 has given us, and continue 
toward our aspiration to provide 
consistently brilliant care to One+all.

This cultural change was 
reflected, too, in a more positive 
set of staff survey results, where 
more colleagues than ever 
responded, and we improved 
ratings across eight of eleven 
areas.



Performance Report
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Chief Executive’s  
Introduction
By Kate Shields - Chief Executive

It was particularly pleasing to see the recognition that we are  
well-led. This is not just for the Board but for everyone who is doing 
their job so well and playing their part in the wonderful teams we have 
at our hospitals caring for the people of Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly 
as well as the many visitors to our county. Everyone has contributed 
to making our hospitals a very different place to work – we should  
be proud.

We came out of ‘special measures’ quietly, at the height of 
the first wave of the pandemic.  The decision was made after 
a recommendation from Professor Ted Baker, the Care Quality 
Commission’s Chief Inspector of Hospitals is which he praised our 
‘journey of improvement and progress’ over the past two and a half 
years. 

We don’t underestimate that there is still much more to do whilst 
we continue to be rated as ‘requires improvement’, but we have 
proved what can be achieved in a relatively short time and we are 
determined to keep the momentum going, so we become the Brilliant 
hospitals our people and population deserve.

Unrecognisable’ was the description 
of one Care Quality Commission 

assessor on a return visit to RCHT 
as part of our inspection at the end 

of 2019, in a report that signalled 
tangible signs of improvement in so 

many areas.  It reflected the dedication 
and application of our people, paving 
the way for our release from ‘special 

measures, in April this year.

13 Chief Executive’s Introduction
16 Who we are
22 Strategic aims and priorities 
24 Summary of progress
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We have an exciting future ahead and a clear strategy with supporting 
plans providing the detail of how we will meet our aspiration to provide 
brilliant care.  Alongside our plans to improve services we will see 
massive investment in facilities, starting this year with an expansion of 
our Emergency Department in readiness for winter, a two-year project to 
provide a new building for our MRI and haematology/oncology service and 
the development of a business case for a new Women’s & Children’s Unit.

 

Our local response to Covid-19 has brought some remarkable changes 
in the way we work across our hospitals and with our partners in health 
and care. The way we have seen our services pull together, at a pace we 
could never have imagined, has been amazing. 

We’ve brought forward changes that might otherwise have taken 
months or years, all with one common aim; to give our people – our staff - 
the very best chance of doing their best for our patients: our families, our 
friends, our loved ones.

In return, the brilliant things our community has done for us over the 
last three months give us every reason to go the extra mile to be brilliant 
for them.  Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly are unique and special places – 
we are proud to care and feel supported by the people we serve.

The events of the last few months may make it easy for us to forget 
some of the highlights of our year; the announcement of £99m funding 
for our Women’s & Children’s Unit; significant improvements in maternity, 
stroke, orthopaedic and end of live care; better staff survey results than 
we have seen for many years, and the totally Brilliant You Festival.  

We have had much to celebrate and we will find time and a way, in the 
new environment Covid has brought, to do that just that.

I think we can all reflect on a tough but positive 
year. And our ‘Journey to brilliant’? We’re on the way!

Exciting future

We have also been given £450m as part 
of the Health Infrastructure Programme 
(HIP2).  We feel invested in, supported and 
proud.

Illustrated map of Cornwall 
featuring our three hospital 
sites
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We have three main sites: Royal 
Cornwall Hospital, Truro; St Michael’s 
Hospital, Hayle; and West Cornwall 
Hospital, Penzance

We also provide imaging and outpatient 
services at a number of locations spread 
across the Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, 
as well as birthing centres in St Austell, 
Helston and on the Isles of Scilly. 

 More than 6,000 people work together 
to provide specialist hospital care and 
supporting services to a population of 
more than 430,000 residents; a figure 
which is boosted significantly during the 
busy holiday periods.  

Our team includes more than 600 
volunteers and an in-house bank of over 
1000 people working flexibility to help us 
respond to changes in demand.

The geography of our county; 
surrounded on three sides by sea, and the 
remoteness of the Isles of Scilly present 
unique challenges. Our population is 
growing and changing. 

The number of people living in Cornwall 
is rising faster than the national average 
and over the next 10 years, we are 
planning for a 6% increase in the number 
of people who live here. The number of 
people aged over 75 is also above the 
national average and increasing. More 
information on our demography can be 
found in our  
‘Trust Strategy 2019-2022 - Our Journey 
to Brilliant’. 

Who we are

The number of 
people aged over 
75 is also above  
the national 
average and 
increasing. 

The Royal Cornwall  
Hospitals NHS Trust was  
created in 1992 as part of 
the second wave of NHS 
Trusts to be established in 
England.
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667
Total Beds

4054 £100m
Future Investment

£34m
£11m

Women & Childrens Hospital

Lowen / MRI Project

West Cornwall & St Michael's Hospital

Royal Cornwall 
Hospital

St Michael's 
Hospital

West Cornwall 
Hospital

430,000+

£480m 5,700+

Population Served

Budget Total Employees

Across 3 hospitals and sites in the community

Boosted significantly during the busy holiday periods

£450m
Health Infrastructure Investment



We also have leadership teams in place at St Michael’s 
Hospital and West Cornwall Hospital to provide dedicated 

management to these sites.
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Our services

We also provide a number of specialised 
services (such as the treatment of cystic 
fibrosis and head & neck cancer), often 
working as part of a network with other 

acute hospital providers.  

Our hospitals provide acute 
emergency and planned 
care services to our local 
population, in addition to 
maternity services. 

Anaesthetics, Critical Care and Theatres; 
 
Clinical Support; 
 
General Surgery and Cancer; 
 
Specialist Medicine; 
 
Specialist Services and Surgery; 
 
Urgent, Emergency and Trauma; 
 
Women, Children and Sexual Health.

Anaesthetics, Critical Care and Theatres.

Clinical Support.

General Surgery and Cancer.

Specialist Medicine.

Specialist Services and Surgery.

Urgent, Emergency and Trauma.

Women, Children and Sexual Health.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Our services are split into seven Care Groups:



How many people  
we cared for:
(1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020)
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Our Trust Board is made up of  
Non- Executive and Executive 

Directors who together are 
responsible for leading our 

hospitals. 

The Board meets in public up to twelve times a year and 
anyone is welcome to attend. Our Chairman is appointed by NHS 
Improvement and works with us to appoint other members of the 
Trust Board.

Our seven Clinical Care Groups are supported by corporate 
teams including finance, human resources and estates and 
facilities. Payroll and information technology services are 
hosted by Royal Cornwall Hospitals on behalf of the local NHS 
community, which includes the provision of IT services to GP 
surgeries. 

Soft Facilities Management services - such as cleaning, 
portering, ward host/ housekeeping, mail room – are provided by 
MITIE. Car parking facilities for visitors and staff are managed by 
Q-Park Limited.

Our patient and staff meals are produced by our in-house 
catering team, operating under the name Sustenation, which 
is actively developing its business model as a provider to other 
NHS Trusts and commercial businesses. 

Our work is founded on the National Health Service (NHS) 
Constitution and achieving the national standards set by NHS 
England and the UK Government, working in partnership with our 
regulators and local commissioners. Our main commissioner is 
NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group and we are registered 
with the Care Quality Commission.

We are a teaching hospitals trust as part of the University of 
Exeter Medical School and the University of Plymouth (nursing 
and dental faculties). We also have an expanding Research, 
Development and Innovation portfolio.

Our team and governance 

538,567

9,012

59,510

97,517

Outpatient Attendances

Planned Inpatient

Planned Day Cases

Regular Day Patient

Emergency Admissions

A&E Attendances

3,923

365,380

Baby Births

Clinical Imaging Diagnostics

16,930

66,727



Our Vision

 

Always providing 
safe, effective and 

compassionate care, 
where we listen and learn 

to provide an excellent 
patient experience and 
reduce avoidable harm

Working together in a 
supportive environment 
to attract, develop and 
retain brilliant people 

Instilling a culture  
of quality 

improvement where 
everyone feels 

empowered to make 
changes for the benefit of 

our patients

Care + Compassion, Inspiration + Innovation, 
Working Together, Pride + Achievment,  

Trust + Respect

Aspiring to provide Brilliant Care to One + All

Care + Compassion 
We see the person in every patient, communicating with 
honesty and compassion. We listen and act on feedback to 
ensure outstanding care.  

Inspiration + Innovation 
We welcome new ideas and use our initiative to solve  
problems together. We value learning and research to 
improve services.  

Working Together 
We work to create a positive team spirit, recognise  
achievements and celebrate success. We are open, 
inclusive and want to continually improve.  

Pride + Achievement 
We take pride in our work and always go the extra mile. We 
lead by example and ensure quality is at the heart of all we 
do.  

Trust + Respect 
We respect and consider other people’s views and feelings. 
We seek consensus where possible and respond to situations 
professionally and calmly.

Goal 1
Brilliant  

Care

Goal 2
Brilliant  
People

Goal 3
Brilliant  

Improvement

Our Values 
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Our Strategy describes our improvement 
journey, and is based on a recognition  
that the we have to improve and aspire to 
achieve greater things.

We know that our patients and our 
local population expect and deserve 
more.

To do this we place Quality 
Improvement at the heart of everything 
we do, so we become and remain a 
brilliant place to work and receive care. 
We need to change, transform and 
modernise, refocussing our efforts on 

delivering the right services, in the right 
locations, with the right workforce, to a 
brilliant standard. Ultimately, we want to 
ensure we are one of the safest hospitals 
to receive care.

To do this, we focus on three key 
strategic goals: Brilliant Care; Brilliant 
People and Brilliant Improvement.

Strategic aims and priorities

Our Strategy is designed to take us 
through the next four years and we have 
set ourselves annual milestones.  

It is aligned to our quality improvement 
programme and how we will meet our 
goals is given in more detail in our 
supporting strategies:

 ➔ Brilliant Care
 ➔ Brilliant People
 ➔ Brilliant Improvement
 ➔ Clinical Strategy
 ➔ Digital Strategy
 ➔ Research & Development Strategy
 ➔ Equality, Diversity & Inclusion



Our release from Special Measures in 
April 2020 was clear evidence of how 
our performance has improved over 

the last two years, as we work toward 
our aspiration to provide 

brilliant care.
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Summary of progress

We have worked hard to respond to 
Care Quality Commission requirements, 
to cut down delays to clinical procedures, 
to strengthen leadership and address 
concerns in the safety and quality of our 
services. Our hospitals retained their 
rating of ‘Requires Improvement’.

Mortality rates remain within the 
expected range for our patient population 
and our early identification and rapid 
treatment for sepsis has continued 
to improve. Patient feedback remains 
positive overall but and we have improved 
how quickly we respond to complaints, 
how we learn from incidents and that 
we are meeting our duty of candour 
requirements.

Initiatives such as our ward 
accreditation programme and SAFER 
care have continued to play an important 
part improving patient safety and raising 
standards of care across the board. Allied 
to these has been a wide range of quality 
and efficiency improvement projects and 
our staff are being empowered to take 
these, and many more, forward with the 
support of our Quality Improvement Hub.

Our staff survey results have improved 
in across nearly all areas and our 
organisational development programme 
has introduced more initiatives to boost 
the health and wellbeing of our people, 
to ensure they feel better supported and 
valued.



We have worked hard to respond to Care 
Quality Commission requirements, to cut 

down delays to clinical procedures, to 
strengthen leadership and address concerns 

in the safety and quality of our services.

During the year our ‘Strategy 2019-
2022 - Our Journey to Brilliant’ was 
launched across our hospitals. As well 
as engaging with our Care Groups and 
services about the new strategy, we 
embedded our vision and strategic 
objectives within our day to day business. 

This year we have developed 
three supporting strategies: Brilliant 
Care, Brilliant People and Brilliant 
Improvement, which give more detail on 
how we intend to achieve the aims of our 
overarching Strategy.  Each of our clinical 
specialties has as also developed a ‘plan 
on a page’ to align local improvement 
plans with the Strategy.

The focus of the whole health system 
in responding to Covid-19 inevitably 
resulted in some aspects of our strategic 
plans being delayed, as we prioritised 
activity on the care and safety of 
our population and workforce.  Of 49 
milestones in our Strategy and 2019-
20 Operational Plan, we completed 28, 
partially achieved 12 and nine are still to 
be progressed. 

We will also be revisiting our future 
plans to ensure these are still relevant 
in new environment in which we are now 
working.

Financially we ended the year with a 
cash balance of £6.6m. This was £5.6m 
above the planned position of £1m. 

With our partners we have continued 
to work on the system transformation 
that is vital to the long term sustainability 
of health and care services.  One of the 
biggest challenges for us all continues 
to be recruiting people to our teams 
and reducing our reliance on temporary 
and agency staff.  The launch of our 
nursing assistant apprenticeships, 
continued successful international 
recruitment and the expansion of many 
otherapprenticeship opportunities will 
help us to meet that challenge.

This has been a year where we have 
started to reap the benefits of seeing 
our people better focussed on care and 
safety and more motivated to make the 
changes we want for our patients and 
their families.

Journey to Brilliant
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Brilliant  
Care
Read our publication online 
@royalcornwall.nhs.uk

Brilliant  
People

Brilliant  
Improvement

PDF

PDF

PDF

Read our publication online 
@royalcornwall.nhs.uk

Read our publication online 
@royalcornwall.nhs.uk
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Brilliant Care

02.

32. Coming out of special measures
36. Safer Care
38. Being open and honest
40. Listening and learning from patients, families and carers
45. Effective, timely care
49. Working with the health and care system
50. Clean, safe, welcoming environment

Our journey to brilliant
Always providing safe, effective and 
compassionate care, where we listen 
and learn to provide an excellent patient 
experience and reduce avoidable harm.
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Coming out of ‘special measures’

Improving our ratings across many 
areas and giving us an overall rating 
of ‘Requires Improvement’; paving the 
way for us to be released from ‘special 
measures’ in early April this year.

The report recognised the pace of 
change at our hospitals and the huge 
amount of work our colleagues have put 
in to improve not only care and safety but 
the culture of our organisation as a whole.  

There is still more to do as we continue 
towards our aspiration of becoming 
Brilliant for our patients and those who 
work with us but we are absolutely on the 
right track.  You can read the full report 
on the CQC website.

 ➔ Medicines management: 1) reduction of opiate use and  
2) sharing of medicines information with patients’ community 
pharmacies at discharge 

 ➔ Surgery: 3) patient attendance at governance meetings to allow 
staff to learn from patients’ experience. 

 ➔ Maternity: 4) The Teyluva midwifery team of midwives supporting 
the travelling community and providing continuity of midwife; 
improved health outcomes and relationships with women and their 
families  

 ➔ End of life care:  
5) improved online information and signposting to practical    
support;  
6) Rainbow Days;  
7) support for the emotional wellbeing of staff involved in end of life 
care;  
8) involvement in cross-community education sessions 

 ➔ Outpatients:  
9) The specialist nurse for teenagers and young people with cancer 
provided exceptional levels of support to patients.

Read overall
summary

Safe Requires Improvement

Effective  Good

Caring  Good

Responsive  Requires Improvement

Well-led  Good

Overall
Requires
Improvement

There was brilliant news for our hospitals 
when the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

published its report in February 2020.

During its inspection, the CQC assessment team identified  
nine areas of outstanding practice: 



Well-led

Overall Trust Good

ResponsiveCaringEffectiveSafeOverall

GoodGoodRequires
Improvement

Royal Cornwall 
Hospital

GoodGoodGood

West Cornwall 
Hospital

GoodGoodGoodGoodGood

St Michael’s Hospital GoodGoodGoodGoodGoodGood

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

All of these ‘must do’ 
recommendations 
will be responded to 
through our quality 
improvement plans  
in 2020-21.
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1

2

3

4

 ➔ Urgent and emergency services: mandatory and 
refresher training for staff; consistent completion of 
risk assessments; improvements to the mental health 
assessment room; reducing triage times and meeting 
the 4-hour access standard. 

 ➔ Medical care: filling essential consultant and 
nursing vacancies; ensuring colleagues understand 
responsibilities with regard to mental health and mental 
capacity; avoiding delays for medical patients being 
cared for on other specialty wards 

 ➔ Maternity: mandatory training for medical staff; 
documentation of equipment checks; authorisation 
of patient group directions; effective management of 
infection control; consistent completion of theatre 
checklists 

 ➔ Outpatients: regular checks on resuscitation equipment 
in cardiology; safe storage of patient records; ensuring 
appropriate fire safety equipment in outpatient areas

Our key areas for improvement were: 
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The following is a summary of the work we 
have been doing to meet our aspiration to 
provide Brilliant Care.

Over the last year we have made a 
number of improvements in patient 
safety, including:

Reducing the number of patients 
waiting more than 52 weeks for their 
procedure from a high of 518 in 2018/19 
to zero in October 2019.  However this 
position was not maintained whilst our 
hospitals responded to the Covid-19 
pandemic

Improved the indicators that compare 
survival rates in hospitals based on the 
type of patients they are caring for

 ➔ Reducing the number of people who 
had falls whilst in our hospitals and 
the severity of any injury

 ➔ Reducing in the number of people 
who acquired new pressure ulcers 
whilst in our care

 ➔ Reducing cases of thrombosis (blood 
clots) acquired in hospital

 ➔ Introduced a new module on our 
electronic observation system so 
that our health care professionals are 
quickly alerted to signs of Sepsis, or 
deterioration in a patient’s condition. 

These improvements have been made 
possible through the efforts of our 
colleagues to refocus on all aspects of 
patient safety.  We used Patient Safety 
Week and World Patient Safety Day in 
September to showcase their work and 
share good practice between teams and 
with our community.  

We intend to make Patient Safety 
Week a major annual event on our public 
engagement calendar.  

There is more detail on our patient 
safety improvements in our Quality 
Accounts 2019-2020, together with or 
plans for the coming year.  

How we have been working  
toward our Brilliant Care  
goal during 2019-20

Safer care
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Being open and honest with people 
about their care is an absolute  
priority for us.

This year we have made 
significant improvements in the way 
we do this, supported by a focus on 
training, support through our Duty 
of Candour champions, and ongoing 
learning through our audits. 

Our Being Brilliant training is a 
key way of building an open culture 
in our hospitals and will continue 
to be rolled out in future years, so 

Being open & honest

that all of our colleagues feel safe and confident 
to raise concerns and to ensure we are open with 
patients and families when something has gone 
wrong.

Our annual review confirmed the number of 
incidents reported across our hospital is in line 
with national reporting levels and the proportion 
of low harm to serious harm incidents is reflective 
of a open and positive reporting culture.  



Detail on the results and 
actions we have taken can 
be found in our  
Quality Accounts 2019-20.

Patient feedback summary
Over the last financial year there were an average 3,694 responses 
to the Friends and Family Test per month. The following numbers 
show the number of people responding who would recommend or not 
recommend these services to a friend or family member.

23%

97%

1%

13%

99%

0%

14%

89%

6%

93%

4%

97%

1%

96%

1%

96%

4%
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The main ways we receive feedback are the 
Friends and Family Test, our annual inpatient 
and outpatient surveys, and increasingly the 
online ‘Tripadvisor style’ forum, Care Opinion.

Listening and learning from  
patients, families, carers

Response Rates Recommended Not Recommended

Outpatient 
Department

Maternity
Antenatal Care

Maternity Postnatal 
Community

Inpatients & 
Daycases

Maternity
Birth

Maternity
Postnatal Ward

Emergency  
Department



93

42 43Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

Compliments and complaints We have introduced a new Friends & 
Family Test to get a better understanding 
of patients’ experiences within our 
outpatient areas and will be using their 
feedback in our work to improve the way 
we provide outpatient clinics.  

This year we have been working with 
Healthwatch on the development of 
‘AskCornwall’, an online engagement 
platform that will enable us to engage 
with a wider range of people across 
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

The Kernow Maternity Voices 
Partnership has proven a highly 
successful example of service user 
engagement, playing a part in the cultural 

change within our maternity services and 
leading to a number of improvements in 
care for parents and babies.

We are looking to develop our patient 
engagement through representation on 
key committees, working with patient 
support groups and listening to the views 
of our 600+ volunteers who have gained 
valuable insight around our hospitals.

We are also planning ‘open days’ and 
other opportunities for the public to be 
more involved. These are being adapted 
around social distancing rules and we 
are considering online and livestreaming 
events to reach as many people as 
possible.

Over the last year we have received 
over 7,200 compliments.

Set against the context of more 
than 650,000 patient appointments 
and admissions, a total of 506 formal 
complaints were received in 2019-20, 35 
more than those received in 2018-19. 

We have been working hard to improve 
the time it takes to respond to complaints 
and have made steady progress, reaching 
90% responded to within 30 days at the 
end of February.  

However this level dropped to 84% 
due to the impact of Covid-19 on staffing 
levels.

The feedback we receive from patients, 
whether positive or negative, is an integral 
part of our learning and improvement journey 
to provide brilliant care.

7,200
650,000
506
90%

Compliments.

Patient Appointments

Formal Complaints

Responded to



2018-19

118

100

53

53

70

42

Communication with patient

Communication with realtives/carers

Attitude of Medical Staff

Attitude of Registered Nursing Staff/Midwifes

Care needs not adequatly met

Discharge Arrangements (inc lack of poor planning)

Sub-subjects

54

24

Inadequate pain management

Patient not listened to

6Lack of clinical assessment

39

44

Delay or failure in treatment or procedure

Missed or incorrect diagnosis

43Incorrect diagnosis

2019-20

129

124

52

65

87

60

45

62

23

51

41

46

2018-19

4Complaints accepted by PHSo for investigation

Sub-subjects 2019-20

2

2017-18

6

In 2019-/20, the Trust received two final reports from the PHSO; one of which was partly upheld and 
one of which was not upheld.  Details of the actions we have taken in response to complaints can be 
found in our Patient Experience Annual Report.

Complaints Accepted by PHSO for Investigation
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Reducing delays for patients coming to our hospitals 
as emergencies has been an ongoing challenge and is 
a concern that has continued to be raised by the Care 

Quality Commission.

Over the last year we have worked, together 
with health and care system partners, to ensure 
sustainable improvement in care.

We have:
 ➔ Consistently seen, treated and admitted or 

discharged more people within four hours 
than the national average.

 ➔ Had significantly fewer patients stay in 
hospital longer than 21 days, thus reducing 
the risk of people becoming less mobile and 
independent as a result of being in bed.

 ➔ Seen fewer referrals from 111 to our 
emergency department.

 ➔ Significantly reduced cancellation of planned 
operations and procedures due to emergency 
bed pressures.

 ➔ Improved survival rates for people after a 
stroke. 

A major improvement for people needing 
planned orthopaedicorthopaedic procedures was the 
centralisation of nearly all operations at our St 
Michael’s Hospital site where we are continuing to 
develop our centre of excellence. 

 
Investment in facilities and training has allowed 
us to carry out more complex surgery at the 
hospital, bringing down waiting times and making 
last minute cancellations highly unlikely.  

The team responded rapidly at the end of 
March to create a Limb Trauma Service for the 
county as part of our Covid-19 response. 

Having established an Urgent Treatment 
Centre (UTC) at West Cornwall Hospital during 
2018-19, we set up a similar unit at the Royal 
Cornwall Hospital this year. It is part of our plan 

to create a network of UTCs providing a higher 
level of care for urgent, but not life-threatening 
conditions, closer to our communities. 

Our integrated urgent care service, which 
includes 111 and GP out of hours services has 
been recognised for good practice nationally for 
clinical validation of 111 calls. More than 90% 
of those who would otherwise be advised to go 
to the emergency department or phone 999 are 
being reviewed by a clinician; leading to over 
70% receiving advice or treatment in a more 
appropriate urgent care setting, or sometimes in 
their own home, This is reducing the need to travel 
and keeping emergency services free for our 
sickest patients.

Effective, timely careTop 10 Sub-Subjects of Formal Complaints in 2019/20



Performance

89.18%

96.08%

98.40%

85.58%

80.51%

73.69%

ED Attenders 4 hours to discharge, admission or transfer

Cancer referral 2 week wait* 

Cancer diagnosis to treatment within 31 days* 

Cancer referral to start treatment within 62 days* 
programme referral* 

Cancer 62 day to start of treatment following screening 
programme referral* 

Fractured neck of femur operated in 36 hours* 

Access Standard

85.51%

7

Referral to treatment incomplete pathways* 

Referral to treatment – people waiting over 52 weeks 
(March’20 end)(March’20 end)

96.21%Diagnostic tests within 6 weeks* 

3.47

5.85%

Average length of inpatient stay in days*

Delayed transfers of care*

1.04%Procedures cancelled on the day*

AchievedStandard

95.0%

93.0%

96.0%

85.0%

90.0%

80.0%

92% (90% 
local)

0

99.0%

3.3 (local)

3.50%

0.8% (local)

81.74%

63.06%

Stroke patients 90% time on unit*

Admission to stroke unit in 4 hours*

96.33%CT within 12 hours for stroke patients*

90.0%

70.0%

95.0%

* Average over 12 months

64.57%CT within 1 hour for stroke patients* 50.0% (75.0% 
local)
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Supported by technology, more people 
are taking advantage of remote monitoring 
of their condition, so that they, and their 
specialists, can identify when a clinic 
appointment is needed.  

Many more of those appointments 
will happen remotely, using secure video 
conferencing, reducing time and travel for 

patients and clinicians, as well as helping us 
to become a greener organisation.

For the coming year we are working on 
plans to improve cardiology services, working 
closely with other providers, and, at West 
Cornwall Hospital, the expansion of day case 
treatments.

Bringing down waiting times How well we did in meeting our access standards for 2019-20?

Waiting times were impacted significantly in the last part of the year due to Covid-19 and the need 
to suspend routine elective care and diagnostic investigations.  Wherever possible telephone or video 
appointments were offered.  At the end of March 2020, eight patients were waiting longer than 52 
weeks for their planned operations.

We have been changing the way our outpatient 
services meet patient needs, particularly for those 
needing routine follow-up appointments. 



and to ensure the highest standards of 
patient care and safety. This work will 
continue during 2020-21.

We want to better support to our 
older people to remain independent. As 
part of the county-wide Embrace Care 
programme we are helping more patients 
over the age of 65 to get the right care in 
the right place. 

Our early work has highlighted 
significant opportunities to improve 
efficiency, reduce delays, reduce reliance 
on care in hospitals, increase access 
to re-ablement and home care and to 
increase independence.

We will continue our work in all of 
these areas with our partners during 
2010-21. 

Formal approval of the plan, which aims 
to prevent ill health and provide more care 
at home, was delayed nationally due to 
Covid-19. 

 ➔ The Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly 
Health and Care Partnership has three 
aims:

 ➔ Improve the health and wellbeing of the 
local population.

 ➔ Improve the quality of local health and 
care services. 

Deliver financial stability in the local 
health and care system.

 
We are also working with partners across 
Devon & Cornwall to develop the Peninsula 
Clinical Strategy, which is looking at the 
best model for more specialist services 

Working with 
the health and 
care system to  
improve health 
of community

We have continued our 
work with our health 
and care partners to 

develop the Long Term 
Plan for Cornwall and 

the Isles of Scilly.
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West Cornwall and St Michael’s 
Hospitals (£11m) – investment to replace 
and refurbish old buildings 

Health Infrastructure Programme 
– we have been identified within the 
Government’s HIP2 scheme as one of 34 
new hospital projects with seed funding 
allocated to develop plans for investment 
between 2025 and 2030;

Other improvements and 
refurbishment of patient and staff 
areas, using funding from our Backlog 
Maintenance Programme.

It means we will be able to build 
facilities to give the next generation 
the best start in life and bring together 
services so that our clinical teams can 
provide brilliant care.

The Women’s and Children’s Unit is just 
one part of our Building Brilliance Estates 
Strategy will deliver a number of key 
projects over the coming years.  

These include:

Haematology/Oncology and MRI 
Development (£31m) – a purpose-built 
three story building on the Royal Cornwall 
Hospital site with inpatient and outpatient 
cancer care facilities and two new 
magnetic resonance imagers, with capacity 
in the future for a third.  The build starts in 
Spring 2020 and is due to be completed in 
Summer 2022.

Women’s & Children’s Hospital (£100m) 
–  a new building to sit between the Tower 
and Trelawny buildings on the Royal 
Cornwall Hospital site, replacing the 
Princess Alexander Wing and creating a 
new front entrance to the Hospital;

Clean, safe  
welcoming  
environment

We have had brilliant 
news this year with 
the award of £99m to 
rebuild our women’s 
and children’s 
facilities.

The Women’s and Children’s 
Unit is just one part of our 
Building Brilliance Estates 

Strategy will deliver a number 
of key projects over the 

coming years.  

A number of our support services are 
provided by Mitie. 

We have been working together 
throughout this year to further improve 
services and this has been reflected 
in our annual Patient Environment 
Assessment Test results.  

Some of these services are planned 
to transfer back to our management 
during 2020-21 and we have an exciting 
programme of improvements for our 
patient and retail catering services.
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Our own carbon management and reduction strategy set out our ambition to 
achieve a 34% reduction in carbon emissions by 2020 which was met two years early 
through our contract with Cofely (now ENGIE) to improve our energy infrastructure 
including gcombined heat and power plant, new generators, bio-mass boilers, LED 
lighting and solar PV

Making our hospitals greener

We are commited to achieving the NHS target 
to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from 
building energy use, travel and procurement 
of goods and services by 80% (against a 1990 
baseline) by 2050.



** The Trust sends all “Non-burn disposal” to the Energy from Waste 
Plant in Bodmin.  There is zero waste to landfill.

Waste

361.178

4.926

2095.772

17

503.74

2.72

2240.59

22

241.51

5

12

752.752 766.61 838.01

976.916 967.52 952.78

(tonnes)

(tonnes)

(tonnes)

(tonnes)

Recycling

WEEE

High temp 
disposal

Non-burn 
disposal**

Total waste (tonnes)

% of recycled or re-used

Mains 154,840

£606,928.31

151,383

£587,923.28

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

m3

Water and sewage spend

Water Use

166,990

706,082

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Energy Use

Gas

Electricity

Green Electricity 
Generated

Total energy CO2e

26,398,315

4,852.27

6,203.96

-6.666

£2,868,842

Resource 2017-18 

16,263,724

19,111

11,056.23

Use (kWh)

tCO2e

tCO2e

tCO2e

Use (kWh)

Use (kWh)

Total energy spend

Combined Heat & Power Unit (CHP) Produced 
Electricity

25,045,387

4,599.460

7,454.719

- 4.913

£2,417,061

2016-17

16,691,415

11,996

12,054.179

2018-19

31,211,806

£2,915,535

12,118,418

32,588

2037.30

We met our 2020 target 
to reduce carbon 
emissions by 34%, two 
years early!
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Working together in a supportive 
environment to attract, develop 
and retain brilliant people.

Our recruitment successes:

Brilliant People

03.

57. Our recruitment successes
58. Being brilliant leaders
59. Freedom to Speak Up
60. Recognising and celebrating achievement
64. Learning and growing
66. Safety, health and wellbeing
67. Living our values
72. Equality, diversity and inclusion

Recruitment of over 110 preceptee health  
care professionals. 
 
Recruitment of 111 international nurses.
 
The number of registered nurses in post  
has risen to 1697.  

This is the highest  number ever  
employed substantively at the Trust. 

Our overall vacancy position has 
reduced to 8.9%.



Freedom to Speak Up
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Being brilliant leaders

We want to have brilliant leadership and 
people management skills throughout our 
hospitals so that our people are confident to 
lead services and their teams.  

 
This has started through our Brilliant Leadership programme which this year has 
reached around 1000 more colleagues, helping us to spread a positive culture with a 
focus on compassionate leadership, patient safety, inspiring people, leading success 
and quality improvement.

We have also been updating and improving our manager’s passport and induction 
programmes to ensure all of our people know their role as leaders in supporting change, 
as well as being ambassadors for our values, goals and ambitions.

This year we reviewed and updated our People policies to ensure they are fit for 
purpose and support us in delivering Brilliant Care.  

These are all published on our internet site and an  
ongoing review schedule is in place.

An open and honest reporting culture is an 
essential if we want to be brilliant for caring 
and for the people who work for us. 

We have a dedicated Freedom to 
Speak Up Guardian who works with a 
team of champions to protect patient 
safety and quality of care. We are 
committed to encouraging staff to speak 
up and our Guardian works to highlight 
barriers to speaking up and to ensure 
that they are addressed. 

Freedom to Speak up information 
features in our Induction for new 
starters, mandatory training and in our 
Being Brilliant cultural and leadership 
development programme.

As a result of the increased profile 
of Freedom to Speak Up there has 

been an improvement, in staff feeling 
secure raising concerns about unsafe 
clinical practice to above the national 
average, with concerns followed up and 
appropriate actions taken.  

The range of concerns are varied and 
often very individual, however patient 
safety, culture, behaviour, relationship 
and staff safety are the four most 
frequent category of concern reported 
against. 

During March, issues regarding PPE 
and Social Distancing were the main 
issues raised, in respect of Covid-19.

We recruited 
over 200 new 
nurses.
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Festival and staff awards
This year we took a new approach to our annual staff awards, 

hosting our first ever Festival of Brilliant You.  A free, outdoor event 
for all colleagues and their families, offering a full day of music and 
entertainment was attended by over 2000 people.

The event also hosted our rebranded Brilliant You and Long 
Service Awards providing an opportunity for many more families 
and friends to share in the celebrations than has been possible in 
the past. 

The Brilliant You Awards categories we refreshed and increased 
so that we could recognise more of our brilliant colleagues, 
volunteers and partnership working with other organisations.

The changes prompted by far our biggest ever number of 
nominations – over 500 - for our Brilliant You Awards, setting our 
judges a tough task of whittling them down to the 41 teams and 
individuals selected as winners across the 15 categories, including 
one overall winner in each one.

The event was a massive success and although an even bigger 
event, extending an invitation to our colleagues from health and 
care system partners, had been planned for 2020, this is currently 
only hold due to Covid-19 and social distancing restrictions. 

Recognising and  
celebrating achievement

Doing more to celebrate the work 
and achievements of our people is 
integral to changing our culture, 
helping our colleagues to feel more 
positive, motivated and more likely 
to recommend our hospitals as a 
place to work and to receive care.
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National awards and recognition

This year we have seen many more of our people 
recognised for their achievements on a regional and 
national stage during 2019-20. These include:

We were delighted to see 
recognition for our Joint Director of 
Nursing Midwifery & Allied Health 
Professions, Kim O’Keeffe and for 
Breastfeeding Support Specialist 
Midwife, Helen Shanahan, who were 
both awarded British Empire Medals 
in the 2020 New Year’s Honours List 
for their leadership and service to 
their professions which has done so 
much to improve and support care and 
safety.

Thank A Volunteer Week
Our Friends and volunteers are a vital part of 

our hospitals and we have embraced Thank A 
Volunteer Week as way to acknowledge the time 
they give to our patients, visitors and colleagues.  
This is now an annual event on our calendar where 
we take time to say personal Thank You’s and to 
celebrate their achievements.  

A large proportion of our volunteers have 
previously had long careers in the NHS and many 
of our younger volunteers use the opportunity to 
support their aim of starting their own careers in 
health care.

National professional  
celebration days

Many of our health care professions have 
national celebratory days and we have used 
these as an opportunity to celebrate the work 
of colleagues and as to encourage interest in 
recruitment and careers.  The days we marked 
this year included:

 ➔ International Day of the Midwife
 ➔ Nurses’ Day
 ➔ Allied Health Professions Day
 ➔ Operating Department Practitioners Day 

NHS Day 

 ➔ Patient Experience Network national 
awards –  five nominations, with x wins, 
for the Palliative Care and End of Life  
team’s Butterfly Cornwall scheme, plus 
one further nomination for partnership 
work across Cornwall & Isles of Scilly 
and one for the Outpatients and Patient 
Experience teams.  

 ➔ Heart Failure and Diabetes services are 
finalists in the Health Service Journal 
Partnership Awards.

 ➔ Midwives Sarah-Jane Pedler and Zoe 
Nelson to be RCHT’s representatives 
on the national Maternity Ambassador 
initiative to develop perceptions and 
make midwifery a career of choice.

 ➔ Our Anaesthetics services team was 
highly commended for “Student 
Placement of the Year” by  
Oxford Brookes University  
in 2019

 ➔ Urogynaecology Service became one 
of a select group to achieve national 
accreditation

 ➔ Jane Parke - shortlisted for an NHS Hero’s 
Award

 ➔ Urogynaecology Service became one 
of a select group to achieve national 
accreditation

 ➔ Parliamentary Award for Information 
Services Team and nominations for Sarah 
Budden – Clinical Matron, Sarah Chaplain 
– chaplin and the Renal Unit Team

 ➔ Lisa Verity – Top abstract prize in 
speciality at RCOG Congress 2019

 ➔ Rachael Brandreth – Health Education 
England Emerging Leader Award 

 ➔ Pharmacy Team – Highly Commended at 
Health Service Journal Awards

 ➔ Jane Urben – Wales and South West 
Maternity festival 2019 management 
award 

 ➔ Sandra Oakley and the People Information 
Unit won the Regional HPMA for 
innovation, for their People Dashboard.

 ➔ Vascular surgeon Neil Hopper featured 
on BBC’s Inside Out programme telling 
his inspirational story of return to work 
after a battle with sepsis and becoming a 
double-amputee

 ➔ Eleanor King – Cornwall Business 
Apprentice of the Year and finalist in this 
National Apprenticeships Awards

 ➔ RCHT is highly commended in the 
Large Employer and Health Apprentice 
categories at the Cornwall Apprenticeship 
Awards 

 ➔ Procurement’s Inventory Management 
Team win at the Supply Chain Excellence 
Awards

 ➔ Young Volunteer of the Year Award for 
Maisy Vincent (featured in Daily Mail) 
and Highly Commended Awards for Patzy 
Dalby and John Nunn in the national 
Helpforce Awards

 ➔ Hepatology Team achieves Royal College 
Level 1 IQILS (Improving Quality In Liver 
Services) Accreditation

 ➔ RCHT Nominated for Large employer 
apprenticeship provider of the year 
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We have been expanding the 
opportunities for education and 
development so that our people 
can be sure they have the right 
skills they need for their work, 
through academic, professional and 
apprenticeship qualifications.

Apprenticeships are an increasingly large part of our workforce.  
New opportunities in nursing and other clinical roles at higher NVQ 
and degree level are proving a valuable way of developing our own 
talent, as well as offering brilliant career opportunities for local 
people.  

We exceeded the public sector target for the number of 
colleagues undertaking apprenticeships but lost a small amount 
of available funding after we had to delay the start of the nursing 
assistant programme due to Covid-19.

 ➔ Twenty-four colleagues commenced or continued on 
apprenticeship programmes leading to registered nurse or 
associate nurse registration. 

 ➔ A partnership with Truro and Penwith College and the University 
of Greenwich gained Nursing & Midwifery Council approval to 
provide nursing associate training locally.  
A successful bid to gain funding to set up an operating 
department practitioner programme during 2020/21.

 ➔ 187 colleagues achieved ‘Brilliant Administration’ accreditation 
in a new scheme offering development opportunity and 
consistently highly standards of administrative support. 

Closer working with our health and care partners is providing 
new opportunities to share and develop skills, allowing our people 
to work across organisational boundaries and support new ways of 
providing care.

Learning and growing
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Safety, health and wellbeing

Looking after our people is equally as 
important as looking after our patients.

It is something that historically has 
not been high on our agenda and is why 
this is a big part of our Being Brilliant 
programme.

This year we put in place new ways of 
supporting our people.  These include:

 ➔ Health Assured – an 24/7 employee 
assistance programme offering 
advice on personal and work 
related issues including stress and 
anxiety, debt, lifestyle addictions, 
relationships and legal

 ➔ Neighbour – support with managing 
financial issues and loans

 ➔ Offer more options on flexible 
working contributing to colleagues 
feeling happier and more motivated 
at work, with anticipated benefits for 
productivity, too

 ➔ Improved working and rest 
environoments, food provision and 
accommodation

 
Professional groups and teams have also 
been working on improving support in 
their own areas.  

Examples include our maternity 
colleagues who renewed their 
Caring2Care initiative and in Procurement 
the team has been reinvigorated and 
forged better understanding of its 
relationship to front-line colleagues.

The RCHT Charity has supported the 
health and wellbeing improvements for 
staff, including grants from the Covid-19 
fund.

We have been working with our 
staff to embed our Commitments, 
which are founded in our Values.

Living our values

Throughout this year we have done more to 
engage with colleagues.  Our organisational 
development team has taken a lead in staff 
engagement and has improved or introduced 
the following ways in which we converse with 
colleagues:

 ➔ Monthly Team Talks have continued and 
participation increased through online 
streaming and live chat facilities

 ➔ Face to face conversations via Roadshows and 
‘World cafes’ 

 ➔ Pulse Check surveys, rotating through one 
care group each month

 ➔ National NHS staff survey
 ➔ Increased our use of social media – almost 

50% of colleagues are now using our staff 
facebook group and many actively engage, 
share achievements and best practice  
through social media

 ➔ Introduced video blogs and updates senior 
leaders and clinicians

 ➔ Our annual staff survey results gave us 
a strong indication that colleagues are 
feeling more connected, consulted and 
better informed.  Almost 20% more people 
completed the survey and scores were 
significantly better in eight of eleven areas, 
including safety culture, quality of care and 
staff engagement. 

 ➔ Our colleagues said they thought:
 ➔ We are being managed better
 ➔ Morale has improved
 ➔ Appraisals have improved 

The programme for feedback and  
discussion of the survey results was  
delayed due to Covid-19.  This is being  
restarted during the Summer so that  
we can continue to make progress  
before the 2020 survey in the autumn.
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Our values: What you should expect from us 
and what we will expect from you.

RCHT’s commitments to you

We are it!

As the main provider of acute and 
emergency care in the County, it is our 
responsibility to be brilliant for Cornwall 
and the Isles of Scilly, in the care we give 
and the way we look after our colleagues.

We have responsibility to support, and 
hold to account, our system partners to 
ensure patients are receiving the best 
possible care in the most appropriate 
setting.

We will show that we live our values by:

Care & Compassion

Providing an environment where you 
feel safe, so that we support you to be 
the best you can be.

Listening when you speak up and 
providing you with the support you may 
need.

Supporting you to access meaningful 
health and wellbeing activities, so 
that you know how valuable you are, 
especially if you aren’t feeling great.

Ensuring all our leaders are skilled 
to lead with compassion, openness 
and integrity, so that we provide an 
environment that ensures brilliant care. 

Working Together

Keeping you informed about and 
involved in how we deliver our care and 
services, so that you feel part of the 
team. 

Ensuring you know how you are doing 
by providing regular feedback to you and 
your team so that everyone is clear about 
what they need to do.

Providing tools and helping you build 
your skills, so that you are able to be 
great at what you do.

Trust & Respect

Trusting in your expertise and using 
this to help us make the best decisions 
about our services, so you feel part of all 
we do.

Being consistently intolerant of any 
behaviours and actions that are not in 
keeping with our aims or values, so that 
you are clear about our expectations.

Giving you the space to do 
your job and providing the 
support to develop, so that 
you fulfil your potential

The RCHT commitments
Inspiration & Innovation

Acknowledging and saying sorry for 
the mistakes we make. Recognising and 
learning from when things go well, as well 
as when they do not go as planned, so 
that you constantly seek new ways to do 
things.

Providing opportunities to support and 
participate in research and improvement 
projects, so that you know that 
constantly making things better is part of 
everyone’s job.

Supporting opportunities for career 
development, education and learning, so 
that you feel excited about the future

Pride & Achievement

Recognising and celebrating your 
successes and thanking you for a job well 
done, so that you know we value what you 
do.

Recruiting the very best people and 
working hard to keep great people here 
within our care system, so you know how 
proud we are to have you here.

Making sure that you have the support 
to achieve the results we expect, so that 
you can go home feeling proud every day.

Being proud together to serve in the 
NHS and to learn from our local and 
national colleagues, so that we are 
always at the forefront of evidence-based 
care.

Acknowledging and saying sorry for 
the mistakes we make. Recognising and 
learning from when things go well, as well 
as when they do not go as planned, so 
that you constantly seek new ways to do 
things.

Providing opportunities to support and 
participate in research and improvement 
projects, so that you know that 
constantly making things better is part of 
everyone’s job.

Supporting opportunities 
for career development, 
education and learning, so 
that you feel excited about 
the future
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Inspiration & Innovation

Being continually curious, so that, I am 
constantly improving and making things 
better.

Being brave to make the changes wish 
to see, so that, I lead by example with 
enthusiasm which helps others be brave, 
too.

Using all of the technology, innovation 
and continuous improvement tools that I 
know to inspire others to be the best they 
can be.

Acknowledging and saying sorry 
for the mistakes I make, sharing my 
experiences with others and learning 
from them, so that, our care is constantly 
improving.

Pride & Achievement

Being proud to work in my service and 
as part of RCHT.

Never walking past or ignoring 
something that is not the standard I 
would want, so we are all aspiring to 
provide brilliant care to One+All.

I am it!

I accept that we all have a 
responsibility to lead and that I have a 
personal responsibility to do all I can to 
help RCHT be brilliant.

When I make a commitment I stick 
to it, if things change and I can’t deliver 
what I agreed, I will make sure others 
know quickly.

If I see something that is unsafe, not 
right or needs improving I speak up and 
personally do something about it.

I show that I live our values everyday 
by:

Care & Compassion

Coming in every day and showing that 
I care, about the work I do, my colleagues 
and our patients, so that, my standard of 
work is as high as it can be.

Listening to patients and their 
relatives to help me deliver the best 
services I can, focusing on ‘what matters 
to them’, so that, I get their care right 
first time.

Being compassionate when the 
physical and emotional wellbeing of 
others is not as good as it could be, so 
that, I can help them recover.

Showing kindness in everything I do, 
so that, we treat others as we would wish 
to be treated. 

   Working Together

Treating everyone as an equal, 
recognising that I need the unique 
contribution of all of ‘Team RCHT’, so 
that, I can provide brilliant care.

Making sure I share information with 
those that need it in a clear and timely 
way, so that, we all know what to do. 

Sharing my experience and skills to 
help others be the best they can be and 
learning from others, so that, I develop all 
the time too.

Doing all I can to make sure my own 
passions, frustrations and emotions are 
managed positively, so that, I don’t make 
anyone’s working life hard.

Trust & Respect

Trusting my colleagues skills and 
expertise, so that, patients get the very 
best care.

Listening with interest and empathy to 
others, so that, I understand and learn as 
much as I can.

Making it safe for people to speak up 
and share their views, so that, we work 
better together.

Speaking positively about my 
colleagues, so that, they know I value 
them and challenging others when they 
do not speak well of their colleagues.

Being tolerant of diverse views and 
perspectives, ‘shouting out’ about what I 
believe but never ‘ ‘shouting at’.

Your commitments to RCHT

Being Brilliant is up to us, One + All

Giving thanks to others 
and celebrating what we 
do, so that we all help 
RCHT become a brilliant 
place to work.
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We know that we we need to improve our 
support for our colleagues, patients, carers 

and visitors from minority groups. 

A less positive aspect of our annual 
staff survey was what colleagues 
said about our support for those from 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethic groups, 
who are under-represented in our 
workface compared to many other NHS 
organisations. 

Alongside this, colleagues with 
disabilities reported higher levels of 
harassment, bullying or abuse.  

Over the coming year we will be 
offering colleagues more equality 
related training, increasing our public 
engagement and staff networks, 
including more support for people with 
hidden disabilities.  

More detail can be found in our 
Equality & Inclusion strategy 2020-2023.

Already we have:
 ➔ Gained Disablity Confident Leader 

status
 ➔ Shared and published our Workforce 

Race Equality Standard and our 
Gender Pay Gap data

 ➔ Introduced the rainbow badge 
initiative to show that we are 
inclusive of all identities and that 
individuals can be open about their 
identity and how they feel

 ➔ Re-launched our network for Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic colleagues

 ➔ Offered work placements for 
students with learning disabilities

 ➔ Continued the funding for a ‘homeless 
patient advisor’ with our health and 
care partners

Equality, diversity and inclusion

Over the coming year 
we will be offering 
colleagues more 
equality related 

training
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In April 2019 we launched our Quality Improvement (QI) 
Hub which aims “to create an improvement culture where 
everyone feels able to make improvements for the benefits 
of our patients.” The QI programme is supporting key 
improvement priorities within the Care Groups, as well as 
embedding a culture of QI throughout our hospitals.

We have:
 ➔ trained 135 colleagues as QI ambassadors to support 

projects in their areas 
 ➔ appointed two clinical fellowships and a Clinical Lead 
 ➔ established QI drop-in ‘cafes’ and a session with our 

new colleague induction programme
 ➔ rolled out the nationally recognised 15s30m 

methodology for small scale improvements 

Some of the projects the QI Hub has 
supported this year are:

 ➔ Non elective flow (emergency admissions) 
 ➔ Outpatient transformation
 ➔ Theatres utilisation
 ➔ People and organisational development 

and within Care Groups:
 ➔ Paediatric Improvement Plan
 ➔ Cardiology Improvement Plan
 ➔ MyPreOp Project

Instilling a culture of quality  
improvement where everyone 
feels empowered to make changes 
for the benefit of our patients.

Making time for  
quality improvements

Brilliant Improvement

04.

75. Making time for quality improvement
76. Using innovation and digital technology
79. Growing reputation for excellence in research and development
81. Good use of resources
82. Our Charity
84. Key Financial Performance
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Digital technology has a key role to suppor-
ting safer care.  During the year we have:  

 ➔ Continued to develop electronic patient observations, including 
the rapid introduction of new modules to support our Covid-19 
response

 ➔ Started to scan patient records as we begin to a move to safer, 
more accessible eNotes

 ➔ Improved network performance at remote sites
 ➔ Upgraded voice recognition technology used by our clinicians
 ➔ Approved our Digital Strategy and agreed a digital plan for our 

health system locally and regionally
 ➔ Upgraded almost 90% of devices from Windows 7 to  

Windows 10
 

The Covid-19 pandemic saw a rapid change of pace in the 
introduction of new technology with the roll-out of Microsoft Teams 
video conference and live streaming functions, Attend Anywhere 
software to support online patient consultants and upgrades to 
clinical systems to support patient care.  

Our Innovation Club has continued to support colleagues looking 
to take forward their ideas for products and changes in practice to 
improve patient care and/or the efficiency of our services.

The Covid-19 pandemic saw a rapid 
change of pace in the introduction 
of new technology with the roll-out 
of Microsoft Teams video conference 
and live streaming functions.

Using innovation and digital

Digital technology is playing 
a vital role in our ambition to 
provide brilliant care.
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Growing reputation for excellence in  
research and development

Patients who have access to clinical trials will 
often have better outcomes to their care and 
treatment.  We also know that a strong culture 
of research, development and innovation 
leads to better staff satisfaction. 

We want research to be visible in all 
aspects of our day to day business. 

We are proud of the growing reputation 
that the organisation has with regard to 
clinical research and we want to build 
on this to further develop a national 
reputation for research excellence.  

We are already a highly active hub 
for research and development and are 
among the top recruiters of participants, 
with particular success in diabetes and 
cancer research.

During 2019-20 more than 3200 people 
were signed up to new trials, surpassing 
the target for the year of 2,800.  

We are working closely with 
the South West Peninsual Clinical 
Research Network to develop our 
portfolio of studies, as well as with 
the pharmaceutical and biotechnology 
sectors supporting the national initiave to 
keep research in the UK, post Brexit. This 
year we oopened 33 new clinical trials.

More detail on our reseach, 
development and innovation activity can 
be found in our Quality Accounts and 
the annual RD&I report and our future 
plans in our Research and Development 

Strategy 2020-2023.

Supporting our research culture, 
we have continued to develop our 
Clinical School with several academic 
appointments to lead and support local 
studies seeking to improve care in areas 
including maternity, older people’s 
services and penicllin allergy.  

The Clinical School has also been 
building its support for colleagues 
undertaking academic studies, such as 
Master’s courses, through a Writing Café.

Supporting our research culture, 
we have continued to develop 

our Clinical School with several 
academic appointments to lead 

and support local studies
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We can no longer support a short term, cost 
cutting approach to efficiency and have 

been working to support our teams to make 
sustainable, long-term improvements that  

will help us to live within the funding  
available to us.

We have been using the Getting It 
Right First Time programmes to improve 
care and efficiency.  

Particular successes include our 
stroke services where together with our 
partners we have:

 ➔ Increased the detection and 
treatment of patients with atrial 
fibrillation in primary care.

 ➔ Increased the percentage of people 
who have had a Transient Ischemic 
Attack (TIA) who get a one stop 
service within 24 hours, relocating 
the clinics provided by Cornwall 
Foundation Partnership Trust (CFT), 
onto the Treliske site to be closer to 
imaging equipment.

 ➔ Relocated the RCHT Early Supported 
Discharge Team onto the Camborne 
and Redruth Community Hospital site 
so they are in the same building as 
the community stroke rehabilitation 
ward to enable closer working 
together.

 ➔ Recruited additional therapy staff to 
support stroke patients. 

 ➔ Created a physiotherapy gym space 
suitable for complex and disabled 
patients. 

 ➔ Increased registered nursing cover 
overnight on the RCHT acute stroke 
ward, and recruited an additional 
specialist stroke nurse team. 

 ➔ Implemented weekly multi-
disciplinary team meetings to review 
progress of all patients on the acute 
stroke ward. 

 ➔ Replaced the CT scanner in A&E with 
one that provides higher quality brain 
scans and angiograms. 

We are using the NHS RightCare 
programme to look at how we can 
improve people’s health and care through 
reducing inequalities in access to 
services, people’s experience of care and 
their outcomes.  

Good use of resources
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Among the year’s highlights for the 
Charity Team were a ‘Come Dance With 
Us’ spectacular, raising over £45,000 and 
The Den @RCHT where colleagues from 
across our hospitals pitched bids to our 
‘dragons’ for funds to improve patient 
care or staff facilities in their respective 
areas. 

Fundraising support for our charity 
continues to grow with RCHT staff, 
patients, families and the local 
community becoming increasingly active 
in raising funds to provide additional 
equipment and training or to enhance 
hospital environments.  

Our Charity

The RCHT Charity has continued to 
increase its profile over the last 12 
months.  It has hosted several high 
profile fundraising events as well 
as growing its community links and 
supporting individuals and local 
business with their fundraising.

A bespoke fund was set up to 
support our response to Covid-19 and 
provide a specific focus for community 
fundraisers wanting to raise funds to 
thank the NHS for its care during the 
pandemic. 

Over 100 online fundraisers were set 
up in response to the pandemic with the 
charity also receiving funds from the 
NHS Charities Together national appeal. 

The purpose of the Covid19 Fund is 
to support the welfare of our teams 
now and in the recovery period of the 
Covid 19 pandemic and to support for 
our patients and their families at this 
difficult time. 

Grants from the main fund have 
been given to those departments 
particularly under pressure to improve 
staff rest areas and for patients, 
funding for discharge packs for elderly 
and vulnerable patients.  
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Key Financial  
Performance in 2019-20
Statement of Comprehensive Income

The Trust achieved its financial plan in 2019/20 with a surplus of 
£50,000.  In addition to the £17.3m baseline Provider Sustainability Fund 
(PSF), Financial Recovery Fund (FRF) and Marginal Rate Emergency Tariff 
(MRET) funding earned through the year from meeting quarterly financial 
and targets, the Trust received £1.3m of additional PSF and FRF funding at 
year end.     

The Trust delivered £12m of savings in 2019/20 against a target of 
£14.5m.  

The Statement of Financial Position 
The Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet) as at 31 March 

2020 shows net assets of £92.2m. 

The Trust ended the year with a cash balance of £6.6m. This was £5.6m 
above the planned position of £1m.  

The Trust has delivered considerable improvements in its infrastructure 
through its Capital Programme in 2019/20, spending £27.4m.  

 
 

Cumulative breakeven duty 
The Trust now holds a cumulative deficit of £29.6m at 31 March 2020.  The 

Trust has set a breakeven plan for first four months of 2020/21.  At the date of 
this report the Trust is operating under a temporary financial architecture due 
to COVID-19 and does not yet have a financial plan that extends beyond 31st 
July 2020. 

Other financial duties
During 2019/20 the Trust operated within its External Financing and Capital 

Resource Limits as set by the Department of Health and Social Care.  

Performance against the Better Payments Practice 
Code

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all 
undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a 
valid invoice, whichever is later. 

The Trust has an on-going target to pay 95% of all invoices within a month 
of being received.  At the end of the year, 93.6% of all invoices by volume were 
cumulatively paid on time.  Note 32 to the Trust’s accounts provide details on 
payment performance. 

Going concern basis
The Trust has carried out a detailed assessment to satisfy itself that it 

continues to operate as a going concern. And there is no indication that the 
provision of services will materially change in the foreseeable future

At 31 March 2020 the Trust had Revenue Support Loans from the 
Department of Health and Social Care of £53.4m and Capital Loans from 
the Department of Health and Social Care of £12m. £42.7m of these will be 
converted into Public Dividend Capital during 2020-21.

During 2019/20 the Trust received £5.8m of Capital Investment Loans and 
made repayments of £1.5m against its Capital Investment loans and £1.8m 
against its Revenue Loan.
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Our response to 
Covid-19

05.

Little did we know the 2019-20  
financial year would end as we started to 
face a pandemic that would sweep the 

world, presenting the biggest challenge in 
over a generation for our health and  

care services.
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We were fortunate in that we had a little more time to ready ourselves, to train staff, 
clear and prepare our hospitals, as the Covid-19 virus was slower to reach more rural 
parts of the UK.  We were able too, to learn from the experiences of our colleagues in other 
hospitals here and overseas.

Even so, our preparations required an enormous amount of work by our teams and by 
our partner organisations, working around the clock to free up and reconfigure our acute 
hospitals, increase community care provision and keep safely at home wherever possible.

We prepared for the worst and were grateful the impact on Cornwall & the Isles of Scilly 
was less severe than that in many urban areas.  However, there were still many tragic 
deaths with families and friends experiencing loss and our colleagues facing very difficult 
decisions and situations, with relatives unable to be by their loved-one’s bedside.  It has 
been the toughest of times.

As we begin to return to a ‘new normal’ we have to remain alert, prepared and agile so 
that we can respond to a predicted second spike that could be significantly worse for our 
communities.  Covid-19 has changed the way we have worked, sped up the introduction of 
technologies that had otherwise been someway off, and brought out a spirit of kindness 
and generosity from our community that took us completely by surprise.

Some of the great things we will keep
 ➔ Wellbeing support for our colleagues
 ➔ Staff telephone Help Desk 

Video consultations for patients
 ➔ Home working
 ➔ Video conferencing and live-streaming
 ➔ Online training
 ➔ Broadening clinical skills and maintaining them
 ➔ Keeping people of our hospital when the don’t need specialist care
 ➔ Closer relationships with our health and care partners
 ➔ New ways to engage with our colleagues, including vlogs and podcasts 

Out of adversity has come many postives, the 
biggest of which has to be the way health and 
care services came together to care for our 
population; helping to get  people into the right 
place,  supporting one and other and  sharing 
staff and resources.

The lasting memory for us will be will the overwhelming support and generosity of our 
community through acts of kindness large and small.  We in turn were eager to ensure 
there was support too for those outside of the NHS, in care homes and in the community.  
We were keen to share the support we were receiving, be that through supplies of 
personal protective equipment (PPE), redeployment of staff, redirecting food and other 
donations.

Throughout our most challenging time, our 
community has been brilliant – One+all.
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Continuing our 
‘Journey to Brilliant’

06.
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These include:
 ➔ Taking forward the implementation of our Electronic Health Record project
 ➔ Introducing innovation training throughout our Care Groups
 ➔ Increasing our research activity and trials with commercial sponsors
 ➔ Reducing our Bank and agency spend by 20%
 ➔ Host a virtual Brilliant You ‘festival’ celebration for our colleagues 

 ➔ Making sure we have inpatient and critical care capacity to care for Covid-19 
patients

 ➔ Putting a plan in place to resume planned care and supporting services
 ➔ Launching our patient safety programme and establishing patient safety 

ambassadors in all Care Groups
 ➔ Learning from patient stories
 ➔ Establishing a ‘public membership’
 ➔ Increasing our use of telephone and online video outpatient consultations
 ➔ Take forward our plans for closer working with Cornwall Partnership Foundation NHS 

Trust
 ➔ Start work on our MRI and Haematology/Oncology Unit, complete our expansion 

of ED and submit outline business cases for our Women’s & Childrens Unit and 
developments at West Cornwall and St Michael’s Hospitals.

 ➔ Continue the roll out of our Being Brilliant leadership programme
 ➔ Achieve at least 45% of staff agreeing communication with senior managers 

is effective; at least 60% feel they can be a part of making improvements,  
and be in the top quartile of Trusts for ‘overall engagement’

 ➔ Expand our programme of engagement events
 ➔ Continue to raise the profile of Freedom to Speak Up and use of the 

‘WorkinConfidence’ app
 ➔ Ensure at least 95% of our people receive an appraisal
 ➔ Bringing our soft facilities back in house and improving food and  

catering across our sites
 ➔ Enhancing our health and wellbeing support for Covid-19
 ➔ Work up plans for a Health and Wellbeing Hub

Brilliant Improvement

Brilliant Care

Brilliant People  

Taking forward our Strategy 2019-2022 – ‘Our 
Journey to Brilliant’ we have set 44 milestones to 
be achieved in the coming year.  



94 95Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

Director’s Report and  
Governance Statements

Register of interests 
A copy of the Board Register of Interests is available on our website (www.

royalcornwall.nhs.uk) or can be obtained from the Chairwoman’s Office, 
Bedruthan House, Royal Cornwall Hospital, Truro, TR1 3LJ. Board members 
declare any new interests at each Board meeting. 

 ➔ Compliance with cost allocation and charging guidance 
 ➔ The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging guidance 

issued by HM Treasury.  

Political donations 
 ➔ We did not make any political donations during 2019-20. 

 
Disclosures relating to quality  
governance 

Disclosures in relation to quality governance can be viewed within the 
Quality Accounts. To the best of the directors’ knowledge, there are no known 
material inconsistencies between:

 ➔ The annual governance statement 
 ➔ The annual and quarterly statements required by the risk assessment 

framework, the corporate governance statement submitted with the 
annual plan, the quality report and the annual report 

 ➔ Reports arising from the Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections and 
our consequent action plans 

 
Code of governance compliance statement 

We are committed to effective, representative and comprehensive 
governance which secures organisational capacity and the ability to deliver 
high quality clinical services. The Trust’s governance arrangements are 
reviewed yearly against national best practice (including the NHS Code of 
Governance) to ensure the suitability of its governance arrangements. 

For the year ending 31 March 2020, Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
complied with all relevant provisions of the Code of Governance.

Accountability Report
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98. Trust Board Members
101. Non-Executive Directors
103. Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption



96 97Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020



98 99Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

Kate Shields 
Chief Executive

Kate joined the Trust as Deputy Chief Executive in 2017 and took 
on the role of Chief Executive in July 2018. Kate is an experienced 
NHS leader having worked as Director of Strategy and Partnerships 
at University Hospitals Leicester. She was a registered nurse and 
mental health nurse at the beginning of her NHS career. Kate has 
also worked for NHS England as a Regional Director of Specialised 
Commissioning and as the National Head of Specialised 
Commissioning.

Dr Allister Grant 
Medical Director

Allister joined the Trust on 1 November 2019 and brings his 
experience in medical management, governance and quality, 
as well as extensive working with health and care partners and 
patient groups. Allister joined the Trust following an appointment 
at University Hospitals of Leicester where he spent 5 years as Head 
of the Liver and Gastro-intestinal Unit and where was also the 
Clinical Director/Medical Director for the Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland NHS Alliance – a partnership of providers and 
commissioners in Leicestershire with a remit to transform services 
and deliver care closer to home for Leicestershire patients.

Kim O’Keeffe  
Director of Nursing, Midwifery & Allied  
Health Professions

Kim was appointed as Chief Nurse in May 2017 having previously 
been Deputy Director of Nursing. With over 30 years clinical and 
managerial experience working in the NHS, as well as in private and 
state hospitals in South Africa, where Kim began her career as a 
Registered Nurse. Kim held senior positions in the Dudley Group of 
Hospitals before joining RCHT in 2008 as Divisional Nurse Manager 
within Surgery, Anaesthetics and Trauma and Orthopaedics.

Kerry Eldridge 
Director of People & Organisational  
Development 

Kerry joined RCHT in September 2018. Kerry is an experienced 
NHS leader and was previously the Director of Workforce for 
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust. Kerry has experience in 
organisational change, staff engagement, quality and financial 
transformation. 

She joined the NHS in 2001 and has worked in a variety of HR 
roles within different NHS providers including acute, health and 
social care partnership, community, commissioning and mental 
health trusts.

Thomas Lafferty 
Director of Strategy & Performance

Thom joined the Trust in January 2017 having most recently been 
Director of Corporate and Legal Affairs at Chelsea and Westminster 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust where he played an instrumental 
role in the Trust’s acquisition of West Middlesex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust. Prior to that, Thomas has held similar roles 
at other NHS Acute Trusts and has developed an expertise with 
regard to legal and governance matters within healthcare.

Sally May 
Joint Director of Finance (RCHT + CFT)

Sally May, joined the RCHT Board in May 2017 taking on a dual 
role as Director of Finance across RCHT and Cornwall Partnership 
Foundation NHS Trust (CFT) whilst RCHT’s Director of Finance is 
leading on financial strategy and planning for Cornwall & Isles of 
Scilly Shaping Our Future portfolio . Sally has been at CFT since 
2011 and was previously Director of Finance at NHS Cornwall & 
Isles of Scilly.

Trust Board members
as at 31 March 2020

Susan Bracefield 
Chief Operating Officer

Susan took on the role of interim Director of Operations in 
February 2019 and was appointed substantively in April 2019.  She 
was formerly the Deputy Director of Operations, having joined 
RCHT in March 2018.  A nurse by background, Susan has broad 
experience of leadership roles in primary and secondary care 
providers as well as with NHS England. 



100 101Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

Bernadette George 
Director of Integrated Governance

Bernadette joined RCHT in June 2018 having previously been 
Head of Safety Risk and Patient Experience at Royal Devon 
& Exeter NHS Foundation Trust.  She was instrumental in the 
development of RCHT’s ward accreditation programme – ASPIRE 
– and brings extensive experience of working in the hospital and 
health care industry, including change management, quality 
improvement, patient safety and performance management.

Kelvyn Hipperson 
Joint Chief Information Officer

Kelvyn Hipperson joined the RCHT Board in Jan 2019 taking on 
a dual role as Chief Information Officer across RCHT and Cornwall 
Partnership Foundation NHS Trust. Kelvyn worked in senior 
technology delivery roles in both the private sector and civil service 
prior to joining the NHS and is a Chartered Engineer, Fellow of the 
Institution of Engineering & Technology and Member of the British 
Computer Society. 

Dr Mairi McLean 
Chairwoman

Mairi has been a non-executive director since 2014. She has a 
background in social work, psychology and leadership and has held senior 
positions in local government and is a former Council Chief Executive 
Officer. Mairi currently runs her own consultancy business which 
provides leadership and executive coaching, strategic planning and team 
development. She also holds a number of other local and national advisory 
and visiting lecturer position.

Paul Hobson
Paul joined the Trust Board in February 2016. Paul is the Chief Executive 

of the CSW Group which is owned by the local authorities in Cornwall and 
Devon. CSW provide a range of services and products, supporting people 
and businesses across the South and West. Paul has held senior director 
posts for over 30 years in the public and private sector having started his 
clinical career as a radiographer in his native Cornwall.

Dr Gillian Vivian
Gillian joined RCHT as a Non-Executive Director in October 2018. Dr 

Vivian is familiar with the Royal Cornwall Hospitals having previously 
worked in Cornwall as a consultant radiologist in nuclear medicine. An 
internationally recognised specialist in her field, Dr Vivian has lived in 
Cornwall since 1982 and has held clinical and leadership roles within the 
South West Peninsula and at Kings College Hospital, London. Dr Vivian has 
contributed to national training, research and innovation projects and has 
successfully delivered a range of service improvement programmes.

Karen Kay 
Director of Urgent and Emergency Care 
(COIS Health System)

A substantive director of commissioning with NHS Kernow CCG, 
Karen has been operating as Director for Urgent & Emergency Care 
on behalf of the whole system since 2017.  This post is hosted by 
RCHT and Karen is an associate member of the RCHT Board as part 
of our move towards an increasingly integrated care system.  Prior 
to moving into NHS commissioning in Devon and Cornwall in 2009, 
Karen worked for 25 years in local government, inlcuding senior 
management roles in Neighbourhood Regeneration, local strategic 
partnership; customer care and business and service planning.

Sarah Pryce
Sarah is a former Head of Human Resources and Organisational 

Development at the Royal National Lifeboat Institution (RNLI). She joined 
the Trust Board in February 2016 and during 2019/20 was Chairman of 
Cornwall Air Ambulance Trust and owns her own consultancy company 
specialising in leadership and organisational development. 

Margaret Schwarz 
Margaret is an experienced non-executive director and joined the Trust 

on 1st November 2016 bringing expertise in finance, risk and strategy. 
Margaret is the Governance Lead for Cornish Mutual Assurance and a non-
executive director of Cornwall Foundation Trust.

Non-Executive Directors
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Anti-Bribery and  
Anti-Corruption

One of the basic principles of public 
sector organisations is the proper use 

of public funds.  

The majority of people who work in the NHS are honest and 
professional and they find that fraud and bribery committed by a 
minority is wholly unacceptable as it ultimately leads to a reduction 
in the resources available for patient care. 

Our Board is committed to maintaining high standards of honesty, 
openness and integrity within the organisation. It is committed to 
the elimination of fraud, bribery and corruption within our hospitals, 
and to the rigorous investigation of any suspicions of fraud, bribery or 
corruption that arise. 

We have procedures in place that reduce the likelihood of fraud, 
bribery or corruption occurring. 

These include Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions, 
authorised signatories, documented procedures, procurement 
procedures, disclosure checks, and “Whistleblowing”. Additionally, 
the Trust, aided by its Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS), 
attempts to ensure that a risk (and fraud) awareness culture exists 
within the organisation. 

We adopt a zero tolerance attitude to fraud and bribery within the 
NHS, with the aim of eliminating all fraud and bribery within the NHS 
as far as possible.

Rob Leighfield 
Associate Non-Executive Director

Rob joined RCHT in October 2018. He is a senior executive with 
17 years’ experience, including operating at board level in a variety 
of regulated roles within large, complex organisations in the UK and 
overseas. He has considerable experience of leading cultural change 
and effective engagement to improve ways of working and employee 
satisfaction, achieving Investors in People “Gold” accreditation.

Richard Smith 
Associate Non-Executive Director

Richard joined the Board as an Associate Non-Executive Director  
in March 2019. He is inaugural Deputy Pro-Vice Chancellor for 
the University of Exeter Medical School, and Professor of Health 
Economics.  He was previously at the London School of Hygiene and 
Tropical Medicine, where he served as Head of the Department of Global 
Health & Development from 2008-2011, and as Dean of the Faculty of 
Public Health & Policy from 2011-2018.

Sarah Newton
Sarah joined the Trust in March 2020 and has extensive experience in 

the public, business and voluntary sectors. She has held several leadership 
and change management roles, most recently as an elected Member of 
Parliament and Minister at the Department for Work and Pensions and 
the Home Office.  Sarah has 30 years’ experience of strategic planning, 
reputation management, innovation with a focus on sustainability and 
inclusion.

Richard Stephenson
Having started his career as a physiotherapist, Richard spent over 30 

years in higher education holding executive leadership positions as Dean of 
Faculty (Health) in two institutions, pro vice-chancellor, and then as deputy 
vice-chancellor at both the universities of Plymouth and Salford. He has 
held a number of director and trustee roles, and served several national and 
regional bodies. He joined the Trust as Non-Executive director in February 
2020 and is Emeritus Professor at the University of Salford.

Ruth Allarton 
Associate Non-Executive Director

Ruth joined the RCHT Board in October 2018. Having been a regular 
visitor to Cornwall all her life, Ruth Allarton has held roles as Head of 
Department of Allied Health Professions at Sheffield Hallam University 
since 2009 and Partner Governor at Doncaster and Bassetlaw Teaching 
Hospital Foundation Trust since 2012. More recently Ruth held an 
Associate Non-Executive role where she has used her allied health 
professions knowledge to bring an additional perspective to decision 
making and strategic planning.
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The following Governance Statement sets 
out the particular circumstances in which the 

Trust operated during 2018/19.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsi-
bility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achie-
vement of the NHS Trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the 
public funds and departmental assets 
for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me. I am also responsible for 
ensuring that the NHS Trust is adminis-
tered prudently and economically and 
that resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively. I also acknowledge my res-
ponsibilities as set out in the NHS Trust 
Accountable Officer Memorandum. 

The purpose of the system 
of internal control 

The system of internal control is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable 
level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is 
based on an ongoing process designed 
to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of the policies, aims and 
objectives of Royal Cornwall Hospitals 
NHS Trust (RCHT), to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control has 
been in place in Royal Cornwall Hospitals 
NHS Trust for the year ended 31 March 
2020 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts. 

 

The Trust is accountable to NHS 
Improvement (NHSI) for performance 
and regulation control and oversight. 
Under the auspices of the Provider 
Accountability Framework, NHSI holds 
a range of meetings with the Chief 
Executive and Executive Directors, where 
generic and health system wide issues of 
performance and control are discussed, 
reviewed and actions agreed. 

Annual governance 
statement
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The Trust is part of a 
local health economy and 
national health system. 
In recognition, the Trust’s 
Corporate Strategy and 
supporting strategies reflect 
a strong focus on improved 
and expanded integrated 
and partnership working. 
This was demonstrated 
more so during the Covid-19 
pandemic and demonstrates 
the benefits of a fully 
Integrated Care System. 



Risk Appetite

Minimal

Cautious

Cautious

Cautious

Harm (physical and 
psychological)

Services

Reputation

Finances

Risk Type Tolerable Risk

Low

Medium

Medium

Medium
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Capacity to Handle Risk 

Leadership of risk  
management

The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy 
states that all members of the Trust 
Board have a collective responsibility to 
ensure that systems and processes for 
the identification of risks are robust and 
that risks are appropriately managed and 
monitored through regular assurance. 

The Board provides leadership on risk 
management and in particular:

On behalf of the Trust Board, the 
Chief Executive is the accountable 
officer with overall responsibility for 
risk management and the Director of 
Integrated Governance has delegated 
responsibility for the Corporate Risk 
Register and overseeing the Board 
Assurance Framework process. 

Day to day responsibility for 
operational risk management is 
delegated to senior managers throughout 
the Trust. Delivery against these 
responsibilities is scrutinised by the 
Trust’s Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors through meetings of the 
Board and its Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee. 

Relevant reports from these 
committees are reviewed in the public 
part of Board meetings. 

The work of the committees and the 
decisions of the Board provide evidence 
of on-going efforts to ensure the overall 
governance, risk management and 
clinical governance systems are working 
in the way they have been designed to 
operate.

In relation to staff throughout 
the organisation on-going training is 
undertaken, and risk registers at Care 
Group level are reviewed on a monthly 
basis. General “risk management” 
awareness training is provided by the 
risk manager through the Care Group 
structure. 

Risk management and assessment 
refresher training is available in the 
Trust’s training programme. Board level 
training is delivered via the annual review 
of the Trust’s risk appetite. 

The risk and control framework 

Risk management is the systematicmethod of 
identifying, analysing, managing, monitoring and 
reviewing of risks in order to ensure achievement 
of the Trust’s objectives. 

The Trust is committed to having a risk 
management approach that underpins and 
supports the Trust’ strategic and business 
objectives and demonstrates an ongoing 
commitment to improving the safety culture of the 
organisation. 

The Board actively reviews the Trust’s internal 
control and risk management arrangements and 
approves the Risk Management Strategy and Risk 
Appetite. 

This is achieved through maintenance and 
review of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) 
on a quarterly basis, the Corporate Risk Register 
and consideration of matters referred to the 
Board and Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. 

Per Standing Orders, significant internal 
control issues would be immediately reported 
to the Chief Executive and, at the earliest 
opportunity, to the Executive Team, the Audit & 
Risk Assurance Committee and Board. 

The purpose of the Trust’s Risk Management 
Strategy is to provide a framework which supports 
the incorporation of risk management as an 
integral part of improving care and supporting 
strategic/operational decision-making. 

Risk appetite is determined by the Trust Board 
and reviewed annually; last review in January 
2020. 

As a provider of healthcare services, RCHT has 
a minimal appetite for risks to patient safety and 
the quality of care and also to any risks to the 
safety and wellbeing of its staff and visitors to any 
of its sites.

In practice this means that the Trust will always 
insist on the safest available option, with an aim 
of reducing any risks of physical or psychological 
harm to as low a level as is reasonably 
practicable.

The Trust’s current statement of risk appetite 
by risk type, including a guide to the level of 
risk that may be considered as tolerable, is 
summarised on the following table:

 ➔ determines the risk appetite 
for the Trust;

 ➔ ensures the approach to risk 
management is consistently 
applied;

 ➔ seeks assurances that risks 
have been identified, assessed 
and all reasonable steps taken 
to manage them effectively and 
at sufficient pace;

 ➔ endorses the Annual 
Governance Statement which 
assures the organisation has 
the necessary controls in place 
to manage its exposure to risk;

 ➔ approves annually the Risk 
Management Strategy and  the 
Trust’s risk appetite 

 ➔ has oversight of Principal Risks 
specific to their portfolio; and

 ➔ leads specific Committees 
responsible for the assurance 
of risk.
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The appetite of the Trust concerning risks to 
its finances, its reputation or the continuity of its 
services is described as cautious, which means 
that safe options are preferred but there is a 
recognition that prevailing risks of harm as part of 
the same proposal.

The identification of risks broadly falls into two 
categories: proactive and reactive identification. 

Risks may be identified proactively through 
local risk assessment, compliance with national 
standards or regulatory frameworks (e.g. Care 
Quality Commission Key Lines of Enquiry whereas 
the reactive process identifies risks from events  
that have already occurred such as incidents, 
complaints and claims that have already occurred 
such as incidents, complaints and claims.

R
ep

or
ti

ng
Tier 1:  
Board

Tier 2:  
Executive

Tier 3:  
Care Group

Tier 4: 
Specialty

Tier 5:  
Wards / 
Departments

Trust Board

Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee

Executive Board / 
Finance Performance 

and Workforce

Care Group  
Governance  

Meetings

Specialty  
Governance  

Meetings

Ward/Departmental 
Meetings

There are different levels (or ‘tiers’) of governing risk within the Trust.  
Responsibilities within each tier can be seen below:

Once a potential risk has been identified, this 
is entered on the Trust’s Datix system; a risk 
assessment will be carried out to assess the level 
of risk. It is vital that all risks are assessed in an 
objective and consistent manner. 

The National Patient Safety risk matrix – a 5 
x 5 calculation involving an assessment of risk 
consequence and likelihood- must be used to 
score risks: 

x

2Consequence 3 41

5. Catastrophic

4. Major

3. Moderate

2. Minor

8. Negligible

Unlikely Possible LikelyRare Almost certain

Do not expect
it to happen / 
recur but it is 
possible it may 
do so

Might happen 
or recur 
occasionally

Expected to
occur at least 
annually

Expected to
occur at least 
monthly

0.1 - 1.0% 1 - 10%

This will
probably 
never happen 
/ recur

Not expected 
to occur for 
years

<0.1%

2Likelihood score 3 41

Frequency - How often
might it / does happen

Frequency - timeframe

Probability - Will it happen or 
not?

Unlikely Possible LikelyRareDescriptor

Will probably 
happen / 
recur but 
it is not a 
persisting 
issue

Expected

10 - 50%

Will 
undoubtedly 
happen / recur, 
possible 
frequency

Expected to 
occur at least 
daily

>50%

5

Almost certain

5

Descriptors to guide staff on how to assess 
risk consequence (covering financial, quality, 
workforce, and operational risk descriptors) 
are also available as part of the Trust’s Risk 
Management Strategy. 

The Trust’s Risk Register is populated from 
risk assessments undertaken which are recorded 
on the Trust’s Risk Management System - Datix 
(assuming that the risk identified cannot be 
immediately resolved. Risks are reviewed on a 
basis proportionate to the current risk rating:

Risk Rating Review Frequency

Monthly

Annually

Quarterly

Six monthly

‘Red’ risks (risks that score 15 or above)

'Amber’ risks (risks that score between 8 and 12)

‘Yellow’ risks (risks that score between 4 and 6)

'Green’ risks (risks that score between 1 and 3) 

Likelihood
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Risks are accepted onto the Trust’s Risk 
Register when all reasonable mitigating actions 
have been carried out and the risk cannot be 
practically reduced any further. 

The Trust is committed to delivering care in a 
safe environment to protect patients, visitors, 
staff and the organisation from harm. 

Understanding when things can go wrong is the 
first step to preventing them from recurring. 

Incident reporting presents an important 
opportunity to learn from past events and ensure 
steps are taken to minimise recurrences. 

The Trust promotes an open learning culture 
where incidents, complaints and other learning 
events are investigated thoroughly to determine 
root causes and action where appropriate to 
improve services as a result. 

Staff are encouraged to report incidents and 
will not be blamed when things go wrong, as long 
as they are not wilfully aiming to cause harm and 
are not deliberately ignoring their professional 
standards, information, instruction and training. 

Incident reporting and learning is overseen 
by the Director Of Integrated Governance via the 
Trust’s Incident Review and Learning Group (IRLG). 

The purpose of the group, chaired by the 
Director of Integrated Governance, is to ensure 
that the Trust abides by the national guidelines 
on Serious Incidents, to include reporting, 
investigating, learning and acting upon such 
untoward events. 

The group provides clinical expertise and 
executive oversight of all reported patient safety 
incidents identified as a potential serious incident 
and/or never event. 

IRLG also provides operational oversight of 
the effectiveness of the Trust’s processes for 
management and assurance of patient safety 
incidents, including serious incidents and/or 
never events, in line with national guidelines. 
This includes reporting, investigation, learning 
from and acting on such incidents or events. IRLG 
is accountable to the Trust Board via monthly 
updates to the Quality Assurance Committee. 

Learning from incidents is shared via patient 
stories; Care Group shared learning events and a 
monthly Lessons Learnt Newsletter.

The standard corporate reporting template 
encourages report authors to consider and 
comment upon issues relating to equality and 
diversity and full Equality Impact Assessments 
are required for all Trust policies which are then 
considered by the Policy Review Group.

Quality governance arrangements  
and risks to data security

The Trust operates a Performance Assurance 
Framework that establishes the performance 
metrics needed for ongoing review of its level 
of compliance with Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) regulations and other mandated quality 
requirements. 

The Performance Assurance Framework is 
a balanced scorecard of quality, operational, 
finance and workforce indicators which is 
aggregated at a divisional, specialty and ward 
level. It includes a wide range of locally and 
nationally relevant indicators, benchmarked 
against best practice where applicable, or against 
previous Trust performance.

The Trust’s quality governance structure 
enables the Trust to maintain and improve quality 
from ‘board to ward’. This assurance framework 
delivers the well-led CQC framework and provides 
assurance from frontline services upwards, 
and from the Board to clinical areas. Quality 
governance is overseen and scrutinised by the 
Board’s Quality Assurance Committee.

The RCHT’s CQC Scrutiny Group is responsible 
for obtaining assurance that the Trust is compliant 
with the Care Quality Commission (Registration) 
Regulations 2009 (Part 4). 

This is completed through an annual 
review of compliance against the associated 
regulations. The review confirms that systems 
and processes are working effectively to ensure 
the Trust’s Statement of Purpose is current and 
all notifications are submitted to the CQC within 
required timescales.

The Trust Board is clear that patient safety 
and the delivery of high quality clinical services 
are of paramount importance. To reflect this, 
quality matters are prioritised on the agenda 
at all formal Board meetings. Within its annual 
work programme of business, the Board routinely 
receive reports on:

 

The Quality Assurance Committee is a formal 
Board Committee which assists the Trust Board 
in ensuring that the Trust discharges its functions 
and meets its responsibilities with regard to the 
quality and safety of healthcare delivered.

The Committee provides assurance to the 
Board in relation to its responsibilities for matters 
including:

The Trust promotes an open learning 
culture where incidents, complaints and 

other learning events are investigated 
thoroughly to determine root causes and 

action where appropriate to improve 
services as a result. 

 ➔ Quality performance (via the Integrated 
Performance Report) across a wide 
range of KPIs pertinent to patient 
safety, clinical effectiveness and the 
patient experience;

 ➔ Incidents;
 ➔ Risk;
 ➔ Safe Staffing;
 ➔ Brilliant Improvement Board (which 

replaced the Quality Improvement 
Delivery Board)

 ➔ Ward to Board Framework
 ➔ ASPIRE Ward Accreditation System 

 ➔ safeguarding vulnerable people, 
children and young people;

 ➔ safe staffing;
 ➔ infection prevention and control;
 ➔ serious incidents and duty of candour;
 ➔ emergency preparedness and business 

continuity;
 ➔ health and safety legislation;
 ➔ responding to incidents, concerns 

raised, claims and inquests;
 ➔ learning from complaints and 

experiences;
 ➔ information governance.

Learning from 
incidents is shared via 

patient stories; Care 
Group shared learning 
events and a monthly 

Lessons Learnt 
Newsletter.



 

Always providing safe, 
effective and compassionate 

care, where we listen and 
learn to provide an excellent 

patient experience and 
reduce avoidable harm

Working together in a 
supportive environment to 
attract, develop and retain 

brilliant people 

Instilling a culture  
of quality 

improvement where everyone 
feels empowered to make 

changes for the benefit of our 
patients

Goal 1
Brilliant  

Care

Goal 2
Brilliant  
People

Goal 3
Brilliant  

Improvement
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To support the Trust’s strategy, the Trust has a 
Brilliant Improvement Board (BIB) which drives the 
reconfiguration and rebasing of the organisational 
paradigm (status quo) to a state where quality 
improvement is an integral part of each aspect 
day-to-day business, resulting in the consistent 
delivery of safe, high-quality, clinical services. 

As part of this, BIB has a responsibility for 
setting the organisational vision in terms of 
quality improvement and for ensuring that 

patients and all members of staff are engaged in 
realising the aim for quality improvement; where 
QI-informed change becomes the Trust standard, 
as opposed to an ‘exceptional item’.

In addition, BIB provides a reporting and 
performance management mechanism to support 
the effective delivery of the agreed Improvement 
Programme which underpins the Trust’s strategic 
aim for Brilliant Improvement.  

Quality Assurance 
Committee

Clinical
Effectiveness

Group

Infection 
Control 
Group

CQC 
Scrutiny

Group
EPRR

Integrated
Safeguarding 

Group

Information
Governance

Group

Incident 
Review And 

Learning Group

Pateint 
Experience Sub 

Committee

End of Life 
Care

Group

Health and 
Safety 
Group

Dementia
GroupMortality

Group

Organ Doantion
Group

Medicine Group

Deteriorating
Patient
Group

Treatment
Escalation

Goup

Blood
Group

Medical
Equipment

Group

Sharps

Radiation
Group

Fire
Management

Waste
Management

Clinical Audit 
Group

BIB ensures that all agreed projects align with 
the Trust’s overall strategic goals, whilst providing 
guidance and direction to the individual projects 
and addressing any potential impacts to quality or 
risks to delivery. 

With regards CQC compliance assurance,  
in order to ensure progress is made against 
the recommendations identified by the CQC in 
November and December 2019 inspections, the 
Trust developed a single detailed integrated 
CQC action plan, each action having both an 
operational and an executive lead, progress 
against the action plan is scrutinised fortnightly 
at an executive led group. 

The CQC found areas for improvement including 
18 breaches of legal requirements the Trust must 
put right. The Trust has responded to the CQC on 
actions it will take to meet these requirements.  
 
The actions are monitored by the Quality 
Assurance Committee and report by exception to 
the Board.

Risks to data security are managed through the 
Trust’s risk management process. Risks to data 
security are logged on the Trust’s incident and risk 
management tool Datix, this includes the current 
level of risk and residual risk once mitigating 
actions are taken.

The risks are reported to and managed through 
several groups (topic appropriate), these include:

The Trust’s approach to managing risks to 
data security form part of the Data Security & 

Protection Toolkit submission. The main elements 
cover: 

The Trust was compliant against assertions 
within the Data Security & Protection Toolkit for 
2019/20.

The Trust receives weekly and urgent threat 
warnings from CareCERT, these are monitored by 
the Trust’s IT Security Manager who provides a 
report to the Head of Information Governance who 
is the Cyber Security link to the Trust.

Visual checks of the how physical records 
are managed along with compliance with IT 
equipment is conducted monthly as part of 
a planned walkthrough for the three main 
hospital sites, this is reported to the Information 
Governance Group.

Major risks
The Board Assurance Framework describes the 

major risks to implementing our strategy, and how 
we are mitigating these. 

The Trust Strategy has three goals and 
seventeen organisational pledges that the Trust 
has committed to deliver in order to achieve the 
strategic goals. The principal risks are aligned to 
these goals:

Nutrition
Group

In turn, the Quality Assurance Committee has its own Committee sub-structure 
formed of groups chaired at Executive level, see below:

 ➔ Information Risk Management Group
 ➔ Cyber Security Group
 ➔ Information Governance Group
 ➔ Quality and Risk Group  

 ➔ Managing default password settings
 ➔ Penetration testing for vulnerabilities
 ➔ Creation of a data security action plan
 ➔ Creating as strategy for security updates. 



The major risks to the Trust as at 31 March 2020 were as follows:

Brilliant Care
BC 1.1: Provide care that is safe and avoids 
harm

Brilliant Care
BC 1.4: Provide clinically effective care, which 
minimises delay and the amount of time 
people have to spend in our care

Brilliant Care
BC1.5: Work with our health and care system 
to improve the health of our community

Brilliant Care
BC 1.6: Provide an environment that is clean 
and welcoming. 

Brilliant Care
BC 1.7 Optimising survival and minimising 
unnecessary harm from Covid-19

There is a risk that the Trust will not be able to 
deliver high quality, harm free, compassionate 
care to patients. This is due to; ongoing 
recruitment challenges and the use of 
temporary staff.

There is a risk that demand outstrips capacity 
and the Trust will not be resilient at times of 
surge and extremis, which will adversely  impact 
on the quality of care delivered, impacting the 
Trust’s ability to deliver a range of constitutional 
standards.

There is a risk that the lack of alignment 
between organisational strategies will limit 
the scale and pace of our progress towards an 
integrated care system for CIOS Health and Care 
Partnership.

Risk that our building equipment and digital 
infrastructure are not fit for purpose and 
insufficient to meet the needs of our population 
estate due to insufficient capital resource 
 
Risk score reduced from 20 to 16

There is a risk that the 4 phase plans and the 
surge and super surge plans are insufficient to 
manage the expected surge and that the surge 
will be greater that the plans were designed 
to cope with. This is caused by insecurity of 
resources and supplies, limited understanding 
of partner’s plans and the wider health economy 
response. Leading to patient harm, loss of staff 
due to burn out and sickness, delayed care 
pathways and preventable death

16

16

12

16

16
NEW

These major risks are carried forward into 2020/21. 

Brilliant People
BP 2.2: Create a safe environment so 
colleagues feel supported to speak up

Brilliant People 
BP 2.5: Provide an environment that supports 
colleague safety, health & wellbeing

Brilliant Improvement
BI 3.2:  Use innovation and technology to 
improve the quality, experience and cost of 
care.

Brilliant Improvement
BI 3.3: Grow the Trust’s national reputation for 
excellence in research and development

Brilliant Improvement
BI 3.5: Celebrate achievement and will 
create a culture that enables continuous 
improvement.

There is a risk that our culture change isn’t 
sufficient to deliver brilliant care
 
Risk score reduced from 12 to 9

There is a risk that the culture of health and  
safety is not understood or embedded as part of 
our governance architecture

Risk that the Trust is not able to access or 
prioritise capital resources to enable it to 
ensure that service continuity is maintained, 
statutory regulations are adhered to and 
services are improved through the use of 
technology where possible.

Lack of clinical buy-in/engagement with research 
will result in patients not having an opportunity 
to take part in trials that may enhance their 
quality of life / wellbeing now or in the future. 
Secondly the Trust does not maximise income to 
be reinvested into clinical care. 

There is a risk that staff do not know about 
or feel that they are able to contribute to the 
continued improvement of the organisation 
caused by insufficient communication and 
engagement of staff in decision making, linked 
to the pace of change required.

Pledge Principle Risk Score

9

16

16

6

12

Brilliant People
BP 2.1:  Provide great leadership and support 
to help colleagues be the best they can be.

BP 2.3:  Make sure colleagues receive 
feedback to know how they are doing

BP 2.4:  Provide development to help 
colleagues learn and grow

BP 2.6:  Are true to our values and create a 
brilliant place to work

Brilliant Improvement
BI 3.1: Ensure that everyone has the capability 
and capacity to pursue quality improvements 
for our patients

There is a risk that we have insufficient change 
management capacity and capability and 
inconsistent to deliver the pace and change of 
style required to deliver brilliant care.

12
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Pledge Principle Risk Score
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Response to Covid-19
The most significant risk to the Trust at the 

end of 2019/20 (and into 2020/21) is the impact of 
the Coronavirus on the Trust’s ability to provide 
services and to safeguard patient and staff safety 
and well-being. Three Covid-19 related risks were 
added to the Corporate Risk Register since the 
onset of the pandemic.

In responding to the crisis the Trust quickly 
established an Incident Command Centre, led by 
the Director of Operations and reporting to the 
Chief Executive and Trust Board, to coordinate 
information, decisions, actions and risks relating 
to Covid-19. 

The Trust employed a four-phase dynamic 
response plans to enable it to flex up and down in 
line with the need for intensive beds.  

Reports and briefings on Covid-19 were taken 
straight to Trust Board and involved daily situation 
reports, weekly system-level briefings and weekly 
informal Board/Non-Executive Director briefings. 

The Trust Board has continued to meet formally 
on a monthly basis since the start of the crisis, 
as have its committee meetings. Agenda’s and 
attendees at Board/Committees were streamlined 
to release capacity and focus on the most urgent 
issues, with patient safety at the forefront. 

The Trust amended its corporate arrangements 
in March to enable it to respond swiftly and 
flexibly to the response. This included: 

 
 
 
 

 
Clinical governance was also adjusted during this 
time in terms of:

 
 

The Trust reviewed all external guidance 
issued in relation to the crisis and appropriate 
local responses were implemented as part of the 
overall response. The Trust is approach response 
in a dynamic way to be able to ‘turn on and turn 
off’ again business as usual activity in line with 
data projections and actual presentations of the 
virus. The Trust’s business continuity plans are 
active and aligned to the four-phase dynamic 
response approach. 

Developmental Review of  
Leadership and Governance 
using the Well-Led Framework

The Trust commissioned a desk-top based, 
developmental well-led review in autumn 2019 in 
preparation for its Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
inspection. 

The review was helpful in identifying specific 
aspects where the Trust could further strengthen 
its corporate and quality governance, including 
in relation to the timeliness of data considered 
by the Board, clarity on the role of Board 
committees, timeliness of papers and the role of 
different types of directors. 

The developmental review led to an action plan 
which the Trust is implementing, though progress 
had stalled from the start of the Covid-19 period. 

On 26 February 2020, the CQC published the 
report following their inspections at the Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust in November 
and December 2019. A provider level well-led 
inspection took place from the 11-12 December 
2019.

Overall, the CQC rating of the Trust stayed 
the same – ‘requires improvement’. There were 
significant rating improvements in the core 
services of End of Life, Maternity and Outpatients 
and the Trust’s overall well-led rating improved 
from ‘inadequate’ to ‘good’. 

The CQC rated all care services as ‘well-led’ 
and commented on the trust’s effective systems 
for managing risk and governance. 

The CQC made a recommendation to NHS 
Improvement that the Trust should be removed 
from quality special measures; albeit with 
continued support to ensure that the Trust can 
continue to make sustained improvements in all 
the necessary areas. 

The decision on whether to release the 
Trust from special measures was taken by NHS 
England/Improvement’s Provider Oversight 
Committee on 6 April 2020.

As a result of the judgements made in the 
inspection, the Trust developed an action plan 
which was approved by the Quality Assurance 
Committee and received by the Trust Board in 
March 2020.  

The action plan prioritised 18 must do actions 
to bring services into line with legal requirements; 
this was a reduction on 50 must do actions from 
2018. None of those 18 areas related to well-led.

A further 68 should do actions were identified 
to action to either comply with minor breaches 
that did not justify regulatory action, to avoid 
breaching a legal requirement in the future, or to 
improve services. This compares to 116 should do 
actions from the 2018 inspection.

12 of these 68 should do actions from 2019 
related to well-led:

All should-do actions in relation to well-led, as 
for all other areas, are being progressed as part 
of the Trust’s CQC action plan.

 ➔ use of e-governance for appropriate 
items, in line with the existing provision 
in the Trust’s Standing Orders;

 ➔ revised financial delegations to Level 
A approvers (the Chief Executive, the 
Joint Director for Nursing, Midwifery 
and AHP and the Director of Finance) for 
revenue and capital spend in relation to 
Covid-19 only, with associated controls 
(i.e. to report such decisions to Finance 
and Performance Committee) 

 ➔ temporary clinical governance 
arrangements introduced

 ➔ high level groups meeting virtually with 
streamlined and focused agendas  

 ➔ serious incident reporting process and 
complaints process continued - ensuring 
timely review and organisational learning 

 ➔ risk based approach to ensure progress 
against the Trust’s Care Quality 
Commission action plan and External 
review process 

 ➔ risk based approach with Care Groups 
to maintain and progress the Corporate 
Risk Register 

 ➔ Review the reporting and supervision 
arrangements for the Freedom to 
Speak-up Guardian.

 ➔ Start winter planning earlier and work 
towards having the 2020/2021 winter 
plan signed off ahead of winter starting.

 ➔ Review staffing levels in the medical 
physics team.

 ➔ Strengthen relationships with staff-
side representatives, including 
improving consistent attendance by 
executives at the joint consultative and 
negotiation committee.

 ➔ Improve documentation of serious 
incident investigations to demonstrate 
patient and/or family involvement.

 ➔ Review how learning from incidents is 
shared.

 ➔ Review all deaths in accordance with 
the trust policy.

 ➔ Improve board ownership and oversight 
of equality and diversity.

 ➔ Seek greater assurance about ongoing 
research within the trust.

 ➔ Review how sub-committees are 
evaluated on an ongoing basis.

 ➔ Provide greater detail of discussion and 
challenge in minutes.

 ➔ Continue to address fire safety issues.
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Corporate Governance
Condition 4 ‘NHS Foundation Trust Governance 

Arrangements’ is a core part of the Trust’s 
Provider Licence issued by Monitor (NHS 
Improvement). In 2019/20 the Trust was fully 
compliant with and recorded no risks in relation to 
Condition 4 of its licence, with particular regard 
to:

On an annual basis the Board of Directors 
reviews its compliance against condition 4 of its 
provider licence, self-certifying against all areas 
listed above.

The Trust’s committee structure and the 
coverage of each committee are included in each 
committee’s Terms of Reference, as approved by 
the Board. 

The Trust is also the sole corporate Trustee of 
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable 
Fund and, through its Charitable Funds 
Committee, ensures that effective structures and 
systems are in place to manage those charitable 
funds in accordance with statutory and other legal 
requirements and best practice as required by the 
Charity Commission. Core responsibilities relating 
to governance are set out right: 

Audit & Risk Assurance Committee 
has oversight responsibilities and, where 
appropriate, facilitates and supports the 
attainment of effective processes. It oversees 
the risk management system of the Trust. The 
Committee’s focus includes: 

 ➔ Effective governance structures which 
include Board Assurance Framework 
reports to the Board of Directors. 

 ➔ Comprehensive reviews of annual and 
monthly returns to NHS Improvement

 ➔ Directors and senior managers with 
clear responsibilities and regular 
assessment of capacity and capability

 ➔ Clear reporting lines and 
accountabilities between the Board 
of Directors, its committees and the 
Executive Team

 ➔ Robust clinical and financial 
performance reported to the Board of 
Directors at every meeting

 ➔ Independently and objectively 
monitoring, reviewing and reporting to 
Board on the processes of governance 
and internal control across the whole 
of the organisation’s activities (both 
clinical and non-clinical)

 ➔ Considering the Risk Management 
Strategy and recommending its 
approval to the Board

 ➔ Overseeing risk management and 
the development and monitoring of 
the Board Assurance Framework; 
undertaking risk assurance on behalf of 
the Board 

 ➔ Reviewing and approving all risk and 
control related disclosure statements, 
including this Governance Statement 
and the Head of Internal Audit Opinion, 
prior to endorsement by the Board

 ➔ Considering the integrity, completeness 
and clarity of the annual accounts 
and the risks and controls around the 
Trust’s financial management 

 ➔ Reviewing the work of other 
committees, whose work can provide 
relevant assurance

 ➔ Requesting and reviewing reports and 
positive assurances from Directors and 
other managers on arrangements for 
internal controls 

 ➔ Ensuring there is an effective and 
appropriate Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist function in place at the Trust 

 ➔ Acting as the Trust’s Auditor Panel and 
advising the Board on the selection 
and appointment of an external auditor 
(under separate Terms of Reference) 
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Remuneration
Committee

Quality 
Assurance 
Committee

Adult and Risk 
Assurance 
Committee

Finance and 
Performance 
Committee

People and OD 
Committee

The Quality Assurance Committee is 
responsible for assuring the Board about quality, 
safety, patient experience and the Trust’s 
registration with the Care Quality Commission. 
The Committee’s focus includes:

 
The Remuneration Committee determines 
appropriate remuneration and terms and 
conditions of service for the Chief Executive, 
Executive Directors, very senior managers and 
staff on local terms and conditions. 

The Committee also evaluates the individual 
performance of Executive Directors and oversees 
appropriate contractual arrangements for such 
staff.

It assists the Board in ensuring the 
organisation recruits, retains and develops a 
strong executive leadership team that is capable 
of achieving Trust objectives. 

The Committee additionally takes 
responsibility for ensuring Trust compliance with 
the Fit & Proper Persons regulatory requirements. 

The People and Organisational Development 
Committee maintains a strategic overview of the 
Trust’s workforce, and associated educational 
and organisational development arrangements, to 
ensure it is fit for purpose, flexible and provides 
on-going affordable, high quality care and good 
clinical outcomes for patients. The Committee’s 
focus includes:

The Finance and Performance Committee 
maintains an objective overview of the Trust’s 
financial and operational performance, business 
planning and associated risks. 

 ➔ Providing assurance that the Board 
has an effective strategy for improving 
the quality and safety of care patients 
receive and their overall experience 

 ➔ Providing the Board with assurance that 
effective and well supported operational 
governance arrangements for quality and 
safety are in place, including through the 
Ward to Board Framework 

 ➔ Scrutinising assurances on compliance 
with the Care Quality Commission action 
plan

 ➔ Approving the annual Clinical Audit Plan, 
ensuring alignment with Trust priorities 
and risk areas

 ➔ Approving, and monitoring the delivery 
of action plans arising from review and 
investigation reports and the work of 
external regulators

 ➔ Seeking assurance for principal risks, 
and those above agreed tolerance levels, 
in relation to quality, patient safety and 
compliance risk domains, as well as risks 
managed by sub committees that have 
exceeded their tolerance for more than 
six months

 ➔ Providing assurance to the Board that 
risks arising from major changes to 
services or pathways managed by the 
Trust, including those arising from 
system wide developments, are managed 
in a way which ensures the on-going 
delivery of safe care to patients.

 ➔ Strategic oversight and workforce 
planning

 ➔ Organisational development and staff 
engagement

 ➔ Compliance and risk management
 ➔ Education and research
 ➔ Inclusion  

The Committee meets monthly. It advises the 
Board on the financial stability of the Trust and 
ensures corrective actions, where necessary, 
are initiated and managed as appropriate. The 
Committee’s focus includes:

 ➔ Strategic planning
 ➔ Performance delivery
 ➔ Commercial and business development 

The Chair’s of each committee summarise the 
business discussed and any issues for escalation 
to the Board. The Company Secretary ensures 
that the work programmes for the Board and 
its committee’s are aligned with clear decision/
reporting routes for regulatory and statutory 
reports.

In relation to compliance with the NHS provider 
licence condition 4 the Trust has actions in 
place to improve compliance with the Well-Led 
framework, driven by: 

 ➔ An external developmental review of 
the Trust’s governance arrangements 
was undertaken by NSHI in the autumn 
of 2019, and the Trust’s well-led review 
was undertaken in December. The review 
was undertaken against the wider 
components of the Well Led Framework 
and aimed to support the Trust is 
further developing and strengthening 
its governance arrangements. The Trust 
developed an action plan from the Review 
and continues to work to deliver those 
actions into 2020/21;

 ➔ An internal committee effectiveness 
review, undertaken by each committee, 
assessing the responsibilities of each 
committees, the way they are supported 
and the responsibilities of individual 
directors and the Terms of reference of 
Board sub-committees;

 ➔ Detailed oversight of the Trust’s 
performance through the Board’s 
monthly review of the Integrated 
Performance report, which contains the 
detailed position on: quality and safety; 
operational performance; finance; our 
people (workforce) and partnership. 
Extracts of the IPR are also discussed by 
each committee, relevant to their Terms of 
Reference; and

 ➔ Quarterly consideration of the Board 
Assurance Framework by Trust Board, 
including considerations with regards risk 
to the provider licence.

The Remuneration  
Committee determines 
appropriate remuneration 
and terms and conditions 
of service for the Chief 
Executive, Executive  
Directors, very senior  
managers and staff on  
local terms and  
conditions. 

Each committee reports to the Trust Board under a standing item for each monthly meeting. A 
visual of the reporting lines between the committees and the Board is shown below:

Charitable 
Funds 

Committee
Trust Board



Kate Shields (Voting) Chief Executive

Board Member Position Period

Executive Directors

1 February 2019 to date

Sally May (Voting) Director of Finance May 2016 - to date

Kim O’Keefe (Voting) Director of Nursing, Midwifery & 
Allied Health Professionals  1 May 2017 – to date

Thomas Lafferty (Voting) Director of Strategy and 
Performance 10 September 2018 – to date

Allister Grant (Voting) Medical Director 1 November 2019 - to date

Rob Parry (Voting) Interim Medical Director 1 February 2019 - 1 November 
2019

Kerry Eldridge (non-voting)
Director of Human Resources  
and OD 30 August 2018 - to date

Bernadette George  (non-voting) Director of Integrated 
Governance March 2019 - to date

Bernadette George  (non-voting)
Interim Director of Integrated 
Governance 1 October 2018 – March 2019

Susan Bracefield  (non-voting) Director of Operations March 2019 - to date

Susan Bracefield  (non-voting) Interim Director of Operations 1 February 2019 to March 
2019

Kelvyn Hipperson  (non-voting) Chief Information Officer 2 January 2019 – to date

Karen Kay (non-voting) System Director for Urgent and 
Emergency Care 10 December 2018 – to date
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The Trust undertakes an annual review of 
committee effectiveness and for 2019/20 this was 
undertaken as a self-assessment. 

The Trust intends to follow a 2+1 model for 
committee self-assessment where every third 
year it will commission an external review 
of effectiveness of both the Board and its 
committees.

 The autumn 2019 external developmental 
review also was relevant in this regard. 

The Board and its committees also assesses 
the effectiveness of each meeting at the end of 
the agendas so that live feedback is captured and 
can be acted upon. 

Common themes for development from 
the 2019/20 self-assessment of effectiveness 
included: timeliness of papers; quality of papers; 
the need to focus on more strategic and less 
operational matters; and attendees at meetings. 
All Board members receive an annual appraisal 
review.

During the year the Board welcome new 
Board members, Richard Stephenson and Sarah 
Newton, who were appointed to vacancies on the 
Board. 

Both joined in the latter months of 2019/20 and 
were supported by an induction which included 
being invited to observe all committee meetings, 
briefings with senior staff and background 
documentation. 

They have also been booked onto external 
training courses for Non-Executive Directors 
which are currently on hold due to Covid-19.

At each monthly meeting the Board review 
the Integrated Performance Report (IPR) which 
presents data on the previous month. 

This data is also scrutinised at committee-level 
prior to the Board meeting. 

While there is currently a degree of duplication 
to the discussions at committee and Board, 
the Trust is seeking ways to further enhance 
its IPR and clarify the role of its committees 
in undertaking more granular level analysis on 
specific issues.

The Board of Directors met a total of eleven 
times in public in 2019/20, including the Annual 
General Meeting (AGM). All meetings of the Board 
of Directors were quorate.

This Board is comprised of 20 members; 12 
voting (seven Non-Executives including the 
Chairwoman and five Executives) and eight  
non-voting. 

The Board of Directors met a total of eleven 
times in public in 2019/20, including the Annual 

General Meeting (AGM). All meetings of the 
Board of Directors were quorate.

On the opposite page
Membership of the Board from 1 
April 2019 to the date of approval of 
the Annual Report was as follows: 



Mairi Mclean (Voting) Chairwoman

Non-Executive Directors

January 2019 – to date

Paul Hobson (Voting) Non-Executive Director 15 January 2016 - to date

Margaret Schwarz (Voting) Non-Executive Director 1 November 2016 to date

Sarah Pryce (Voting) Non-Executive Director 6 May 2016 – to date

Gillian Vivian (Voting) Non-Executive Director 1 October 2018 – to date

Richard Stephenson (Voting) Non-Executive Director 17 February 2020 - to date

Sarah Newton (Voting) Non-Executive Director 16 March 2020 - to date

Dr John Lander (Voting) Non-Executive Director 1 November 2016 - 1 August 
2020

Kevin Orford (Voting) Non-Executive Director
1 October 2019 - 13 November 
2019

Scott Bennett (Voting) Non-Executive Director 1 July 2019 - 31 August 2019

Associate Non-Executive Directors

Rob Leighfield (non-voting) Associate Non-Executive Director 1 October 2018– to date

Ruth Allarton (non-voting) Associate Non-Executive Director 2 January 2019 – to date

Richard Smith (non-voting) Associate Non-Executive Director 1 March 2019 – to date
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Board members’ attendance at Board and 
committee meetings is summarised in Appendix 
1. It should be noted that not all Directors were 
eligible for attendance at all meetings due to 
effective date of employment. 

Each Committee presents an annual report 
to the Board, so that it may review committee 
effectiveness and impact.

 The June 2020 Board is scheduled to receive 
the annual reports for 2019/20. 

The Board also receives a monthly assurance 
report from the Committee Chair on the key items 
discussed by each committee. 

Directors are required to adhere to the highest 
standards of conduct in the performance of their 
duties. In respect of their interaction with others, 
the Board operates under an explicit Code of 
Conduct which is compliant with the NHS Code of 
Governance. 

The Board is required to agree and adhere to 
the commitments set out in the Code of Conduct, 
which includes the principles set out by the Nolan 
Committee on Standards in Public Life. 

Once appointed, Board members are required 
to sign a declaration to confirm that they will 
comply with the Code in all respects. 

The Trust also appoints Associate  
Non-Executive Directors, where appropriate, to 
supplement skills and experience whilst the Board 
is maturing, and to support succession planning.

Workforce
Building on existing National Quality Board 

guidance, the Developing Workforce Safeguards 
are to strengthen commitments to safe, high 
quality care across all staff groups. 

Ensuring that safe and effective staffing 
systems are in place, underpinned by a 
combination of evidence based workforce tools, 
professional judgement and outcomes to ensure 
the right staff with the right skills are in the right 
place at the right time.

The key requirements of the guidance are: 
 

There are a number of key processes in place at 
the Trust which provide the safeguards as outlined 
in the guidance in which workforce requirement 
are measured with quality and safety indicators to 
provide Board and/or Committee level assurance. 
They include:

 ➔ Embedding National Quality Boards 
(NQBs) 2016 Guidance

 ➔ Governance arrangements for Workforce 
Planning and Redesign Extension of 
Safe Staffing across all the Clinical 
Workforce

 ➔ Trust Board Engagement
 ➔ Workforce Planning
 ➔ Safe Staffing Reports and Monitoring

 ➔ Monthly Care Group Performance 
reviews

 ➔ Monthly integrated performance 
assurance report

 ➔ E-roster monthly performance reports
 ➔ Bi-annual safe staffing reviews
 ➔ Guardian safe working hours quarterly 

and annual Board reports
 ➔ Freedom to speak up quarterly and 

annual Board reports
 ➔ Monthly Professional Standards report
 ➔ Datix incident reporting
 ➔ Risk register aligned to the Board 

Assurance Framework and Performance 
Accountability Framework

 ➔ Annual staff survey report
 ➔ Pulse surveys
 ➔ Annual workforce planning return
 ➔ Friends and family tests
 ➔ Embedded Equality Impact Assessment 

process for all policies, service changes 
and QI projects

 ➔ Benchmarking supporting information 
and data – model hospital and ‘get it 
right first time’ (GIRFT)
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The Trust’s workforce performance relates to 
standards set both nationally and locally, which 
are reviewed through a combination of: 

The main workforce priorities for the Trust 
during the year were to: 

Strengthen the Trust’s capacity and capability 
for strategic workforce planning; 

In order to deliver the workforce priorities, the 
following main themes were identified: 

Workforce Planning 

Robust workforce planning takes place to help 
support the future challenges facing the NHS and 
to also assist in completing the annual workforce 
plans for Health Education South West and NHS 
Improvement. The focus for the year ahead of 
workforce (people) transformation, reviewing 
skills and competencies and looking at new roles 
to combat the national occupational shortages. 
The workforce redesign work will include new 
models of care and patient pathways which 
supports the system wide priorities.

Medical Resourcing 

The main challenge for Medical Resourcing in 
the Trust is to attract good quality medical staff 
given national shortages. This was hampered by 
Immigration rules which saw the restriction of 
Certificates of Sponsorship for Core Trainee level 
doctors recruited from outside the European 
Union (EU).  
 
Workforce Transformation 

The focus was to ensure workforce implications 
of planned service expansions were appropriately 
implemented. There was continued support to 
address challenges of the current and future NHS 
which require new ways of working and innovative 
workforce strategies and practices to create a 
flexible workforce. 

This included a number of projects to 
restructure departments, review skill mix, shift 
patterns and extend working hours/weeks to meet 
changing demands in the provision of patient care. 

Workforce Operations 

There was a continued focus on achieving Key 
Performance Indicators (KPI) and working with 
department managers and Staff Side to maintain 
the reduced length of time taken to conclude 
disciplinary and grievance cases. Continue 
focus on the wellness our of workforce with new 
mental health first aid and awareness support, 
an employee assistance programme and further 
staff wellbeing interventions to reduce sickness 
absence rates  further. Leadership passport 
training and was delivered to managers across 
the Trust to ensure that they have the necessary 
leadership skills to support the workforce. 

 ➔ Ensure effective management of the 
workforce; 

 ➔ Enable the health and well-being of the 
Trust’s workforce; 

 ➔ Ensure policies and procedures, 
developed in partnership with staff side, 
are in place to support the workforce and 
management of staff. 

 ➔ Regular monthly performance 
management meetings between members 
of the executive team and each care group

 ➔ Exception reporting via the Trust’s 
executive board, which meets fortnightly

 ➔ Bi-monthly via the Board’s People and 
Organisational Development Committee, 
as well as through the committee’s bi-
monthly report to the Trust Board 

 ➔ Monthly via the Trust Board’s Finance 
and Performance Committee, as well as 
through the committee’s monthly report to 
the Trust Board 

 ➔ Monthly via the Trust Board’s via the 
integrated performance review (IPR) 
which is presented at all monthly Board 
committees and covers all of the Trust’s 
current workforce key performance 
indicators

 ➔ Monthly via the Trust Board’s Quality 
Assurance Committee 

 ➔ Safe staffing processes: 
 ➔ evidence-based tools (where they 

exist) 
 ➔ clinical professional judgement 
 ➔ patient acuity 
 ➔ outcomes

 ➔ Performance management processes, 
which complement quality outcomes, 
operational and finance performance 
measures. 
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Workforce Governance 

Robust workforce governance systems 
continued to be utilised and embedded to 
ensure the Trust’s compliance with legislative 
requirements and best practice. Further progress 
was made in 2019/20 in developing an inclusive 
workforce and working environment with a 
continued focus going forward still required. The 
Trust published its diversity data and progress 
on equality initiatives in line with the Equality 
Delivery System and its duties under the Equality 
Act 2010 including the reporting of the Trust’s 
Gender Pay Gap. The Staff Survey results were 
analysed, reported on and action plans developed. 

There are some significant workforce issues 
that the Trust is facing currently in an uncertain 
and shifting political and economic climate. 
However, the Board can be assured that a 
number of work streams are ongoing in order to 
mitigate any risk to patients, staff or the Trust. 
There are also many opportunities that can 
be maximised, with the strong foundation of a 
stable workforce that is highly committed, well-
motivated and well managed with supportive, kind 
and compassionate leadership. For the coming 
year and beyond it is essential that standards are 
consistently applied across the entirety of the 
hospitals and work areas within the Trust. 

The Trust is fully compliant with the 
registration requirements of the Care Quality 
Commission.

Declarations of Interest
The Trust has published on its website an  

up-to-date register of interests, including 
gifts and hospitality, for decision-making staff 
(as defined by the Trust with reference to the 
guidance) within the past twelve months, as 
required by the ‘Managing Conflicts of Interest in 
the NHS’ guidance. 

This is supported by the Trust’s policy on Gifts, 
Hospitality, Sponsorship and Declarations of 
Interest.

Pensions
As an employer with staff entitled to 

membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all employer 
obligations contained within the Scheme 
regulations are complied with. 

This includes ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer’s contributions and payments 
into the Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme 
records are accurately updated in accordance 
with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.

Equality and Diversity
Control measures are in place to ensure that 

all the organisation’s obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation are 
complied with. Equality impact assessments are 
carried out when reviewing all Trust policies and 
procedures. 

The Board reviewed its statutory duties with 
regards equality and diversity in early March and 
the Company Secretary supports colleagues 
to understand the requirement for clear 
consideration of quality and diversity in reports 
written for the Board/its committees.

Sustainable Development  
Management Plan

The Trust has undertaken risk assessments 
and has a sustainable development management 
plan in place which takes account of UK Climate 
Projections 2018 (UKCP18). The Trust ensures 
that its obligations under the Climate Change Act 
and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with.

Business cases are required to evidence how 
sustainable development has been considered as 
part of proposals for the development of services, 
systems and estate. 

Specific activities have included working with 
the Transport and Travel Office to encourage 
active travel (making journeys by physically active 
means such as walking or cycling) and embedding 
‘sustainability’ into the procurement of goods and 
services. 

The Trust engages with the wider community 
through co-operation on the Carbon-Wise intranet 
page, covering all Cornwall NHS healthcare 
organisations, and wider work with the Council 
and private sector on future plans for the county. 

Review of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use of 
resources

The Trust utilises various processes and 
controls (such as its Standing Financial 
Instructions) to ensure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Throughout the year, the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee oversees a comprehensive 
risk-based internal audit programme that reviews 
governance arrangements, efficiency and 
effectiveness across a range of services. 

Each financial year end, external auditors 
provide the Trust with a “Value for Money” 
conclusion regarding its arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources.

The Trust also seeks to ensure value for money 
by benchmarking performance and costs of 
services and setting challenging savings targets 
to test how services can be provided more 
efficiently and cost effectively. 

The Finance Department works closely 
with budget holders when planning savings, 
budget setting, developing business cases and 
monitoring delivery against plan throughout the 
financial year. 

Performance against the Trust’s financial plan 
and delivery of its savings target are reported to 
the Finance & Performance Committee and Trust 
Board each month.

Quality and efficiency go hand in hand and the 
Trust actively engages and encourages staff in 
identifying ways to become more efficient and 
deliver brilliant care and improvement.  

The Brilliant Improvement Board is in place 
and a Quality Improvement Hub helps progress 
staff suggestions that improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Trust’s services. 

The Trust also created a flatter hierarchy, 
moving to a Care Group structure that reduces the 
distance from ward to Board.

The Trust continues to explore all opportunities 
to maximise efficiency and effectiveness, 
including working with neighbouring health and 
social care partners across a range of clinical and 
non-clinical functions. 

The internal audit on Local Financial Systems 
for 2019/20 concluded that the design and 
operation of financial controls was significant. 

This provides assurance on the effectiveness 
to those charged with governance on the 
effectiveness and quality of the internal controls.

Information governance
During 2019/20 the Trust reported two Level 2 

incidents to the Information Commissioners Office 
(ICO), neither of which resulted in any action 
taken by the ICO. A description of each incident is 
provided below:

May 2019
A file relating to a child and an ongoing investigation was sent in 
response to a SAR/AHRA/FOI request. In the documentation was a 
report relating to another child.

The incident was reported via the Trust’s incident reporting software 
and was investigated. An instant apology was offered and an 
assurance that the records relating to the recipient family had not 
been disclosed to others.

Month Reported Description of incident

December 2019 Lost USB stick containing details of up to 193 patients. Steps were 
taken to ensure the personal laptop was secured and users reminded 
about the security of USB’s and the use of personal laptop/devices to 
store Patient Identifiable Data.

A thorough search for the missing USB was undertaken as soon as 
the loss was identified. 
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Data quality and governance
The Records, Information and Data Quality 

Strategy sets out the Trust’s approach to 
managing information and data quality, however 
or wherever that data is collected (electronically 
or manually, by clinical or business support 
services). The Trust aims to maximise the 
accuracy, timeliness and quality of data collected. 

High standards in data quality aid the Trust 
in meeting its patient safety and governance 
obligations as well as maximising its planning and 
finance capabilities. Detailed guidance is in place 
for the construction and measurement of all key 
indicators generated from core Trust systems.

Each indicator in the Trust’s Integrated 
Performance Report is weighted depending on 
its level of priority. These are used to support 
performance management processes, and the 
indicators are reviewed annually to ensure they 
are still relevant.

A number of processes are in place to ensure 
the quality of waiting time data. These include 
weekly validation of any unknown clock starts, 
weekly review of incomplete pathways, and 
mandated validation of the pathway when 
patients with a decision to admit are added to the 
elective waiting list. 

An audit programme delivered by the Access 
Team enables detailed, objective scrutiny of 
waiting list management to provide assurance 
regarding the application of the Access Policy. 

The Access Policy was externally reviewed in 
2019/20 with no identified actions required, and is 
in date. There are two inherent risks to the quality 
and accuracy of elective waiting times, which are 
common across many Trust’s. 

The first is the holding of waiting time 
information across a variety of clinical 
administrative systems, which could result in 
inaccurate waiting time data if not linked together 
robustly. The second is the risk of human error 
in administrating such systems. The outcome of 
each could be both under-recording and over-
recording of pathway lengths. 

A number of provisions are in place to mitigate 
these risks, such as electronic processing of 
waiting time data, data quality reporting and the 
validation and audit processes described earlier. 
Any waiting list / time management errors are 

reported in accordance with the Trust’s incident 
management procedure. 

The Trust has moved referral to treatment 
(RTT) processing to a more robust process of daily 
reporting underpinned within the Trust’s data 
warehouse rather than a weekly report. 

This led to an improvement in the 
timely availability of data. Further process 
improvements are anticipated when the Trust’s 
Patient Administration System is replaced. 

The Records, Information and Data Quality 
Strategy sets out the Trust’s approach to 
managing information and data quality, however 
or wherever that data is collected (electronically 
or manually, by clinical or business support 
services). 

The Trust’s aim is to maximise the accuracy, 
timeliness and quality of data collected. High 
standards in data quality aid the Trust in meeting 
its patient safety and governance obligations 
as well as maximising its planning and finance 
capabilities. 

The Data Quality Policy is in date and under 
current review, and underpins the Records, 
Information and Data Quality Strategy.

Review of effectiveness 
As Accountable Officer (AO), I have 

responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control. 

My review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control is informed by the work of the 
internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive 
managers and clinical leads within the NHS Trust 
who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. 

I have drawn on the information provided in this 
annual report and other performance information 
available to me. 

My review is also informed by comments made 
by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports. 

I have been advised on the implications of the 
result of my review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the board and the 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and a plan 
to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place. 

The maintenance and review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
a part of an on-going process, and in relation to 
this process: 

The Board of Directors:  The Board ensures 
that effective arrangements are in place 
to provide assurance on risk management, 
governance and internal control. The Board has 
determined in relation to internal control that it 
will:

 

Audit and Risk Committee: Independently 
and objectively monitor, reviews and reports 
to the Board on the processes of governance 
and internal control across the whole of the 
organisation’s activities (both clinical and non-
clinical). The Committee receives key reports 
which comment on compliance with key statutory 
and regulatory duties, including reports from the 
internal auditor.

Quality Assurance Committee: Provides 
assurance to the Board about quality, safety, 
patient experience and the Trust’s registration 
with the Care Quality Commission. This 
committee, in particular, provides the Board with 
assurance that effective and well supported 
operational governance arrangements for quality 
and safety are in place. The committee also 
oversees clinical audits.

Clinical audit: The RCHT Clinical Audit 
programme is made up of four ‘tiers’ with a 
hierarchy of importance, with priority 1 being the 
most important. 

This is modified from a model of prioritisation 
recommended in the Healthcare Quality 
Improvement Partnership (HQIP) publication, 
“Clinical Audit Programme Guidance Tools” and 
available on the HQIP website.

As at March 2020, the Trust continues to 
fully participate in all qualifying national audits.  
National Audit Reports are published throughout 
the year, on the HQIP site as well as through the 
individual audit mailing lists and websites.  

Reports vary from audit to audit in format, 
amount of information provided and whether 
Trust level data is included.

When an audit report has been published the 
Clinical Effectiveness Team send this to  the 
clinical lead for the audit (as registered on the 
audit database) with a request for commentary on 
any Trust level data and identification of actions 
resulting from the audit results.  Responses 
vary and often do not include specific actions or 
completion dates.

For 2020/21 the Clinical Effectiveness Team 
are working on enhancing engagement and 
communication with national audit clinical leads 
to strengthen central reporting of national audit 
actions. 

National audit publications and responses 
from specialty leads are reported at each Clinical 
Effectiveness Group.

Internal audit: Provides the AO and the Board 
with independent assurance that the Trust’s risk 
management, governance and internal control 
processes are operating effectively. In 2019/20 
the Independent Head of Internal Audit opinion 
was ‘limited assurance’.

The Trust values the work of internal audit and 
is putting in place steps to support a move to a 
satisfactory opinion for 2020/21 by:

 ➔ Operate as a unitary Board;
 ➔ Monitor the performance of the 

organisation against agreed plans.
 ➔ Be responsible for the overall system 

of control, ensure key risks are 
identified and appropriate mitigating 
actions are taken.

 ➔ Ensure compliance with relevant NHS 
and wider Government regulations and 
requirements, including the provision 
of excellent services and good value 
for money.

 ➔ Review, endorse and adopt, in support 
of the AO, the annual report, financial 
statements and statement to be given 
by the AO.

 ➔ Priority 1 — External ‘must do’ audits
 ➔ Priority 2 — Internal ‘must do’ audits 
 ➔ Priority 3 — Care Group priorities
 ➔ Priority 4 — Clinician interest and 

prioritising local audits
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As part of the Trust’s approach to preventing 
and deterring fraud, it uses the services of a Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS). 

The LCFS produces a work plan each year 
which is agreed by the Trust’s Audit & Risk 
Assurance Committee and allows for work on 
fraud detection, prevention and deterrence to be 
undertaken. 

An annual report on counter fraud activity is 
provided to the Trust through the Audit & Risk 
Assurance Committee. Counter Fraud training is 
mandatory for all Trust staff. 

As part of the Trust’s approach to clinical 
effectiveness is the role of clinical audit. The 
Clinical Effectiveness Group which is chaired by 
the Medical Director produces an annual clinical 
audit programme which is approved by the Audit 
and Risk Committee and includes local and 
national audit requirements. 

During 2019 / 2020 the Trust participated in 
100% of national clinical audits and 100% of 
national confidential enquiries of the national 
clinical audits and national confidential enquiries 
which it was eligible to participate in.

The Trust fully participates in the Getting It 
Right First Time (GIRFT) programme. All visits 
are logged and outcomes reported to the Clinical 
Effectiveness Group.  

All recommendations and actions arising 
from GIRFT reviews are monitored through the 
Trust’s Care Quality Commission Scrutiny Group 
and report quarterly to the Quality Assurance 
Committee. 

The Trust has lead liaison officers with key 
regulatory bodies and its integrated governance 
structure is mapped to ensuring key statutory 
and regulatory duties are adhered (e.g. through 
ensuring compliance with information governance 
law and regulation through regular reports 
through to Board).

The Board ensures 
that effective 
arrangements are 
in place to provide 
assurance on risk 
management, 
governance and 
internal control. 

Conclusion
Subject to the matters outlined in this 

statement, to the best of my knowledge 
there are no significant internal control 
issues which have been identified in the 
body of the Annual Governance Statement.

Signed

Chief Executive                                  
Date: 24 June 2020 

Statement of the chief executive’s  
responsibilities as the accountable officer of the 
Trust

The Chief Executive of NHS Improvement, in exercise of powers 
conferred on the NHS Trust Development Authority, has designated that 
the Chief Executive should be the Accountable Officer of the Trust.  The 
relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the NHS 
Trust Accountable Officer Memorandum. These include ensuring that: 

 ➔ there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public 
funds and assets and assist in the implementation of corporate 
governance 

 ➔ value for money is achieved from the resources available to the Trust
 ➔ the expenditure and income of the Trust has been applied to the 

purposes intended by Parliament and conform to the authorities 
which govern them

 ➔ effective and sound financial management systems are in place and 
 ➔ annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the 

Secretary of State to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
as at the end of the financial year and the income and expenditure, 
other items of comprehensive income and cash flows for the year. 

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the Trust’s auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the steps that 
I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that 
information.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my letter of appointment as an Accountable 
Officer.

Signed

Chief Executive 
Date June 24 2020

 ➔ establishing a more robust and timely 
process for responses to actions from 
internal audits through monthly review 
at Executive team meetings

 ➔ improved engagement of management 
leads in those actions;

 ➔ a focus on reviewing limited assurance 
audits from the previous year within this 
year’s internal audit plan; and 

 ➔ a greater level of assurance sought 
through the Trust’s own governance 
arrangements by the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee receiving all 
limited assurance audits to note and 
expecting the relevant committee to 
oversee delivery against actions. 
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in  
respect of the accounts

The directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006 
to prepare accounts for each financial year.  The Secretary of State, with 
the approval of HM Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of the income and 
expenditure, other items of comprehensive income and cash flows for the 
year.  In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to:

 ➔ apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the 
Secretary of State with the approval of the Treasury

 ➔ make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent
 ➔ state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, 

subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
accounts and

 ➔ prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and 
disclose any material uncertainties over going concern. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Trust and to enable them to ensure that the accounts 
comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned direction 
of the Secretary of State.  They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they 
have complied with the above requirements in preparing the accounts.

The directors confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a 
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information 
necessary for patients, regulators and stakeholders to assess the NHS 
Trust’s performance, business model and strategy

By order of the Board

Chief Executive
Date June 24 2020

Deputy Director of Finance
Date June 24 2020

Appendix 1 – Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings 2019/20
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The Remuneration  
Committee

The terms of reference for the 
Remuneration Committee were updated 
and approved by the Board in December 
2016 as part of the review of governance 
arrangements.

 

The membership of the 
Committee consists of the 
Trust Board Chairman and 
all Non-Executive Directors. 
In the absence of the Board 
Chairman a nominated 
Non-Executive Director will 
act as Chair.

Remuneration Policy –  
Executive Directors

Amendments to salary are determined 
annually by the Remuneration 
Committee. Salary is inclusive – other 
payments such as bonus, overtime, 
long hours, on-call, standby etc. do 
not feature in Executive Director 
remuneration. Executive Director 
performance is monitored through the 
formal appraisal process, based on 
organisational and individual objectives.

The Medical Director’s salary is 
in accordance with the Terms and 
Conditions – Consultants (England) 2003. 
In addition, a responsibility allowance 
is payable for the duration of executive 
office.

Details of remuneration and pensions 
for Non-Executive and Executive 
Directors are detailed in the tables within 
this report.

Introduction

Section 234B and Schedule 7A of the Companies Act, as interpreted for 
the public sector, requires NHS bodies to prepare a Remuneration Report 
containing information about directors’ remuneration. In the NHS the 
report will be in respect of the Senior Managers of the NHS body. ‘Senior 
Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority 
or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the NHS 
body. This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole, 
rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ For the 
purposes of this report, this covers the Trust’s Non-Executive and Executive 
Directors.

The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care determines the 
Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors nationally.

Remuneration for Executive Board members is determined by the 
Remuneration Committee. Certain detail included within the Remuneration 
Report is auditable and has been referred to in the Independent Auditors 
Opinion on the Financial Statements. Where information included within the 
Report is subject to audit, this has been highlighted.

Remuneration and 
Staff Report

09.

139. Introduction
140. Fair pay Disclosure
142. Salary and pensions
148. Staff Report



Name
Appointment 

start date
Appointment 

end date
Re-appointment 

start date
Re-appointment 

end date

Dr Mairi McLean
(Chairwoman)

Paul Hobson

Sarah Newton

Sarah Pryce

Margaret 
Schwarz

Richard 
Stephenson

Dr Gillian Vivian

Ruth Allerton 
(Associate)

Rob Leighfield
(Associate)

Richard Smith
(Associate)

January 2019

February 2016

March 2020

February 2016

November 2016

February 2020

October 2018

January 2019

October 2018

March 2019

January 2022

January 2020

March 2022

May 2018

October 2018

February 2022

October 2020

January 2020

October 2019

March 2020

January 2020

May 2018

November 2018

January 2020

October 2019

March 2020

January 2021

May 2020

October 2020

January 2021

October 2021

March 2021

Non-Executive Directors
The dates of contracts and unexpired terms of office for the Non-Executive Directors are as follows:

There is no period of notice required for Non-Executive Directors.
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Duration of contracts,  
notice periods and  
termination payments

Other than the Medical Director, 
whose executive role endures for the 
duration of office, Executive Directors 
are employed on contracts of service and 
are substantive employees of the Trust. 
Executive Directors’ contracts can be 
terminated by either party with up to 6 
months’ notice. Following the departure 
of an Executive Director and in advance 
of a new appointee commencing, the 
Trust may engage a suitably qualified and 
experienced interim director to ensure 
continuity of leadership.

There are no special contractual 
compensation provisions for the early 
termination of Executive Directors’ 
contracts. Early termination by reason 
of redundancy or ‘in the interests of the 
efficiency of the service’ is subject to the 
provisions of the Agenda for Change NHS 
Terms and Conditions Handbook (Section 
16).

Employees above the minimum 
retirement age who themselves request 
termination by reason of early retirement, 
are subject to the normal provisions of 
the NHS Pension Scheme. Termination 
packages for all staff, agreed by the Trust 
in the year, are detailed in tables within 
this report.

Fair pay disclosure  

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the 
remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of their organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director at the Trust in the 
financial year 2019-20 was £210,000-£215,000 (2018-19: £195,000-200,000). 
This was 7.29 times (2018-19: 7.04 times) the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £29,154 (2018-19: £28,052).

Based on the March 2020 payroll, the calculated annualised pay for 2019-20 
of 2 employees would have exceeded that of the highest-paid director (2018-
19: 0). 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related 
pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include pension contributions and the 
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

The increase in the pay multiple ratio arose due to the greater increase in 
the annualised pay for the highest paid director compared to the increase in 
the median pay level.



Salary and pension entitlements of Senior 
Managers

Non-Executive Directors
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Dr Mairi McLean
Chairwoman (from January 2019)

Acting Chairwoman (Jun 18 to Jan 19)

Paul Hobson
Non-Executive Director

Sarah Pryce
Non-Executive Director

Margaret Schwarz
Non-Executive Director

Dr Gillian Vivian
Non-Executive Director  

(from Oct 18)

Ruth Allerton
Associate Non-Executive 

Director (from Jan 19)

Rob Leighfield
Associate Non-Executive 

Director (from Oct 18)

Richard Smith
Associate Non-Executive 

Director (from Mar 19)

Richard Stephenson
Non-Executive Director  

(from Feb 20)

Salaries and allowances

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

0-5

0-5

0-5

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

0-5

0-5

0-5 5-10

5-10

0-5

0

0

0

5-10

5-10

0-5

Sarah Newton
Non-Executive Director  

(from Mar 20)

Scott Bennett
Non-Executive Director  
(from Jul 19 to Aug 19)

Kevin Orford
Non-Executive Director  

(Oct 19 to Nov 19)

Dr John Lander
Non-Executive Director  

(to Aug 19)

Jim McKenna
Non-Executive Director  

(to May 18)

Charlotte Russell
Non-Executive Director  

(to Apr 18)

The following tables detail the salaries and allowances and pension benefits for those individuals 
deemed to be the ‘Senior Managers’ of the Trust. For these purposes, Senior Managers are regular 
attendees of the Trust Board, who are directing and controlling the organisation.
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Senior Managers

Salary whilst 
in post 

as Senior 
Manager 
(bands of 

£5,000)

Other 
salary 

(bands of 
£5,000)

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100

All  
pension- 
related 

benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500)

TOTAL 
(bands of 

£5,000)

£000 £000 £ £000 £000

2019-20

210-215

130-135

135-140

95-100

75-80

95-100

115-120

125-130

90-95

125-130

115-120

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

75-80

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,500

0

192.5-195.0

0

85.0-87.5

242.5-245.0

22.5-25.0

47.5-50.0

37.5-40.0

210-215

320-325

135-140

185-190

315-320

120-125

160-165

165-170

Kate Shields
Chief Executive

Susan Bracefield
Director of Operations

Kerry Eldridge
Director of Human Resources & 

Organisational Development

Bernadette George
Interim Director of Integrated 

Governance

Dr Allister Grant
Medical Director 

(from Nov 19)

Kelvyn Hipperson
Chief Information Officer

Karen Kay
Director for Urgent & Emergency 

Care

Thomas Lafferty
Director of Strategy & 

Performance

Sally May (1)
Director of Finance

Kim O’Keeffe (2)
Director of Nursing, Midwifery & 

Allied Health Professionals

Dr Rob Parry
Interim Medical Director 

(to Oct 19)

Mid-point of total paid 
remuneration bnd of the 

highest paid Director

Median total remuneration

Ratio

10.0-12.5

62.5-65.0

0

100-105

185-190

195-200

£212,500

£29,154

7.29

Senior Managers

Salary whilst 
in post 

as Senior 
Manager 
(bands of 

£5,000)

Other 
salary 

(bands of 
£5,000)

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100

All pension 
related 

benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500)

TOTAL 
(bands of 

£5,000)

£000 £000 £ £000 £000

2018-19

165-170

15-20

75-80

45-50

20-25

115-120

90-95

130-135

25-30

30-35

105-110

45-50

85-90

0

25-30

0

0

0

0

125-130

0

90-95*

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,900

0

0

0

0

110-112.5

162.5-165

5.0-7.5

37.5-40.0

2.5-5.0

102.5-105.0

215-220

105-110

185-190

240-245

30-35

155-160

95-100

235-240

Kate Shields
Chief Executive (from Feb 19) Interim 

Chief Executive (from Jul 18 to Feb 19)

Susan Bracefield - Director of 
Operations (from Mar 19) Interim 

Director of Operations (from Feb 19)

Kerry Eldridge - Director of Human 
Resources & Organisational 
Development (from Aug 18)

Bernadette George - Interim Director 
of Integrated Governance

(from Oct 18)

Kelvyn Hipperson
Chief Information Officer

(from Jan19)

Thomas Lafferty - Interim Director  
of Strategy & Performance (from Sept 18) 
Director of Corporate Affairs (to Sept 18)

Sally May (1)
Director of Finance

Kim O’Keeffe
Director of Nursing, Midwifery & 

Allied Health Professionals

Dr Rob Parry
Interim Medical Director 

(from Feb 19)
0

0

65-67.5

150-155

30-35

265-270

140-145

30-35

70-75

10-15

90-95

20-25

0

0

0

252.5-255.0

0

0

405-410

125-130

95-100

Mid-point of total paid remuneration 
band of the highest paid Director

Median total remuneration

Ratio 7.04

£197,500

£28,052

185-190 65-70 0 0 250-255

Catrin Asbrey
Director of Human Resources & 

Organisational Development  
(to July 18)

Kathy Byrne
Chief Executive (to Jul 18)

Mark Daly
Medical Director (to Feb 19)

Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy & Business 

Development (to Jul 18)

Rab McEwan
Chief Operating Officer (to Sept 18)

Phil Orwin
Interim Chief Operating Officer  

(from Sept 18 to Jan 19)

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statments.
(1) The Director of Finance is shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. Salary costs disclosed here are those costs 
incurred by this Trust for the period April 2019 to March 2020. The full salary costs for individual for that period would be in band 
£140,000-145,000. However, a contract amendment for this Director has been actioned in 2020-21 which will be backdated to 1 April 2019. 
This contract amendment for this Director has been actioned in 2020-21 which will be backdated to 1 April 2019. This contract amendment 
will be paid in 2020-21. Had the amendment been actioned in 2019-20, total remuneration for the post would have been in the band 
£155,000 to £160,000.

(2) The Director of Nursing, Midwifery & Allied Health Professions has been shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust since 
December 2019. Salary costs disclosed here are those costs incurred by this Trust for the period April 2019 to MArch 2020. The full salary 
costs for the indivdual would be in the band £150,000-£155,000.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
(1) The Director of Finance is shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. Salary costs disclosed here are those costs 
incurred by this Trust for the period April 2018 to March 2019. The full salary costs for the individual for that period would be in the band 
£140,000-£145,000. * Payment in lieu of annual leave, included within exit packages disclosed in the Staff Report.
Taxable expense payments relate to lease vehicles.
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Clinical Excellence Awards are included within 'salary'. All pension-related benefits’ disclosed in the 
table above represent the increase in pension benefits in the financial year. 

Pension benefits are calculated as 20 times the annual pension entitlement at pension age plus the 
value of any lump sum pension entitlement. These figures are adjusted for inflation. 

Senior Manager

Real 
increase 

in pension 
at pension 
age (bands 
of £2,500)

Real 
increase 

in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age (bands 
of £2,500)

Total 
accrued 
pension 

at pension 
age at 31 

March 2020 
(bands of 

£5,500)

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2020 
(bands of 

£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2020 
as prvided 
by NHSPA

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2020 
as prvided 
by NHSPA

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

7.5-10.0

2.5-5.0

0-2.5

2.5-5.0

0-2.5

2.5-5.0

2.5-5.0

2.5-5.0

20.0-22.5

7.5-10.0

0

0

(2.5)-(5.0)

10.0-12.5

10.0-12.5

0

55-60

35-40

0-5

15-20

56-60

35-40

55-60

15-20

135-140

100-105

0

0

130-135

110-115

130-135

0

1,076

753

33

185

1,079

909

1,077

266

854

646

6

151

1,016

784

822

211

Susan Bracefield
Director of Operations

Bernadette George
Director of Intregarated 

Governance

Kelvyn Hipperson
Chief Information Officer

Thomas Lafferty
Director of Strategy & 

Performance

Sally May
Director of Finance

Kim O’Keeffe
Director of Nursing, Midwifery  

& Allied Heslth Professions

Dr Allister Grant
Medical Director 

(from Nov 19)

Karen Kay
Director for Urgent & 

Emergency Care

£000

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

182

78

13

11

17

86

87

34

Pension benefits

The Trust made no employer contributions to stakeholder pensions. A Cash 
Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in 
time. 

The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure 
pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former 
scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual 
has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension 
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure 
applies. 

The CETV figures and other pension details include the value of any 
pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS Pension Scheme. They also include any additional 
pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing 
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the 
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does 
not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid 
by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another 
pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors 
for the start and end of the period. The prescribed rate of inflation used for 
2019-20 was 1.4%.

The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment 
for Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP), on 8 August 2019. If the individual 
concerned was entitled to GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real 
increase in CETV. 

As Non-Executive Directors do not receive pensionable remuneration there 
are no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members.

Reporting of other compensation schemes for  
Senior Managers: exit packages 

No exit packages were agreed in 2019-20 for senior managers. A single exit 
package was agreed by the Trust in 2018-19 in respect of a Senior Manager, as 
disclosed in the table of salaries and allowances above. The payment is also 
included within the exit packages disclosed within the Staff Report.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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Staff costs for the year are shown below:

Permanent Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

2019-20

198,214

19,115

991

34,344

190

23

0

252,877

2,565

14,266

1,737

68

1,660

19

0

21,341

39,091

0

212,480

20,852

1,059

36,004

209

23

21,341

291,968

2,565

196,592

19,491

977

23,498

152

228

17,222

258,160

Salaries and wages

Social security costs

Apprenticeship levy

Employer’s contributions to 
NHS pension scheme

Pension cost - other

Termination benefits

Temporary staff

Total staff costs

Of which: Cost capitalised as 
part of assets 1,868

2018-19
Reporting organisations are required to disclose details of their average whole time equivalent (WTE) 
staff numbers during the year. For the Trust in 2019-20 these were as follows:

Permanently 
Employed Staff

Bank and 
Agency Staff Total Staff Total Staff

Number Number Number Number

2019-20

780

1,318

596

1,348

50

816

166

7

5,081

70

70

162

235

0

40

2

0

579

850

1,388

758

1,583

50

856

168

7

5,660

818

1,325

712

1,488

50

804

174

0

Medical and dental staff

Administration and estates 
staff

Healthcare assistants and 
other support staff

Nursing, midwifery and 
health visiting staff

Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting learners staff

Scientific, therapeutic and 
technical staff

Healthcare science staff

Other

Total 5,371

2018-19

Staff type

Number of employees (WTE) 
engaged on capital projects

86 0 86 46

Average whole time equivalent  
staff numbers

Staff Report

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements. The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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Included within the permanent staff above, were the following number of senior staff. For the 
purposes of this disclosure, ‘senior staff’ are those staff employed at the Agenda for Change (AfC) 
Band 8 – Range A and above.

Number (WTE)

130

44

32

17

9

232

Band 8 - Range A

Band 8 - Range B

Band 8 - Range C

Band 8 - Range D

Band 9

Total

Pay Band

The following table details the average WTE staff numbers of permanent staff by gender:

Male

5

86

915

1,006

Board members

Senior Staff (Agenda for Change pay scales 
Band 8 and above)

Other staff

Total

Staff Type Female

11

193

3,870

4,074

Total

16

279

4,786

5,081

Staff composition – permanent staff

Senior staff numbers (average WTE)

Staff policies – equality 
and inclusion

The Trust supports a staff network for staff with disabilities or long 
term health conditions. 

This network promotes staff wellbeing by providing an opportunity for 
peer support, acting in an advisory capacity for the Trust on issues which 
may affect disability and as a collective voice to be heard and responded 
to.

Other staff networks the Trust supports are a Minority Ethnic Group 
which started as a focus group to examine the evidence for the Workforce 
Race Equality Standard, but decided to continue on a regular basis. 

This group are offered support with career progression through access 
to mentors, coaches and career buddies. 

With only a small number of staff coming forward to create an LGBT 
staff network, the Trust joined the local Public Sector LGBT network. A 
carer’s network was launched to offer support, advice and guidance for 
staff who are also unpaid carers. 

A local carer’s charity offered to attend to provide their expertise on 
assessment and benefits available. 

The charity also provides a drop-in advice session for patient carer’s 
once a month which is hosted in the hospital.

In 2016 the Trust introduced a Zero Tolerance to Discrimination 
Protocol to protect staff from being verbally abused by patients or 
treated in a derogatory way on the grounds of race, sexual orientation, 
transgender etc. This is designed to protect staff and ensure they feel 
valued and respected.

Further information on equality and inclusion can be found on the 
Trusts’ website at www.royalcornwall.nhs.uk. 

The Trust’s Equality, Inclusion and Human Rights 
policy can be found at: http://www.royalcornwall.nhs.uk/
DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/HumanResources/
EqualityDiversityAndHumanRightsPolicy.pdf

The Occupational Health team provides a range of services for staff, 
supporting recruitment and on-going employment, from health screening 
to physiotherapy to confidential counselling services.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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Information regarding staff sickness can be found using the link below:
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates 
Ill-health retirement data is shown below:

2018-19

3

£114,000

Number of persons retired early on ill-health grounds

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year

Ill-health retirements 2019-20

6

£310,000

The Trust incurred the following consultancy expenditure in 2019-20:

Expenditure
£000

19

30

6

9

4

68

Organisational change and culturl development review

Paediatric service review

Senior Staff Coaching

Leadership development

Health innovation support

Total

Area

Sickness absence data

Consultancy expenditure

As part of the Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees, published by the Chief 
Secretary to the Treasury on 23 May 2012, NHS bodies are required to publish information in their 
Annual Report regarding off-payroll engagements, whereby individuals are paid through their own 
companies. 

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last for more than 6 
months:

Number

Number of existing engagements as of 31 march 2020 0

New off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 
March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last longer than 6 months: 

*IR35 is tax legislation that is designed to combat tax avoidance by workers supplying their services to clients 
via an intermediary, such as a limited company, but who would be an employee if the intermediary was not used. 
Individuals caught by IR35 are required to have income tax and national insurance deducted by the Trust in the 
same way that they would if they were an employee.

Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 0

Off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility, 
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020:

Number

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officers 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 2020 0

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Board members and/or senior 
officers with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This 

figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements
21

Off-payroll engagements 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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The tables below detail the exit packages agreed in 2019-20 and 2018-19 by the Trust: 

Total cost of 
exit packages

Less than £10,000 1

Total number 
of exit 

packages

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed

Number 
of other 

departures 
agreed

Cost of 
compulsary 

redundancies

Number of 
compulsory 

redundanciesBand

Number £000 Number £000 Number £000

11100

£10,000 - £25,000 22122100

£25,001 - £50,000 000000

£50,001 - £100,000 000000

Total 23223200

Exit packages agreed in 2018-19

Total cost 
of exit 

packages

Less than £10,000 15

Total number 
of exit 

packages

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed

Number 
of other 

departures 
agreed

Cost of 
compulsary 

redundancies

Number of 
compulsory 

redundanciesBand

Number £000 Number £000 Number £000

515500

£10,000 - £25,000 48348300

£25,001 - £50,000 73273200

£50,001 - £100,000 92192100

Total 228112281100

Exit costs in this table are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the Trust has agreed 
early retirements, the additional costs are met by the Trust and not by the NHS Pension Scheme. 
Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the table. 

This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages agreed in the year. The expense 
associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a subsequent period. 
None of the payments above include a special payment element.

Exit packages Analysis of other departures

2019-20

Total 
value of 

agreements

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 23

Total 
number of 

agreementsType (Excluding compulsory redundancies)

£000

2

Total 232

2018-19

Total 
value of 

agreements

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs 55

Total 
number of 

agreementsType (Excluding compulsory redundancies)

£000

3

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 1738

Total 22811

This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages agreed in the year. The expense 
associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a subsequent period.

As single exit packages can be made up of several components, each of which will be counted 
separately in this disclosure, the total number above will not necessarily match the total numbers in 
the Exit Packages table, which details the number of individuals.

Included in the tables for 2018-19 above is a single payment in relation to an exit package for a senior 
manager, as a contractual payment in lieu of notice: £92,000.

Chief Executive
24 June 2020

Exit packages agreed in 2019-20

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

Total 228112281100
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Statement of Comprehensive  
Income for the year ended 
31 March 2020

The Trust's reported NHS financial performance position is derived from its retained surplus / (deficit), as 
adjusted for the following:- 
  
(1) Impairment charges are not considered part of an NHS trust's operating financial position;  
(2) The revenue impact of the removal of the Donated Asset Reserve and Government Grant Funded Reserve. 
Donated and Government grant funded assets now incur capital charges, whilst the  donations and grants are 
credited to income. The resultant impact on the Trust's operating surplus for the year is neutralised by this 
adjustment; and 
(3) The Trust received an additional distribution of PSF funding in 2019-20 which related to the 2018-19 financial 
year. This funding does not contribute to the Trust's NHS reported financial performance in 2019-20.

The notes on pages 161 to 199 form part of this account.

Annual Accounts

10.

157. Statement of Comprehensive Income
158. Statement of financial position
159. Statement of Changes in equity
160. Statement of cash flows
161. Notes to the accounts
179. Financial accounts
200. Independent auditor’s report

Financialp erformance fort he year
Surplus/ (deficit)f or they ear (3,077) (3,826)

Impairments (1) 8 3,388 93
Adjustmentsi nr espect of Donated Asset/ Government GrantR eserve
elimination (2)

146 (403 )

2018 -19P roviderS ustainabilityF unding (PSF) (3) (407) 0

Adjusted retained surplus/ (deficit)5 0 (4,136)
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The notes on pages 157 to 160 form part of this account.   
    
The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Board on 24 June 2020 and signed on its 
behalf by  
   
Chief Executive:   
Date: 24 June 2020  

Statement of Financial Position  
as at 31 March 2020

Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Information on reserves    
    
Public dividend capital    
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued 
to trusts by the Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the 
Trust, is payable to the Department of Health and Social Care as the public dividend capital dividend.   
 
Revaluation reserve    
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, 
and to the extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case 
they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged 
to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement 
represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.   
 
Income and expenditure reserve    
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Trust.    



160 161Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

Statement of Cash Flows for the year 
ended 31 March 2020

(2) Local Improvement Finance Trust (LIFT)  - see note 28 for additional information regarding the scheme.  
 

Notes to the accounts

1.Accounting policies and other information

1.1 Basis of operation 

The Department of Health and Social Care has directed that the financial statements of the Trust shall meet the 
accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which 
shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the GAM 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies 
contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful 
and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be 
most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has 
been selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

Accounting convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities.

1.2 Going concern

International Accounting Standard 1: Presentation of Financial Statements (IAS 1) requires management to 
assess, as part of the accounts preparation process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. In the 
context of non-trading entities in the public sector the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in 
the future is normally sufficient evidence of going concern. The financial statements should be prepared on a 
going concern basis unless there are plans for, or no realistic alternative other than, the dissolution of the Trust 
without the transfer of its services to another entity within the public sector.

As directed by the DHSC GAM, the Board of Directors of the Trust has prepared the financial statements on a 
going concern basis as it considers that the services currently provided by the Trust will continue to be provided 
in the foreseeable future. On this basis, the Trust has adopted the going concern basis for preparing the 
financial statements and has not included the adjustments that would result if it was unable to continue as a 
going concern.
 
In undertaking the assessment of going concern, the Board has also considered the Trust’s overall financial 
position and expectation of future financial support.
 
As at the date of these financial statements, the Trust’s normal operational and financial planning process 
has paused as advised nationally due to the NHS response to COVID-19. During this interregnum the financial 
architecture is such that the Trust will receive set income values that will determine cash inflows and additional 
“top-up” income to mean that the Trust will operate at a breakeven level for an initial period of 1st April to 31 
July 2020, subject to review of the final costs by NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I).

The monthly income and expenditure will continue to be monitored and reported to NHSE/I so that top-up 
values can be determined. Monthly claims for expenditure and lost income due to COVID-19 will also be made.  

Cash support will be made available through advances of monthly income made in the preceding month.
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1.2 Going concern (continued) 

Once the suspension of the usual operational planning process including payment by results national tariff 
payment architecture and associated administrative and transactional processes ends, the Trust will once 
again set a financial plan that ensures that it continues to be a going concern. This will also be in accordance 
with expected future guidance from NHSE/I and will include a challenging but achievable savings target, as well 
as performance targets to ensure that income can be maximised. The Trust will also continue to work with the 
Cornwall healthcare system partners to maximise the income available to the Cornwall healthcare system.  

Following the suspension of operational and financial planning, should a financial plan require cash support or 
borrowing, the Board of Directors is confident that this funding will be forthcoming through the monthly request 
and approval process, consistent with previous years.  

The NHS Cash Regime sets out that revenue support will be available for exceptional short-term cash flow 
requirements and longer-term revenue support for trusts in financial distress. This support will be provided as 
Public Dividend Capital (PDC), which does not require principal repayment but carries a dividend payable at the 
prevailing PDC rate. This reflects the opportunity cost to the taxpayer of diverting finance to unplanned cash 
requirements.

The Trust is not yet clear on the financial architecture beyond the initial period to 31 July 2020 and, as a plan for 
the full year has not yet been confirmed, this represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The material aspect relates to the potential need for cash support over the medium term in the event of the 
Trust not achieving its financial plan once set. However, as stated above, the Board of Directors is certain that 
the services currently provided by the Trust will continue to be provided and funded in the foreseeable future 
and as such is content with adopting the going concern status.

On 2 April 2020, DHSC and NHS England and NHS Improvement announced reforms to the NHS cash regime for 
the 2020-21 financial year. During 2020-21 existing Department of Health and Social Care interim revenue and 
capital loans as at 31 March 2020 will be extinguished and replaced with the issue of PDC. The affected loans, 
totalling £42.7m, are classified as current liabilities within these financial statements. As the repayment of 
these loans will be funded through the issue of PDC, this does not present a going concern risk to the Trust.

1.3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, 
estimates and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed. 

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The key judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the 
process of applying the Trust accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, are those in relation to the classification of leasing arrangements and 
the determination of asset lives for depreciation purposes.

In accordance with IAS 1, the Board of Directors of the Trust has assessed whether the Trust is a going 
concern. In concluding that the Trust is a going concern, the Board of Directors has considered the Trust’s 
overall financial position and expectation of future financial support. In the context of IAS 1 (which assumes 
the anticipated continuation of non-trading entities in the public sector) and expectation of continuing cash 
support, the Board of Directors has concluded that the Trust is a going concern. See disclosure at Note 1.2 
above.
 

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are contained within the calculation of provisions. Those 
uncertainties are disclosed in Note 25.

Asset lives, other than those identified by professional valuation, have been estimated by management based 
on their expected useful lives and the Trust’s own accounting policies. Asset lives are disclosed in Notes 1.9 
and 1.10 below. Depreciation and amortisation expenses totalling £10.8m are derived using estimated asset 

lives. An increase in asset lives of 1 year, for all non building and dwelling assets, would reduce the depreciation 
and amortisation charges by approximately £1m. A reduction in those asset lives of 1 year would increase 
depreciation and amortisation charges by approximately £1.7m in 2019-20.

The Trust has determined that an alternative off-site valuation approach, on a Modern Equivalent Asset basis, 
is the most appropriate estimation technique for valuing its land and building assets (total value £127.7m). This 
approach was first adopted in 2014-15 and is in accordance with HM Treasury requirements. 

The valuation exercise was carried out in March 2020 with a valuation date of 31 March 2020.  In applying the 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors: RICS Valuation – Global Standards and RICS UK National Supplement, 
the valuer has indicated a ‘material valuation uncertainty’ in the valuation report.  This is on the basis of 
uncertainties in markets caused by COVID-19.  The duration of the impact and understanding of likely short, 
medium and long term effect are hard to predict.  As further market evidence becomes available then the full 
extent of the COVID-19 impact on the valuation of land and building assets will become clearer.

The values in the report have been used to inform the measurement of property assets at valuation in these 
financial statements.  With the valuer having indicated this material uncertainty, the valuer has continued to 
exercise professional judgement in providing the valuation and this remains the best information available to 
the Trust.

1.4 Interests in other entities

Material entities over which the Trust has the power to exercise control are classified as subsidiaries and are 
consolidated. The Trust has control when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns through its power 
over another entity. The income and expenses, gains and losses, assets, liabilities and reserves, and cash 
flows of the subsidiary are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate 
adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not aligned with the 
Trust’s or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-terminus. 

The Board of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust acts as the Corporate Trustee of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS 
Trust Charitable Fund (Charity number 1049687). As Corporate Trustee, the Board of Royal Cornwall Hospitals 
NHS Trust is deemed to have the power to govern the financial and operational policies of the Charity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. 
 
Following HM Treasury’s instructions to apply IAS 27: Consolidation and Separate Financial Statements (IAS 
27) from 1 April 2013, the Trust considered the requirement to consolidate, with these financial statements, the 
financial statements of the Charity. However, the Trust has determined that as the transactions and balances of 
the Charity are immaterial in the context of the group, the financial statements of the Charity have therefore not 
been consolidated, in either the current or preceding year. Details of the transactions between the Trust and the 
Charity are disclosed within Note 31 as related party transactions.

1.5 Revenue

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15: Revenue from 
contracts with customers (IFRS 15). The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and 
regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another financial asset that is not classified as a tax by 
the Office of National Statistics (ONS).

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied 
by transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction 
price allocated to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to 
performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for those goods 
or services is unconditional a contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is 
conditional on a further factor other than the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where 
consideration received or receivable relates to a performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, 
the income is deferred and recognised as a contract liability. 

Revenue from NHS contracts

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. A 
performance obligation relating to delivery of a spell of health care is generally satisfied over time as healthcare 
is received and consumed simultaneously by the customer as the Trust performs it. The customer in such a 
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contract is the commissioner, but the customer benefits as services are provided to their patient. Even where 
a contract could be broken down into separate performance obligations, healthcare generally aligns with 
paragraph 22(b) of the Standard entailing a delivery of a series of goods or services that are substantially 
the same and have a similar pattern of transfer. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to activity 
delivered in that year, where a patient care spell is incomplete. This accrual is disclosed as a contract receivable 
as entitlement to payment for work completed is usually only dependent on the passage of time.

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that 
income is deferred.

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.

Revenue from research contracts

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are 
satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance obligation 
over the course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim performance 
does not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable right to payment 
for the performance completed to date. It is therefore considered that the performance obligation is satisfied 
over time, and the Trust recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract. Some research income 
alternatively falls within the provisions of IAS 20: Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance.

NHS Injury Cost Recovery (ICR) scheme

The Trust receives income under the NHS ICR  scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured 
individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The 
Trust recognises the income when performance obligations are satisfied. In practical terms this means that 
treatment has been given, it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension’s Compensation 
Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are no discrepancies with the treatment. 
The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less an 
allowance for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 
requirements of measuring expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset.

Provider sustainability fund (PSF) and Financial recovery fund (FRF)

The PSF and FRF enable providers to earn income linked to the achievement of financial controls. Income 
earned from the funds is accounted for as variable consideration.

1.6 Other forms of income

Grants and donations

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for 
the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital expenditure, it is 
credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income once conditions attached to the grant have been met. 
Donations are treated in the same way as government grants.

Apprenticeship service income

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service is 
recognised as income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to 
an accredited training provider from the Trust’s Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the 
Department for Education, the corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for 
the benefit.

1.7 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship 

levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual 
leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.

Pension costs - NHS Pension Schemes

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both schemes are 
unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employer, general practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed 
in a way that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Trust is 
taken as equal to the employer’s pension contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. The 
contributions are charged to operating expenses as they become due. 

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the 
retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating 
expenses at the time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

The Trust also makes contributions to an occupational pension scheme set up in accordance with the Automatic 
Enrolment (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2012. The scheme is a defined contribution scheme, 
for which the Trust accounts for its employer contributions within ‘other pension costs’ in these financial 
statements.

1.8 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except 
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

1.9 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:

 ➔  It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
 ➔  it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the Trust;
 ➔  it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
 ➔  the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
 ➔  the item has a cost of at least £5,000; or
 ➔  collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 

where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control.  

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful lives. 

Subsequent expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable 
cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the 
expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to 
operating expenses.

Measurement

Valuation

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
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Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their service potential and are in use 
(ie operational assets used to deliver either front line services or back office functions) are measured at their 
current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus with 
no plan to bring them back into use are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the 
reporting date and where they do not meet the definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.

Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where 
there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date.

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying 
values are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. 
Current values in existing use are determined as follows:

 ➔ land and non-specialised buildings - market value for existing use; and
 ➔ specialised buildings - depreciated replacement cost, modern equivalent asset basis. 

For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present value of the asset’s remaining 
service potential, which is assumed to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that service potential. 
Specialised assets are therefore valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a modern equivalent 
asset (MEA) basis. An MEA basis assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern asset of equivalent 
capacity and location requirements of the services being provided. Assets held at depreciated replacement 
cost have been valued on an alternative site basis where this would meet the location requirements.
 
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any 
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23: Borrowing costs 
(IAS 23). Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought into use.
 
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational 
use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as 
this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful lives in a manner consistent 
with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite 
life and is not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which have been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease to be depreciated upon the 
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use . 

Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse 
a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are 
recognised in operating expenditure.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the 
asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

Impairments

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of 
service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment 
charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before 
the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed 
when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised 
in operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the 
impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, 
at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and 
expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is 
recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as 
revaluation gains.

De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:

 ➔ the sale must be highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition;
 ➔ following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their 

fair value less costs to sell.  Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material 
sale contract conditions have been met; and

 ➔ property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as 
‘held for sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The 
asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs. 

Donated and grant funded assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. 
The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the 
future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in 
which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to 
the extent that the condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment.

Local Improvement Finance Trust (LIFT) transactions

LIFT transactions which meet the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 12: Service 
Concessions Arrangements (IFRIC 12)  definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, 
are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust. In accordance with HM Treasury’s FReM, 
the underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, together with an equivalent liability. 
Subsequently, the assets are accounted for as property, plant and equipment and/or intangible assets as 
appropriate.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost, the 
charges for services and lifecycle replacement of components of the asset. The element of the annual unitary 
payment increase due to cumulative indexation is treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. 

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to finance costs in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives is 
shown in the table below: 

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or the lease term, 
unless the Trust expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are 
depreciated in the same manner as owned assets above.

1.10 Intangible assets

Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are 
recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided 
to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not 
capitalised as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised.  Expenditure on development is capitalised when it meets the 
requirements set out in IAS 38: Intangible Assets (IAS 38).

Software

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. 
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Measurement

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to 
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, 
intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset 
is income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for 
property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is 
valued at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet the 
definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of 
economic or service delivery benefits.

Useful lives of intangible assets

Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives 
applied by the Trust are from 1 to 5 years.

1.11 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the weighted average cost formula.  
This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of inventories. 

1.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition 
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances 
are recorded at current values.

1.13 Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) scheme

The CRC scheme is a mandatory cap and trade scheme for non-transport CO2 emissions. The Trust is registered 
with the CRC scheme, and is therefore required to surrender to the Government an allowance for every tonne of 
CO2 it emits during the financial year. A liability and related expense is recognised in respect of this obligation 
as CO2 emissions are made.

The carrying amount of the liability at the financial year end will therefore reflect the CO2 emissions that have 
been made during that financial year, less the allowances (if any) surrendered voluntarily during the financial 
year in respect of that financial year. The liability will be measured at the amount expected to be incurred in 
settling the obligation. This will be the cost of the number of allowances required to settle the obligation.

1.14 Financial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument, and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial 
instrument. The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which give rise 
to arrangements that in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to transactions 
classified as a tax by the Office for National Statistics (ONS).

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in 
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the 
extent which, performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable 
transaction costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and 
expenditure. Fair value is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted 
market prices or valuation techniques. 

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are 
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below. Financial assets 
and financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting 
contractual cash flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash 
equivalents, contract and other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease 
arrangements and loans receivable and payable. 
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After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or 
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 
of a financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as a financing income or expense.  In the case of loans held from the Department of Health and Social 
Care, the effective interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan.

Impairment of financial assets

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and 
contract assets, the Trust recognises an allowance for expected credit losses. 

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets 
and lease receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other 
financial assets, the loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses 
(stage 1) and subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk assessed for 
the financial asset significantly increases (stage 2).

Credit losses in respect of NHS bodies are not normally recognised.

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses 
at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
reduce the net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

De-recognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have 
expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 
de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

1.15 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Trust as lessee

Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is 
recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both 
are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability.

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted 
for an item of property, plant and equipment.  The annual rental charge is split between the repayment of the 
liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual 
finance cost is charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially in other liabilities on the statement of financial position and subsequently 
as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.16 Provisions

The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or 
amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best 
estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. 

Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are 
discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rates effective for 31 March 2020, as follows:

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general provisions on a nominal rate basis. Expected future cash flows 
are therefore adjusted for the impact of inflation before discounting using nominal rates. The following inflation 
rates are set by HM Treasury, effective 31 March 2020:

Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 
minus 0.5% in real terms.   
    

Clinical negligence costs     

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to NHS 
Resolution, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administra-
tively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of 
clinical negligence provisions carried by NHS Resolution on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at Note 25 but is not 
recognised in the Trust’s accounts. 
    

Non-clinical risk pooling      

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both 
are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in return 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims, are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.   
    

Leases of land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the 
classification for each is assessed separately.

The Trust as lessor

Finance leases

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net 
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Nominal 
rate

Short-term Up to 5 years 0.51%
Medium-termA fter 5 years, up to 10 years 0.55%
Long-termE xceeding 10 years1 .99%
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1.18 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend 

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has determined that 
PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation (IAS 32). The 
Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is recorded at the 
value received. 
 
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The 
charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the 
Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all 
liabilities, except for:  

 ➔ donated assets and assets purchased in response to COVID-19; 
 ➔ average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Service (GBS) and National Loans Fund 

(NLF) deposits (excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short term working capital 
facility); and 

 ➔ any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable 

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the issuer 
of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the 
“pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net 
assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts. 

1.19 Value Added Tax (VAT)

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and 
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
 

1.20 Corporation tax

The Trust has no corporation tax liability as its activities are not subject to corporation tax.
 

1.21 Foreign currencies

The functional and presentational currency of the Trust is sterling. A transaction which is denominated in 
a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. 
 

1.22 Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position, since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. They are disclosed in a separate note to 
the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.

1.17 Contingencies      

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or 
more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in Note 
26 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.  
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 26, unless the probability of a transfer of 
economic benefits is remote.  
 
Contingent liabilities are defined as: 

 ➔ possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

 ➔ present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

1.23 Losses and special payments 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for 
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are 
therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided 
into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments 
are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis.  The losses and special 
payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on an accrual 
basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
  

1.24 Gifts  

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. 
Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of 
an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value. 
  

1.25 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations  

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been adopted early, in 2019-20.
 

1.26 International Financial Reporting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted

  
IFRS 16: Leases (IFRS 16)  

IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17: Leases, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 4: Determining 
whether an arrangement contains a lease (IFRIC 4) and other interpretations and is applicable in the public 
sector for periods beginning 1 April 2021.  The Standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, 
recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the Statement of Financial Position for most leases; some 
leases are exempt through application of practical expedients explained below.  

For those recognised in the statement of financial position the Standard also requires the remeasurement 
of lease liabilities in specific circumstances after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the 
distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will be largely unchanged.
 
IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Trust will apply this definition 
to new leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of whether existing 
contracts contain a lease. 
 
On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2021, the Trust will apply the standard retrospectively with the cumulative 
effect of initially applying the Standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that date. For 
existing operating leases with a remaining lease term of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of 
at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments discounted 
on transition at the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The Trust’s incremental borrowing rate will be a rate 
defined by HM Treasury. Currently this rate is 1.27% but this may change between now and adoption of the 
Standard. The related right of use asset will be measured equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid 
or accrued lease payments. For existing peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a right of use 
asset will be measured at current value in existing use or fair value. The difference between the asset value 
and the calculated lease liability will be recognised in the income and expenditure reserve on transition. No 
adjustments will be made on 1 April 2021 for existing finance leases.

For leases commencing in 2021-22, the Trust will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short 
term leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use 
assets will be subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length 
of the lease term.  
 
HM Treasury revised the implementation date for IFRS 16 in the UK public sector to 1 April 2021 on 19 March 
2020. Due to the need to reassess lease calculations, together with uncertainty on expected leasing activity 
from April 2021 and beyond, a quantification of the expected impact of applying the Standard in 2021-22 is 
currently impracticable. However, the Trust does expect this Standard to have a material impact on non-current 
assets, liabilities and depreciation.
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2.Operating segments    

The Trust has considered IFRS 8: Operating Segments and has taken the view that its activities should be 
reported as a single entity rather than in a segmental manner. Although financial performance is reported to 
the Executive Board members at a care group level, the key financial information for decision making purposes 
is based on the entity as a whole. Furthermore, the Trust's business is the delivery of acute healthcare across a 
single economic environment. No separate reportable segments have therefore been identified.  
   

3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature)

(1) Additional costs of the Agenda for Change pay reform in 2018-19 received central funding. From 2019-20 this 
funding is incorporated into the tariff for individual services. 
 
(2) The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.38% to 20.68% (excluding administration 
charge) from 1 April 2019. For 2019-20, NHS providers continued to pay over contributions at the former rate 
with the additional amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and related 
funding have been recognised in these accounts. 

3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source)

3.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the Trust)

4. Other operating income

All amounts above relate to continuing operations.  
   
(1) Included within 'Charitable and other contributions to expenditure' is £487,000 (2018-19: £449,000) in relation 
to 'income in respect of staff costs when accounted for on a gross basis'.
  
(2) 'Other contract income' includes food and drug sales, grant income, winter resilience funding, special 
measures support funding, car parking income and other income not falling into the other categories in the note 
above.  

5.1 Additional information on contract revenue (IFRS 15) recognised in the period 
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5.2 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations

The Trust has exercised the practical expedients permitted by IFRS 15 paragraph 121 in preparing this 
disclosure. Revenue from: (i) contracts with an expected duration of one year or less; and (ii) contracts where 
the Trust recognises revenue directly corresponding to work done to date is not disclosed.  

6. Income generation activities    

The Trust has undertaken no material income generating activities in the current or preceding year.    
 

7.1 Operating expenses  

All amounts above relate to continuing operations.

7.2 Other auditor remuneration         

The Trust paid no other auditor remuneration in 2019-20. Other remuneration paid to the external auditor in 
2018-19 of £10,000 was for audit-related assurance services in relation to the audit of the Quality Account.   
       

7.3 Limitation on auditor's liability         

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2m (2018-19 £2m).     
    

8. Impairment of assets    

Net impairments in 2019-20 and 2018-19 arose following the annual year end revaluations of the Trust's property 
assets on a modern equivalent asset basis.

All revaluations were undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency.

9. Employee benefits

9.1 Retirements due to ill-health       

During 2019-20 there were 3 early retirements from the Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (6 in the year 
ended 31 March 2019).  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £114,000 
(£310,000 in 2018-19). 
   
These estimated costs are calculated on an average basis and will be borne by the NHS Business Services 
Authority - Pensions Division.    

2019-20 2018-19
£000 £000

Purchase of healthcare from NHSand DHSCbodies 11,130 10,918
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHSand non-DHSCbodies 14,208 13,710
Staff and executive directors' costs 286,773 253,639
Remuneration of Chair and non-executive directors 122 63
Supplies and services - clinical (excludingdrug costs) 38,212 41,032
Supplies and services - general 23,943 23,226
Drugcosts (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 54,948 51,160
Inventorieswritten down 278 350
Consultancy costs 68 209
Establishment 4,849 4,187
Premises 9,961 9,768
Transport (includingpatient travel) 3,761 2,906
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 10,108 10,356
Amortisation on intangible assets 704 2,651
Net impairments 3,388 93
Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets (1,560) 499
Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and investments (97) 36
Change in provisions discount rate(s) 230 (54)
Audit fees payable to the external auditor:
- audit services - statutory audit 63 63
- other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) 0 10
Internal audit costs 149 155
Clinical negligence 11,195 12,053
Legal fees 150 242
Insurance 105 73
Research and development (including staff costs) 2,979 3,261
Education and training 1,927 1,507
Rentals under operating leases 1,720 1,253
Redundancy 0 55
Charges to operating expenditure for on-SOFP IFRIC 12 schemes (LIFT) 334 324
Car parking and security 19 180
Losses, ex gratia and special payments 44 42
Other 1,727 1,966
Total operating expenses 481,438 445,933
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10. Pension costs         

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the 
benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.
uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other 
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. 
They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable 
to that scheme for the accounting period.   
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that 
“the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows: 
       

a) Accounting valuation          

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government 
Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the 
previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the 
scheme liability as at 31 March 2020 is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 
with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also 
been used. 
 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which 
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 
website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.   
      

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation         

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 
(taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by 
employees and employers.  
 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The 
results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme 
Regulations were amended accordingly.  
  
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap 
set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018, Government 
announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 
      

11. Operating leases     

11.1 The Trust as lessee        

The Trust leases equipment, vehicles and property under operating lease arrangements. There are no 
individually material leases. The lease terms range from 1 to 10 years and the leases are arranged under 
standard NHS terms and conditions. Some of the leasing arrangements contain provisions for the option to 
renew or purchase at the end of the arrangement.    
     

There are no future sub-lease payments expected to be received (2018-19: £nil).    
     

11.2 The Trust as lessor       

The Trust has three significant lessor arrangements: for the leasing of the main hospital site car park (2 years 
remaining); space within the Knowledge Spa (9 years remaining); and space within the Peninsula Dental School 
(15 years remaining).
    
The Trust also leases some land and some retail space on the main hospital site on a nominal rental basis. 
These leases have 91 and 1 years remaining respectively. 

12. Finance income    

Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.
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13.1 Finance expenditure       

Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money.

13.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998    

The Trust has not incurred any finance costs, or paid any compensation to cover debt recovery costs under this 
legislation, in either 2019-20 or 2018-19.    
        

14. Other gains and (losses)    

15. Intangible assets

15.1 Intangible assets 2019-20

15.2 Intangible assets 2018-19

15.3 Intangible assets - additional information       

Intangible assets comprise purchased computer software and licenses, which are carried at amortised 
historical cost, as a proxy for fair value, together with development expenditure which is carried at a nominal 
value. 
 
Assets are capitalised and amortised over their useful lives on a straight-line basis. Useful lives are all finite 
and range from 0 to 5 years. The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated assets still in use is £17.9m (2018-19: 
£16.6m).



182 183Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

16. Property, plant and equipment 

16.1 Property, plant and equipment 2019-20 

16.2 Property, plant and equipment 2018-19 
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16.3 Property, plant and equipment financing 2019-20  

16.4 Property, plant and equipment financing 2018-19  

16.5 Property, plant and equipment  - additional information   

Revaluations     

Land and property assets are carried at valuation on the Statement of Financial Position. All of the Trust's land, 
building and dwelling assets have been revalued as at 31 March 2020 by the District Valuers of the Valuation 
Office Agency. The valuations have been carried out in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors' (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual insofar as these terms are consistent with the agreed 
requirements of the Department of Health & Social Care and HM Treasury.     
 Since 30 June 2014, the valuation of the Trust's land and building assets has been undertaken on a Modern 
Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis with the assumption that the assets are situated on an alternative site to their 
current location.
     
The Trust's plant and machinery assets (with individual values in excess of £15,000) were last revalued at 1 
April 2009, by the Valuation Office Agency. Since that date these assets have been carried on the Statement of 
Financial Position at those valuations less subsequent depreciation. Plant and machinery assets not valued as 
part of this revaluation continue to be carried at depreciated historical cost as a proxy for current value. 
    
The Trust's tangible information technology assets were revalued by the Valuation Office Agency as at 31 
December 2013. Prior to 31 December 2013, these assets were carried on the Statement of Financial Position on 
a depreciated historic cost basis. Since that date these assets have been carried on the Statement of Financial 
Position at those valuations less subsequent depreciation. Purchases since the valuation date are carried on a 
depreciated historic cost basis, as a proxy for current value. 

There have been no changes to the valuation methods used by the Trust in 2019-20.    
 
No compensation from third parties has been received for assets impaired, lost or given up.    
 
The Trust has no temporarily idle assets. 
     
The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated assets still in use is £40.7m (2018-19: £43.8m).    
 

Donations     

Donations towards property, plant and equipment expenditure in the year have been provided by the following 
organisations:

 ➔ Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable Fund (see related party transactions  - Note 31); 
 ➔ Cornwall Council
 ➔ The Friends of The Royal Cornwall Hospital; and
 ➔ The League of Friends of the West Cornwall Hospital. 

    
Other than the conditions imposed by Macmillan Cancer Support (referred to in Note 26), no restrictions or 
conditions have been imposed by the donors.     
      

Property, plant and equipment leased to other organisations     

The following amounts have been recorded in these accounts within property, plant and equipment at 31 March 
2020 in respect of assets leased to other organisations by the Trust, under operating lease arrangements:



186 187Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

17. Inventories

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £84.944m (2018-19: £85.749m). Write-down of inventories 
recognised as expenses for the year were £278,000 (2018-19: £350,000).
    
No inventory balances above are held at net realisable value (2018-19: £nil). No inventories have been pledged as 
securities for liabilities (2018-19: £nil).    
     
The Trust’s inventory balance of £9m is material to the Trust’s accounts. The Trust is satisfied that its 
inventory balance is presented fairly: the Trust was able to value with certainty £5.9m of inventory balances 
using inventory systems and physical stock takes.  The remainder of the total inventory balance (£3.1m) 
was established using estimation techniques due to the restrictions owing to the COVID-19 outbreak which 
prevented some stock counts.   
 
Restrictions on movement in the United Kingdom in March 2020 meant that the Trust’s auditor was unable to 
attend the relevant year-end inventory counts, and the auditor has been unable to gain sufficient audit evidence 
from alternative procedures. This limits the scope of the auditor’s work, and under auditing standards the 
auditor is required to issue a qualified opinion. We are aware that a number of trusts in the country are affected 
by the same issue in 2019-20 and we understand NHS Improvement will disclose the extent to which this has 
impacted the sector in its consolidated provider accounts when published later in 2020.

18.1 Receivables

The great majority of trade is with clinical commissioning groups. As clinical commissioning groups are funded 
by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.   
There are no prepaid pension contributions included above in either 2019-20 or 2018-19.

18.2 Allowances for credit losses

Department of Health and Social Care guidelines require allowances for credit losses to be provided for  injury 
cost recovery receivables at 21.79% (2018-19: 21.89%). 
 
Credit losses for Non-NHS receivables are provided for on the basis of age and type, as follows:

Specific debts which are known to be doubtful have been provided for.     
      

19.1 Cash and cash equivalents movements     

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are 
readily convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

19.2 Third party assets     

The Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients or other 
parties. 
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Loans: additional disclosure for loans with the Department of Health and Social Care      

* Following the 2 April 2020 announcement of reforms to the NHS cash regime for 2020-21, all 'interim loans' are to be extinguished via the issue of Public Dividend 
Capital (PDC) by DHSC to effect repayment of outstanding balances at 31 March 2020. Consequently, interim loans held by the Trust have been classified as current 
liabilities at 31 March 2020 and will not be required to be repaid on their previously agreed repayment dates.        

20 Trade and other payables

There are no amounts included above to buy out early retirement liabilities in either 2019-20 or 2018-19. 
     

21. Other liabilities    

22. Borrowings
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23.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - 2019-2020   

23.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 2018-19    

24. Finance leases   

The Trust leases software and telecoms hardware under finance lease arrangements. There are no individually 
material leases. The lease terms range from 4 to 7 years. There are no future sub-lease payments expected to 
be received (2018-19: £nil). No contingent rent has been recognised in the period (2018-19: £nil)   
  

25.1 Provisions

Pension provisions and pensions are calculated based on figures supplied by the NHS Business Services 
Authority - Pensions Division, using actuarial tables. As these tables cover significant time periods it is not 
possible to be precise about future amounts and timings of payment. 
 
It is not possible to be  precise regarding dates of settlement for industrial injury and other legal claims and 
therefore there is uncertainty over the calculation and timings of amounts due. 
 
No reimbursements are expected in relation to the provisions disclosed above.    
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27. Contractual capital commitments      

Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements:   
   

The Trust had no individually significant capital commitments at 31 March 2020 or 31 March 2019.  
 

28. On-SOFP LIFT arrangements       

The Trust's LIFT scheme relates to the property used by the Cornwall Food Production Unit. Lease payments 
are made each month and updated for inflation on an annual basis. Under the terms of the lease, the Trust 
enjoys rights and obligations to the property until February 2033. The lease agreement includes the need for the 
landlord to insure and maintain the property. The Trust is required to meet the costs of utilities and these are 
payable to the landlord.  
 
The Trust has the option to purchase the premises, during and at the end of the term, and details are set out 
in the lease agreement. There are no other significant terms of the lease that may impact on the timing or 
certainty of cash flows. There have been no changes in the arrangement during the year.    

28.2 Total on-SOFP arrangement commitments  

The Trust's total future obligations under this on-SOFP scheme are as follows:     
 

28.3 Analysis of amounts payable to LIFT provider      

This note provides an analysis of the Trust's payments.      

    
28.1 Imputed finance lease obligations      

(1) The balance relates to employer liability and public liability claims made against the Trust.    
 
(2) The Trust received funding between 2015-16 and 2018-19 totalling £3,055,000 from Macmillan Cancer 
Support, to fund the building of the Cove Cancer Information Centre on the main hospital site in Truro. Under 
the terms of the agreement with Macmillan, the Trust is obliged to use the building for its intended purpose for 
a period of 15 years. Should the Trust not do so, the Trust will be obliged to repay a percentage of the funding to 
Macmillan. As at 31 March 2020, this percentage stands at 100% (31 March 2019: 100%). 
 
The Trust has no contingent assets.    

 
25.2 Clinical negligence liabilities          

At 31 March 2020, £141.554m was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical negligence 
liabilities of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust (31 March 2019: £123.860m).     
      

26. Contingencies     
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29.2 Carrying values of financial assets

29.3 Carrying values of financial liabilities

     
29.4 Maturity of financial liabilities

30. Losses and special payments

29. Financial instruments        

29.1 Financial risk management    

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires disclosure of the role that 
financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking 
its activities.  Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the way those CCGs are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of 
financial risk faced by business entities.  Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating 
or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly 
apply.  The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in 
undertaking its activities.    

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters 
defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Board of Directors.  
Trust treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors.    
     

Currency risk 

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based.  The Trust has no overseas operations.  The Trust therefore has low exposure 
to currency rate fluctuations.    
     

Interest rate risk    

The Trust borrows from Government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS 
Improvement.  The borrowings are for 1-25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest 
is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust may also borrow from 
Government for revenue financing subject to approval by NHS Improvement.  Interest rates are confirmed by the 
Department of Health and Social Care  (the lender) at the point borrowing is undertaken. The Trust therefore has 
low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 
   

Credit risk

Because the majority of the Trust’s revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has 
low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2020 are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.    
     

Liquidity risk 

The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with CCGs, which are financed from resources voted 
annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential 
borrowing limit.  The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risk.    

There have been no changes to the Trust’s exposure to the risks above since the previous period. There have also 
been no changes in the methods used to measure the risks, or the policies and processes in place for managing 
the risks.    
     



196 197Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020 Annual Report & Accounts 2019-2020

(1) One of the Trust's Non-Executive Directors is also a Non-Executive Director of Cornwall Partnership 
Foundation Trust and the two organisations share a Director of Finance, a Director of Nursing, Midwifery & Allied 
Health Professions (from December 2019) and a Chief Information Officer. 
 
(2) A substantive Director of Commissioning with NHS Kernow KCG has been operating as Director for Urgent & 
Emergency Care for the wider Cornwall healthcare system since 2017. The system director post has been hosted 
by the Trust since April 2019, and the Director is an associate member of the Royal Cornwall Hospitals Trust 
Board. 
 
In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other 
central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with the NHS Pension Scheme, 
National Insurance Fund, NHS Blood and Transplant and HM Revenue and Customs.   

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable Fund      

The Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust is the Corporate Trustee for the Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
Charitable Fund. The Trust has not consolidated the accounts of the Charitable Fund within these financial 
statements on the grounds that the transactions with the Charity and the Charity's balances are not material to 
the Trust. However, summary financial data is disclosed below:

*Draft 2018-19 figures were previously presented in the 2018-19 Trust financial statements. The final 2018-19 
Charity figures are now presented, following the finalisation of the Charity's accounts.    
   
Included within current liabilities at 31 March 2020 is £121,000 (31 March 2019: £33,000) owed to Royal Cornwall 
Hospitals NHS Trust.       

32. Events after the reporting date       

On 2 April 2020, DHSC, NHS England and NHS Improvement announced reforms to the NHS cash regimes for 
2020-21. During 2020-21 existing interim revenue and capital loans as at 31 March 2020 will  be extinguished and 
replaced with the issue of Public Dividend Capital (PDC) to allow the repayment. Given this relates to liabilities 
that existed at 31 March 2020, DHSC has updated its Group Accounting Manual to advise this is considered an 
adjusting event after the reporting period for NHS providers. Outstanding interim loans totalling £42.7m as at 
31 March 2020 in these financial statements have been classified as current as they will be repayable within 12 
months.

        
Extracts from Charity's Statement of Financial Activities      31. Related party transactions    

During the year none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, Trust Board members or members 
of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with 
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust, other than those transactions disclosed in this note. 
   
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, Royal Cornwall 
Hospitals NHS Trust has had material transactions with the Department in respect of the loans disclosed in 
Note 22. The Trust has also had material transactions with other entities for which the Department is regarded 
as the parent department. These entities and their associated transactions with the Trust are listed below:
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36. Break-even duty financial performance

37. Break-even rolling duty assessment  

   

35. Capital Resource Limit 

The Trust is given a Capital Resource Limit (CRL) which it is not permitted to exceed.   

The reported underspend against the CRL for 2018-19 included a non-cash amount of £1,058,000.  This 
underspend arose from the de-recognition of a finance lease and the consequent calculation of technical, 
non-cash proceeds on disposal credited against the CRL.  The cash underspend against the CRL for 2018-19 was 
£18,000.    

34. External financing   

The Trust is given an External Financing Limit (EFL) which it is permitted to under spend.   

33. Better Payment Practice Code

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 
days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.    

The Trust reported a £0.5m surplus in 2019-20 and holds a cumulative deficit of £29.6m at 31 March 2020. The 
Trust expects to fail to achieve breakeven on a cumulative basis at 31 March 2021, however it aims to recover its 
financial position as quickly as possible. A plan to recover the current cumulative deficit over a 5 year period has 
not been agreed to date.
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Independent auditor’s report to the  
Directors of Royal Cornwall  
Hospitals NHS Trust

Report on the Audit of the  
Financial Statements 

Qualified opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust (the ‘Trust’) 
for the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 
Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows 
and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and 
as interpreted and adapted by the Department of 
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 
2019 to 2020.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects 
of the matter described in the basis for qualified 
opinion section of our report, the financial 
statements:

 ➔ give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Trust as at 31 March 2020 and 
of its expenditure and income for the year 
then ended; and

 ➔ have been properly prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and

 ➔ have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the National Health Service 
Act 2006. 
 
 

Basis for qualified opinion

Due to the national lockdown arising from 
the Covid-19 pandemic we did not observe the 
counting of physical inventories at the end of 
the year. We were unable to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
inventory quantities held at 31 March 2020, which 
have a carrying amount in the Statement of 
Financial Position of £9.006m, by performing other 
audit procedures. Related balances such as drug 
costs and supplies and services may be materially 
misstated for the same reason.

Consequently, we were unable to determine 
whether any adjustment to these amounts were 
necessary.

In addition, were any adjustment to these 
amounts to be required, the Annual Report would 
also need to be amended.

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the Trust in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified 
opinion. 

The impact of macro-economic uncertainties  
on our audit

Our audit of the financial statements requires 
us to obtain an understanding of all relevant 
uncertainties, including those arising as a 
consequence of the effects of macro-economic 
uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. All 
audits assess and challenge the reasonableness 
of estimates made by the Directors and the 
related disclosures and the appropriateness of 
the going concern basis of preparation of the 
financial statements. All of these depend on 
assessments of the future economic environment 
and the Trust’s future operational arrangements.

Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most 
significant economic events currently faced 
by the UK, and at the date of this report their 
effects are subject to unprecedented levels 
of uncertainty, with the full range of possible 
outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied 
a standardised firm-wide approach in response 
to these uncertainties when assessing the Trust’s 
future operational arrangements. However, Grant 
Thornton UK LLP. 2 no audit should be expected 
to predict the unknowable factors or all possible 
future implications for an entity associated with 
these particular events.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 1.2 in the financial 
statements, which indicates that as at the date 
of the financial statements, the Trust’s normal 
operation and financial planning process has 
paused as advised nationally due to the NHS 
Response to Covid-19. During this interregnum the 
financial architecture is such that the Trust will 
receive set income values that will determine cash 
inflows and additional “top-up” income to mean 
that the Trust will operate as a breakeven level for 
an initial period of 1 April to 31 July 2020, subject 
to review of the final costs by NHS England and 
NHS Improvement.

The Trust is not yet clear on the financial 
architecture beyond the initial period to 31 July 
2020, and, as a plan for the full year has not 
yet been confirmed, this represents a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about 
the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
The material aspect relates to the potential need 
for cash support over the medium term in the 
event of the Trust not achieving its financial plan 
once set. However, as stated above, the Board of 
Directors is certain that the services currently 
provided by the Trust will continue to be provided 

and funded in the foreseeable future and as 
such is content with adopting the going concern 
status. These events or conditions, along with the 
other matters as set forth in note 1.2, indicate 
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast 
significant doubt about the Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

Emphasis of Matter – effects of Covid-19 on  
the valuation of land and buildings

We draw attention to Note 1.3 of the financial 
statements, which describes the effects of the 
Covid-19 pandemic on the valuation of land and 
buildings as at 31 March 2020. As, disclosed in 
Note 1.3 to the financial statements, the valuation 
exercise was carried out in March 2020 with a 
valuation date of 31 March 2020. In applying 
the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors: 
RICS Valuation – Global Standards and RICS UK 
National Supplement, the valuer has indicated a 
‘material valuation uncertainty’ in the valuation 
report. This is on the basis of uncertainties in 
markets caused by COVID-19. The duration of 
the impact and understanding of likely short, 
medium and long term effect are hard to predict. 
As further market evidence becomes available 
then the full extent of the COVID-19 impact on the 
valuation of land and building assets will become 
clearer.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement 
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of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of the other information, 
we are required to report that fact.

As described in the basis for qualified opinion 
section of our report, we were unable to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the inventory quantities, which have a carrying 
amount in the Statement of Financial Position of 
£9.006m at 31 March 2020, and related balances. 
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or 
not the other information is materially misstated 
with respect to this matter.

Other information we are required to report on 
by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by 
the National Audit Office in April 2015 on behalf 
of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code 
of Audit Practice) we are required to consider 
whether the Annual Governance Statement does 
not comply with the guidance issued by NHS 
Improvement or is misleading or inconsistent with 
the information of which we are aware from our 
audit. We are not required to consider whether 
the Annual Governance Statement addresses all 
risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily 
addressed by internal controls.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters required by the Code 
of Audit Practice

In our opinion:

 ➔ the parts of the Remuneration and Staff 
Report to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union, as interpreted and 
adapted by the Department of Health and 
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 
to 2020 and the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 20061; and

 ➔ except for the possible effects of the matter 
described in the basis for qualified opinion 
section of our report, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit of the 
financial statements and our knowledge of 
the Trust gained through our work in relation 
to the Trust’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources, the other information 
published together with the financial 
statements in the Annual Report for the 
financial year 

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are 
required to report to you if:

 ➔ we issue a report in the public interest 
under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at 
the conclusion of the audit; or

 ➔ we refer a matter to the Secretary of State 
under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have 
reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer 
of the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a 
decision which involves or would involve the 
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
about to take, or has begun to take a course 
of action which, if followed to its conclusion, 
would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency; or 

 ➔ we make a written recommendation to the 
Trust under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at 
the conclusion of the audit.

 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above 
matters except on 9 June 2020 we referred a 
matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in 
relation to Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust’s 
breach of its break-even duty for the five year 
period ending 31 March 2020. We further set out 
in this letter that as the Trust has not yet agreed 
a plan to recover its cumulative deficit over a 
five-year period it is expected that the Trust will 
remain in breach of its breakeven duty for the next 
five years.

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those 
Charged with Governance for the financial 
statements

The Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in the 
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Directors are responsible for assessing the Trust’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 

as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they have been informed by the relevant 
national body of the intention to dissolve the Trust 
without the transfer of its services to another 
public sector entity. Grant Thornton UK LLP. 4

The Audit and Risk Committee is Those Charged 
with Governance. Those Charged with Governance 
are responsible for overseeing the Trust’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and  
regulatory requirements –  
Conclusion on the Trust’s  
arrangements for securing  
economy, efficiency and  
effectiveness in its use of  
resources 

Qualified conclusion

On the basis of our work, having regard 
to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & 
Auditor General in April 2020, except for the 
effects of the matters reported in the basis for 
qualified conclusion section of our report, we are 
satisfied that, in all significant respects, Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the 
year ended 31 March 2020.

Basis for qualified conclusion

Our review of the Trust’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources identified the following 
matters:

 ➔ The Trust is reliant on financial support 
from the Department of Health and Social 
Care in order to meet its commitments. At 
31 March 2020, the Trust had a cumulative 
deficit of £29.6 million and borrowings from 
the Department of Health and Social Care 
totalling £65.4 million.

 ➔ The Trust expects to fail to achieve breakeven 
on a cumulative basis at 31 March 2021. A plan 
to recover the cumulative deficit over a five 
year period has not been agreed to date.

 
These matters identify weaknesses in the Trust’s 
arrangements for setting a sustainable budget 
with sufficient capacity to absorb emerging 
cost pressures due to the current configuration 
of services. These matters are evidence of 
weaknesses in proper arrangements for:

 ➔ sustainable resource deployment in 
planning finances effectively to support the 
sustainable

 ➔ delivery of strategic priorities and maintain 
statutory functions

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer

The Accountable Officer is responsible for 
putting in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of the Trust’s resources.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the 
Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and 
Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that 
the Trust has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources and to report where we 
have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has 
done so. We are not required to consider, nor have 
we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s 
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arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. Grant Thornton UK LLP. 5

We have undertaken our review in accordance 
with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard 
to the guidance on the specified criterion issued 
by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 
2020, as to whether in all significant respects, 
the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable 
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

The Comptroller and Auditor General 
determined this criterion as that necessary for 
us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice 
in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put 
in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2020, and 
to report by exception where we are not satisfied.

We planned our work in accordance with the 
Code of Audit Practice. 

Based on our risk assessment, we undertook 
such work as we considered necessary to be 
satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements – Certificate

We certify that we have completed the 
audit of the financial statements of Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust in accordance 
with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit 
Practice.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Directors of the 
Trust, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Trust’s Directors those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Trust and the Trust’s Directors, as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.
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